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2007 2006

+20% 2007 £1,106.3m $2,090.9m 2

Revenue 2006 £919.2m $1,645.4m 2

+23% 2007 £251.6m $475.5m 2

Profit before tax – adjusted 1 2006 £204.3m $365.7m 2

+14% 2007 24.6p 46.5c 2

Earnings per share – adjusted 1 2006 21.5p 38.5c 2

+23% 2007 12.3p 23.3c 2

Dividends per share 2006 10.0p 17.9c 2

+11% 2007 £213.8m $404.1m 2

Profit before tax – statutory  2006 £193.0m $345.5m 2

–2% 2007 19.3p 36.5c 2

Earnings per share – basic 2006 19.6p 35.1c 2

+156% 2007 £190.1m $360.0m
Free cash flow 3 2006 £74.2m $132.8m
Notes
1 Excludes amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising on consolidation and exceptional items.
2 Dollar numbers converted at the average exchange rate for the year of US$1.89 (year ended 31 March 2006 – US$1.79).
3 Free cash flow represents cash flow from operating activities adjusted for capital expenditure and dividends received from associates.

Financial highlights
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“ICAP Trust” ICAP Employee Share Trust

“IAS” International Accounting Standards

“ISDA” International Swaps & Derivatives Association

“IFRIC” International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee

“IFRS” International Financial Reporting Standards

“INFBV” INCAP Finance B.V.

“Intercapital” Intercapital plc

“Intercapital companies” those companies acquired from IPGL at the time of their merger with Exco in October 1998

“IPGL” IPGL Limited

“ISMA” International Securities Market Association

“Merger” the merger of Garban and Intercapital on 9 September 1999

“OTC” Over-the-counter

“Reset” Reset Private Limited (formerly Newcross Private Limited)

“RPI” Retail price index

“share split” At an extraordinary general meeting held on 4 February 2004 shareholders approved a five for one share
subdivision which divided the Group’s ordinary shares of 50p each into five ordinary shares of 10p each. 
The subdivision was effective from 9 February 2004.

“STP” straight-through-processing enables the entire trade process to be conducted electronically without 
manual intervention

“TFS” Tradition Financial Services

“Treasury Shares” Shares as defined by the Companies Acquisition of Own Shares (Treasury Shares) Regulations 2003 
which came into force on 1 December 2003

“UBM” United Business Media plc (formerly United News & Media plc)

“UK GAAP” UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

“United Fuels” The acquisition of the majority of the assets of United Fuels International Inc and its Affiliates

References to the Group’s businesses in Europe should be construed so as to include the Group’s businesses in South Africa and Bahrain.

In this document, according to context, the expressions “ICAP” and the “Group” are also used to mean the ICAP plc group as a whole, or ICAP plc
and/or its relevant subsidiaries. The business of ICAP plc is solely that of a holding company. ICAP plc itself conducts no broking or other activities.

Design and production by Radley Yeldar (London) 

Printed by Park Communications Limited
The document is printed on Era Silk, which is produced from 50% genuine waste pulp, 
the balance being ECF pulp from well-managed/certified forests. The paper is also FSC
certified and manufactured at an ISO14001 accredited mill.

FSC 
Forest Stewardship Council. This ensures there is an audited chain of custody from the 
tree in the well-managed forest through to the finished document in the printing factory.

ISO14001 
A pattern of control for an environmental management system against which an
organisation can be credited by a third party.
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The Group’s profit, which we define as profit before
taxation, amortisation and impairment of intangibles
arising on consolidation and exceptional items,
was £251.6 million for the year to 31 March 2007
compared with £204.3 million for the previous year.
Net assets at 31 March 2007 were £793.7 million,
up £173.9 million. Profit before tax on a statutory
basis was £213.8 million, an increase of £20.8 million.

ICAP is a highly cash generative business; this allows us to continue
investing in the development of the business and also enables the Group
to maintain a progressive approach to the dividend paid to shareholders:
the directors recommend a final dividend of 9.3p per share to be paid 
on 24 August 2007 to shareholders on the register on 27 July 2007
making a total dividend of 12.3p per share for the year.

In June 2006 ICAP became a FTSE 100 company and in the year to 
31 March 2007 had outperformed the FTSE 100 by 10%. The total
shareholder return for ICAP’s shareholders during the year was 21.5%.

Each year for the past 14 years ICAP has held a Charity Day when all
revenue generated that day is donated to charities chosen by our offices
around the world. The success of the day depends on the very significant 
support of our customers and a huge effort from our staff. This year saw
an enormous increase in the money raised to £7.1 million; more than 
80 charities benefited worldwide. It brought the total raised by ICAP
since Charity Day began to more than £33 million.

I am very pleased to welcome Matthew Lester as a director of ICAP plc;
he joined as Group Finance Director on 6 September 2006. Bruce Collins,
the Chief Executive Officer responsible for ICAP’s Asia Pacific region,
has decided to retire from the Group. He has made a tremendous
contribution to the Group over the past two years and we wish him 
all the best for his retirement. George Macdonald is taking over the
management of our businesses in Asia Pacific, in addition to his
responsibilities for London and Europe.

We operate in a robust competitive environment; in every product in
every market, worldwide. We have made a big step forward in building a
successful electronic broking business alongside our strong voice broking
operations, but there continue to be challenges ahead. ICAP is made up
of more than 3,500 staff directed by a very experienced management
team combined with a sophisticated technology infrastructure. This is
a very successful combination and these results reflect a strongly
performing business. 

Once again I would like to thank every single member of staff, the
management team and my fellow directors for their contribution.

A strongly performing business
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Significant growth potential

About ICAP
ICAP is the world’s premier voice and electronic interdealer broker 
and the source of global market information and commentary 
for professionals in the international financial markets. The Group 
is active in the wholesale markets in interest rates, credit, energy, 
foreign exchange and equity derivatives. ICAP has an average daily
transaction volume in excess of $1.5 trillion, more than 50% of 
which is electronic.  

Role of the interdealer broker
ICAP provides a specialist broking service to trading professionals 
in the global wholesale financial markets. Our customers include
investment and commercial banks and they pay a commission 
to use us to complete a transaction. ICAP covers a very broad 
range of OTC financial products and services in energy, FX, 
interest rates, credit and equity markets as well as data and 
commentary. We are active in both established and emerging markets. 
Our electronic networks deliver global connectivity to customers 
seeking unparalleled liquidity and flow in an orderly marketplace. 

Hedge funds Corporates Central banks

Co

mmercial and investmentbanks



ICAP plc
Annual Report 2007 03 O

verview

Market growth and scale
ICAP is a growth business in a growing market. Many factors continue 
to support this growth including:

macro-economic imbalances in currencies, interest rate and credit
markets leading to continuing price volatility and the basis for further
growth in interest rate and credit derivatives, FX, energy and listed
futures markets;

the search for yield among global investors underpinning the growth in
structured credit and equity products and reinforcing the attractions of
efficient (electronic) execution;

commoditisation of “flow” markets and the increasing focus on 
electronic trading and increasing commitment of capital to proprietary
and algorithmic trading strategies by dealers and their customers;

rapid growth in equity derivatives driven by rising stock markets and 
the search for yield; 

continuing liberalisation of emerging markets and the growth in onshore
and local currency fixed income, derivatives and credit markets; and

increasing regulatory pressure for best execution and price transparency,
which favour electronic trading venues.

Market drivers and outlook
The principal areas in which we are seeing faster growth are FX, energy,
credit derivatives, equity derivatives and financing, emerging markets
and structured products generally. The expansion of electronic broking 
in the more liquid and commoditised markets itself feeds additional
growth through:

driving lower transaction costs which increase trading volumes by
encouraging the development of algorithmic and other highly price
sensitive trading strategies;

concentrating volumes among fewer, electronics venues;

enabling lower post-trade transaction costs through automated
confirmation and STP, thereby increasing customer efficiency and
attracting extra marginal volumes.

We estimate that total global revenues in the interdealer market
(excluding cash equities) grew by approximately 16% in 2006/07 to
reach $6.9bn. This reflects periods of very high volatility in May 2006
and March 2007 but the overall market activity grew at a steadier pace. 
We currently estimate that the underlying rate of growth of industry
revenues, which may be expected in the medium term, could be
between 7% and 9%.

2005/06
$5.9bn

Estimated interdealer broking market revenues*

2006/07
$6.9bn

Estimated interdealer broking market revenues*

p

*Excludes cash equities

More detail
›› 13 ›› 19
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Geographic
ICAP’s businesses are broadly distributed across 29 countries worldwide
with over 3,500 staff; with Europe and the Americas the two largest
regions. Europe was the most profitable division with the highest profit
margin. The region delivered a very good performance during the period
with both voice and electronic revenues growing rapidly. While revenue
and profit increased on a headline basis in the Americas, growth in
underlying revenue was more subdued and there was a small reduction 
in the overall profit margin of the region. Both revenue and profit margin
increased significantly in Asia Pacific as a result of EBS in the foreign
exchange market and Reset in the interest rate market: following last
year’s staff upheavals, this year the voice broking business has seen
a rebuilding phase.

Revenue £m

The Americas 458.3

Europe 502.4

Asia Pacific 145.6

1,106.3

Markets
The broad range of wholesale financial and energy markets covered 
by ICAP can be divided into the following groups – interest rates, credit,
energy, FX, equities, emerging markets and information. These groups 
are aligned with the way our customers manage their businesses and the
markets in each group have different drivers to their growth. The revenue
and percentage of ICAP’s revenue for each of these product groups are 
set out below:

Revenue £m % of total

Interest rates 468.4 42

Credit 124.9 11

Energy 101.1 9

FX 159.2 15

Equities 98.3 9

Emerging markets 114.6 10

Information 39.8 4

1,106.3 100
›› 15
More detail on our
geographic performance

›› 19
More detail on our
performance by market

Comprehensive coverage

13%
Proportion of Group revenue

41%
Proportion of Group revenue

46%
Proportion of Group revenue

The Americas Europe Asia 
Pacific
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Divisions
Voice

ICAP continued to have a significant share of the global interdealer 
voice broking market revenue in 2006/07. ICAP has continued to focus
on developing its businesses in the faster-growing products of energy,
transport, credit derivatives, equity derivatives, emerging markets and
structured products. Growth in these markets has been a key part of 
the recent success of the Group’s voice broking business.

Electronic

The active conditions in global financial markets also led to a 
significant increase in volume on ICAP’s electronic broking platforms 
(EBS and BrokerTec). Daily electronic broking volume exceeded 
$1trillion ($1,000 billion) for the first time on two successive days in
February 2007. This $1 trillion of trading activity comprised more than 
175,000 transactions on each day by various counterparties in more
than 40 countries. Average daily electronic broking volume rose to 
$678 billion in the second half of the year.

The integration of the ICAP and EBS electronic businesses continues 
to make good progress. Total technology and other related savings 
are on track to deliver at least $58 million per annum by the financial
year ending in March 2009.

Information

ICAP is also the source of global market information and commentary 
for professionals in the international financial markets. Our market 
data offers real-time, end-of-day and historical market data sourced
from our global interdealer trading platforms, providing authoritative 
and comprehensive information on global markets across a broad range 
of asset classes. A significant part of the revenue of ICAP’s information
division is drawn from the electronic broking businesses and grew
strongly this year on the back of the acquisition of EBS.

More detail on our
performance by division

›› 17

69%
Proportion of
Group profit*

Voice

22%
Proportion of
Group profit*

Electronic

9%
Proportion of
Group profit*
Information

* Excludes amortisation and impairment of intangibles
arising on consolidation and exceptional items.
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Strategy and goals

Our vision is to create the global exchange for 
OTC financial products and to build a global brand 
in wholesale financial services. We believe that we 
can provide the service our customers need by
combining the strengths of our people together 
with technology – and that by doing so we aim 
to continue setting the standard for our industry. 
Our strategic goals are to be the leading global
intermediary in the wholesale OTC markets by a 
clear margin with at least a 35% share of overall 
market revenue and with 50% of our profit 
derived from electronic broking.

Key achievements in delivering strategy in 2006/07
Acquisition of EBS for $534 million in cash and 36.1 million ICAP shares

Approval from the Chinese authorities for the China Foreign Exchange
Trade System and ICAP to prepare to form joint venture in Shanghai

Acquisition of the remaining 45% of our Korean subsidiary 
Korean IDB

Reset, the matching service which reduces outstanding fixing risk in the
interest rate market, began operations

Acquisition of a minority interest in The Clearing Corporation, one of the
world’s oldest, independent clearing houses for derivative instruments.
ICAP plc and GFI Group Inc plan to develop jointly new clearing services
for OTC derivative products with The Clearing Corporation

Completion of the first phase of the integration of ICAP Electronic
Broking and EBS

Agreement to establish a joint venture company owned equally with
Jardine Lloyd Thompson Group plc, a leading insurance and reinsurance
broking group, to operate in areas where the market for insurance,
financial derivatives and securities are converging

Key strategic priorities for 2007/08
Accelerate growth of electronic broking revenue

Expand into new markets and geographic areas to continue the growth
of the voice broking business

Complete the integration of the Hyde ship broking acquisition and 
pursue further transport opportunities

Pursue acquisition and organic growth strategy in the emerging 
markets and energy products

Further improve credit and equity derivatives capability and 
market share

Deliver incremental synergies from the integration of EBS with 
ICAP Electronic Broking

›› 13
More detail on our 
Group strategy

Clear and consistent
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Key performance indicators
The financial highlights on the inside front cover set out the financial KPIs.
Here we describe other important measures of our performance and 
the progress that we are making towards our strategic goals; to be 
the leading global intermediary in the wholesale OTC markets by a clear
margin with at least a 35% share of overall market revenue and with
50% of our profit derived from electronic broking. This year we made
good progress towards these goals with the acquisition of EBS in June
2006 and increased our share of global interdealer market revenue
to an estimated 30%–31%. The percentage of ICAP’s total profit arising
from electronic broking was 22%, a rise from 15% in the previous year. 

There is significant innovation in the wholesale financial services markets
and it is essential to introduce and acquire new businesses in these
innovative products. This year ICAP’s revenue, derived from businesses
acquired or started in the previous three years, was 16%, up from 12% 
in the previous financial year. While we do not set a specific target 
for new business as a percentage of revenue, it is important that this 
is material.

ICAP‘s considerable investment in technology is essential to keep both
the electronic and voice broking businesses competitive. The measure
which ICAP can benchmark itself against competitors is technology
spend as a percentage of revenue. During the financial year to 31 March
2007, we spent 10% of our revenue on technology. This included
investing in upgrading our technology platforms and extending our 
data networks. ICAP combines electronic and voice broking and this
percentage appears appropriate when compared with other interdealer
brokers and exchanges. We now have 550 staff committed to the
development and support of these systems. Following the acquisition 
of EBS, this is a key performance indicator. This is the first year in which
ICAP has aggregated its technology spend in this manner.

We monitor the voice revenue per voice broker as the most relevant
efficiency measure of our voice division. This year ICAP’s voice revenue
per voice broker grew by 10% from £413,000 in the previous financial 
year to £454,000. We believe that this compares favourably with other
interdealer brokers. The variable component of voice broker remuneration
increased to 60% in this year from 58% in the previous year.

In addition, a key part of cost control is the overall percentage of staff
compensation as a percentage of revenue. There has been a material
decline in this percentage as a result of the increase in the proportion 
of ICAP’s revenue coming from electronic businesses.

Measuring success

28%–29%

Share of the global OTC market 
Target: 35%

2007 30%–31%

2006

Operating profit1 split between voice, electronic and information2

Target: 50% of profit derived from electronic broking
 

2007 69% 22% 9%

2006 78% 15% 7%
Voice        Electronic        Information

12%

16%16%

New business3  

2007

2006

£413,000

£454,000£454,000

Voice revenue per voice broker 

2007

2006

60%

57%57%

Staff compensation as percentage of revenue

2007

2006

1 Excludes amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising on consolidation 
and exceptional items.

2 60% of ICAP’s information division’s operating profit is derived from the 
electronic division.

3 Revenue derived from businesses acquired or started in the previous three years.
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How we manage ICAP
We have built this business to a very strong competitive position in our
markets with a very capable management team who between them have
240 years’ experience in the industry. The Global Executive Management
Group consists of the four executive directors of ICAP and eight other
directors and meet six times a year. Our voice broking business is organised
on a geographic basis; the electronic broking and information businesses and
technology have global reporting lines. Bruce Collins has decided to retire
from the Group and George Macdonald is taking over the management of
our businesses in Asia Pacific, in addition to his responsibilities for London and
Europe. Since the year end Jack Jeffery has decided to seek a career outside
ICAP. Following this decision, John Nixon has been appointed Chief Executive
Officer of ICAP’s Electronic Broking division. 

Global Executive 
Management Group

ICAP’s management team

08 ICAP plc
Annual Report 2007

Strength in depth

›› 34
More detail on our
board of directors

Members of
ICAP plc board

Electronic
broking

Information

TechnologyVoice broking
Europe

Voice broking
Asia Pacific

Voice broking
The Americas

Michael Spencer Group Chief Executive Officer

He was the founder of Intercapital in 1986 and became
Chairman and Chief Executive of Intercapital in October
1998, following the Exco/Intercapital merger. He is deemed,
with IPGL and its subsidiary INFBV, to have an interest in
20.92% of ICAP plc. IPGL’s other interests include City 
Index and a variety of other companies. Michael Spencer
has been non-executive Chairman of Numis Corporation plc
since April 2003. In February 2007, he was appointed the
Conservative Party Treasurer. Aged 52.

Bruce Collins
Chief Executive Officer, Asia Pacific

He was previously Group Chief Executive Officer of Tullett
Liberty (Tullett), now a part of Tullett Prebon. He has very
broad experience of our markets having begun his career in
the industry in 1973. Since joining Tullett in 1980 he spent
17 years in management positions in both Asia and the
Middle East. He then moved to be Managing Director
responsible for Europe in 1999 and in the following year
became Group Chief Executive Officer of Tullett. Aged 55.

Ron Purpora 
Chief Operating Officer, North America and 
President North American Securities

He also serves as President of First Brokers Securities, 
a subsidiary of ICAP. Within the industry he serves 
as a board member of the Depository Trust Clearing
Corporation, Chairman of the Fixed Income Membership
and Risk Committee, Chairman of FICC Operation and
Planning Committee and is an executive director of 
the Bond Market Association. Aged 51.
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Mark Yallop Group Chief Operating Officer

He was appointed on 13 July 2005 and is chairman of 
the group risk and new business approvals committees. 
He had previously been Group Chief Operating Officer of 
Deutsche Bank Group, following many years’ involvement
in trading in the derivatives, foreign exchange and cash
markets. He was also a director of the International Swaps 
& Derivatives Association (ISDA) from 1996 to 1998.
Aged 47.

Matthew Lester Group Finance Director

He was appointed on 6 September 2006, following the
resignation of Jim Pettigrew, and is chairman of the finance
committee. He worked for Diageo plc from 1996 in a
number of senior finance roles, most recently as Group
Financial Controller. He is a Chartered Accountant and 
a member of the main committee of The 100 Group 
of Finance Directors. Aged 43.

Stephen McDermott Executive Director

He was appointed on 28 October 1998. He is responsible 
for overseeing the integration with EBS and the interface
between the Group’s voice and electronic broking
businesses. He is Chief Operating Officer for the Americas.
He was appointed a director of the US operations in
December 1995 having joined the foreign exchange
business of Garban in 1986. He is also a board member 
of Columbia University’s Executive Masters of Science 
and Technology Management. Aged 50. 

John Nixon
Director, Strategic Acquisitions and Global Market 
Data Services

Prior to his full-time involvement in ICAP he was a 
non-executive director of ICAP plc from 1998 to 2002.
He was previously the Chief Executive Officer of Tullett 
and Tokyo Forex, now part of Tullett Prebon, where he
worked from 1978 to 1997 in Toronto, New York 
and London. Aged 52.

George Macdonald
Chief Executive Officer, London and Europe

He was appointed in July 2000. Prior to this he held 
the positions of Chief Executive of the Asia Pacific region
(excluding Japan) and Executive Chairman of Australia. 
He had previously held the position of Joint Managing
Director, Tullett & Tokyo Australia, a company he
established as a partner in 1982. Prior to that he held
senior management positions with Butler Till Ltd in London
and with Guy Butler International in London and Sydney.
Aged 59.

Jack Jeffery
Chief Executive Officer, Electronic Broking

He was previously Chief Executive Officer of EBS, a
position he was appointed to in February 2002. He has
more than 20 years’ experience with financial markets
trading and sales. This includes 12 years with Citibank, 
both in Australia and the UK. He is a member of the 
Bank of England Joint Standing Committee and the 
US Federal Reserve Bank Foreign Exchange Committee.
Aged 47.

David Rutter
Chief Executive Officer, Electronic Broking
North America and Asia

Prior to joining ICAP, David Rutter was a significant
shareholder in Prebon. His tenure at Prebon began in 1988
and he served in various capacities including Global Chief
Executive officer of Prebon Energy and Managing Director
of the Americas. He has served on several corporate boards
of entities in the e-commerce field. Aged 44.

Douglas Rhoten
Chief Executive Officer, North America

He has over 27 years’ experience in the broking industry.
He is a director of SIF ICAP, ICAP’s joint venture in Latin
America and was previously Chief Executive Officer of
Garban Capital Markets covering the OTC derivative,
money market, foreign exchange and commodity markets.
He is a member of the US Federal Reserve Bank Foreign
Exchange Committee. Aged 52.

Jay Spencer
Global Chief Information Officer

He was appointed in October 2003. He is responsible for
ICAP’s technology strategy, planning and delivery for its
voice and electronic business platforms. Prior to this, he
was Chief Technology Officer for BrokerTec Global, which
he joined as a start-up venture in 1999. Additionally, he
has held senior positions with Fidelity Investments and 
SEI Investment Group prior to joining BrokerTec. Aged 56.
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These record results show a very strong performance
from ICAP; especially when factoring in the very
sharp decline in the value of the US dollar in which 
we earn the majority of our revenue.

We have made significant progress towards our
vision: to create the global exchange for OTC
financial products and to build a global brand in
wholesale financial services. We believe that we 
can provide the service our customers need by
combining the strengths of our people together 
with technology – and that by doing so we aim to
continue setting the standard for our industry.

Once again I will restate our strategic goals, which have been clear and
consistent for several years; to be the leading global intermediary in the
wholesale OTC markets by a clear margin. Our aim is to have at least 
a 35% share of overall market revenue and generate 50% of our profit
from electronic broking. This year we made good progress towards these
goals with the acquisition of EBS in June 2006. We have increased our
share of global interdealer market revenues to an estimated 30%–31%.

We have grown rapidly and also acquired some great companies
to create a stronger business that sets the standard for both voice and
electronic broking. As we have grown we have evolved and now have 
a very significant technology-based business, an extensive global
network as well as the leading voice broking business. We believe 
that this combination is very valuable. There is no other business that
shares our combination of voice and electronic market leadership 
in OTC products coupled with such a wide geographic reach.

Last year’s acquisition of EBS has proved an outstanding success. 
The combination of its electronic spot foreign exchange and ICAP’s 
fixed income electronic broking businesses has created a global 
multi-product platform that we believe has further major
growth potential.

The integration of the ICAP and EBS businesses is making very good
progress and we are on track to deliver total technology and other
related savings of at least $58 million per annum by the financial year
ending in March 2009. This is now the largest electronic broking business
in our industry with an estimated 44% market share and has significant
economies of scale through combining and leveraging technology,
networks and platforms. The combined global network covers more 
than 1,600 customer installations in 45 countries plus a further 
550 users that have secure internet access. 

Businessreview
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As the more liquid, standardised products continue to migrate to our
electronic platforms, our voice broking franchise in structured and
complex products, energy, credit, equity derivatives and less liquid
markets continues to enjoy high growth. We believe that our voice
broking activities also have material room for expansion due to product
innovation. This year’s results amply demonstrate the success of this 
part of our strategy of retaining market leadership in both voice and
electronic broking.

This year ICAP’s revenue derived from businesses acquired or started 
in the previous three years was a very healthy 16%, up from 12%
in the previous financial year.

Our success is based on our ability to move quickly in response to the
changes and opportunities our customers identify in the rapidly evolving
wholesale financial services marketplace. We recognise and reward new
ideas and set new standards of innovation through a combination of
people and technology. We have a culture of working in partnership with
our customers: in particular we recognise their concerns as the more
commoditised markets migrate to electronic broking and we co-operate
with them so that they can continue to service their customers in the
most efficient manner.

In a business where we do not control the overall market activity levels
that drive our revenue we rely heavily on the quality of our management
team to drive up our operating profit margins through market share
growth and tight cost control and to extract the scale economies that
make these businesses so sustainable. In addition, a key measure of our
management team is our ability to recruit and retain the highest quality
people; brokers, marketing and sales staff, support departments,
technologists and many others.

Looking ahead
We are taking steps to complete the integration of EBS, to extend our
electronic broking business into an increasing number of markets with
highly liquid, commoditised products and to continue the expansion of
our voice broking business into more structured products.

Activity in our markets is driven by the volatility generated from a 
broad range of influences, over which we have no control. We aim to
achieve secular growth from increasing market share and expanding
product coverage.

Our strategy is to grow in our industry, both organically and by selective
acquisition. There are an increasing number of expansion opportunities
for the Group, both large and small, as the world’s financial markets 
grow and the current levels of financial innovation continue. ICAP is
well placed to make further acquisitions and fund the development 
of the Group using its existing financial resources and if necessary 
by raising additional debt financing.

Our markets continue to display strong long-term structural growth.
We currently estimate that the underlying annual growth rate of industry
revenues, in the medium-term, will be between 7% and 9%, though 
there are periods when volatility and volumes in our markets can be 
very high. While we have not experienced high levels of volatility at the
beginning of this year, underlying revenues are ahead of last year.

We have built this business to a very strong competitive position in our
markets with a strong balance sheet and a very capable management
team. We have the resources and flexibility to create new business
initiatives and drive the growth of our business.

Businessreview
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Results for 2007
After a very active and successful year, the Group
reports a record profit of £251.6 million before
taxation, amortisation and impairment of intangibles
arising on consolidation and exceptional items; this
represents a 23% increase over the prior year.
On a statutory basis profit before taxation was
£213.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2007
(2006 – £193.0 million). We continue to believe
that profit before taxation, amortisation and
impairment of intangibles arising on consolidation
and exceptional items better reflects the Group’s
underlying year-on-year performance. This measure
is reconciled to profit before taxation on the face of
the consolidated income statement.

The majority of ICAP’s revenue is US dollar
denominated and therefore the weakening of the
dollar against sterling had a significant impact on
ICAP’s reported results. Year-on-year profit before
taxation would have been approximately £9 million
higher without the dollar depreciation. In addition,
the EBS contribution to profit before taxation would
have been approximately £2 million higher if prior
year average exchange rates had prevailed.

Business drivers
ICAP is a growth business in a growing market. Many factors continue 
to support this growth including:

– macro-economic imbalances in currencies, interest rate and credit
markets leading to continuing price volatility and the basis for further
growth in interest rate and credit derivatives, FX, energy and listed
futures markets;

– the search for yield among global investors underpinning the growth 
in structured credit and equity products and reinforcing the attractions
of efficient (electronic) execution;

– commoditisation of “flow” markets and the increasing focus on
electronic trading and increasing commitment of capital to proprietary
and algorithmic trading strategies by dealers and their customers;

– rapid growth in equity derivatives driven by rising stock markets and
the search for yield;

– continuing liberalisation of emerging markets and the growth in
onshore and local currency fixed income, derivatives and credit
markets; and

– increasing regulatory pressure for best execution and price
transparency, which favours electronic trading venues.

We estimate that total global revenues in the interdealer market
(excluding cash equities) grew by approximately 16% over the year 
to reach $6.9 billion. This reflects periods of very high volatility in
May 2006 and March 2007 but the overall market activity grew 
at a steadier pace. A year ago we highlighted that (notwithstanding
commission compression) the very high levels of innovation and product
development occurring in the wholesale financial markets would result 
in higher industry revenue growth rates than in the past. We currently
estimate that the underlying annual rate of growth of industry revenues,
which may be expected in the medium term, could be between 7% 
and 9%.

The principal areas in which we are seeing faster growth are FX, energy,
credit derivatives, equity derivatives and financing, emerging markets
and structured products generally. As we have noted previously, the
expansion of electronic broking in the more liquid and commoditised
markets itself feeds additional growth through:

– driving lower transaction costs which increase trading volumes by
encouraging the development of algorithmic and other highly price
sensitive trading strategies;

– concentrating volumes among fewer, electronic, venues;

– enabling lower post-trade transaction costs through automated
confirmation and STP, thereby increasing customer efficiency and
attracting extra marginal volumes.

Our very broad spread of businesses, both geographically and in the
individual markets, means that we are not exposed to changes in market
volumes in any single market.

Businessreview
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Europe

Year ended 31 March 2007

Headline Underlying
growth growth1

£m % %

Revenue 502.4 27 20
Operating profit2 124.4 46 38

Europe was the most profitable division with the highest profit margin. 
The region delivered a very good performance during the year with both
voice and electronic revenue growing rapidly. The fastest growth was 
in FX, as a result of the EBS acquisition. Demand for corporate bonds 
in the first half remained subdued but activity returned in 2007 and
credit derivatives continued to grow with a significant portion traded
electronically. The energy businesses produced another very strong
performance with our freight derivatives joint venture developing rapidly.
The emerging markets’ businesses had a successful year and we have
expanded our operations into Russia and Turkey together with several
east European centres. Structured equities and equity derivatives also
performed particularly well. Our interest rate derivative business faced
tougher conditions with spreads remaining tight for much of the year.
The “flight to quality” in late February/early March 2007 benefited some
businesses including euro interest rate swaps and spot FX volumes.

The Americas

Year ended 31 March 2007

Headline Underlying
growth growth1

£m % %

Revenue 458.3 7 3
Operating profit2 104.2 – (2)

While revenue and profit increased on a headline basis in the Americas,
growth in underlying revenue was more subdued and there was 
a small reduction in the the overall profit margin of the region. 
Emerging markets, mainly driven by our expansion in Latin American
products, our structured credit and equity products have performed 
very well. Growth in activity in the repo market slowed and brokerage
compression came under pressure in the electronic US treasuries market.
During the second half of the year the rate of commission compression in
US treasuries, as a result of competitor activity, slowed. In part this was
due to the renegotiation of pricing arrangements with our customers.
The acquisition of EBS substantially boosted foreign exchange revenue
and profit.

Geographic performance
ICAP’s businesses are broadly distributed across
29 countries worldwide; in terms of revenue and profit
Europe and the Americas are the two largest regions.

p

1 Excludes the impact of foreign exchange and net acquisitions.

2 Excludes amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising 
on consolidation and exceptional items.
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Asia Pacific

Year ended 31 March 2007

Headline Underlying
growth growth1

£m % %

Revenue 145.6 52 12
Operating profit2 19.1 169 24

Both revenue and profit margin increased significantly in Asia Pacific
principally as a result of EBS in the foreign exchange market and Reset 
in the interest rate market with their attractive margins.

Following last year’s staff upheavals, this year the voice broking business
has seen a rebuilding phase. The market has become highly competitive
and while staff turnover has slowed, it has not stopped completely. 
Our competitors are still seeking to build their presence. There has been
strong revenue growth in Korean products, Japanese equity derivatives,
interest rates swaps and energy. ICAP acquired the remaining 45% of our
Korean subsidiary in November 2006. We received approval from the
Chinese authorities for the China Foreign Exchange Trade System and
ICAP to prepare to form a joint venture in Shanghai and expect to begin
operations in mid 2007.

Business review

Business review continued

Divisional performance
ICAP segments its Group revenue and operating profit 
into three divisions, voice, electronic and information.

p

1 Excludes the impact of foreign exchange and net acquisitions.

2 Excludes amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising 
on consolidation and exceptional items.
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Voice division
The voice division operates both in the faster growing products where
innovation in the financial markets is creating many new opportunities
and also in the more mature, slower growing group where volumes are
much higher and products are moving towards more commoditisation
and tighter bid-offer spreads. These more mature businesses are the
ones that we expect to move to electronic broking in the future.

Many of the newer businesses in the voice division have had a very 
good year with significant overall revenue growth and increased profit
margin. We have continued to see the trend of robust growth in the
more structured and complex products as our clients leverage both 
their financial and intellectual capital to enhance yield. Emerging market
products have grown in all centres as these markets develop and
derivatives in both interest rates and currency evolve. For much of the
year the energy markets have been very active, with volatility in the oil
markets continuing. In addition, other products such as freight derivatives
have been an important contributor to growth. However, growth in
activity levels in interest rate products such as government and
corporate bonds was not as strong. There was a significant slowdown in
voice-broked volumes in the dollar repo market, which is primarily the
longer-dated trades, due to low levels of volatility.

Electronic division
The most important event in the electronic division was the acquisition 
in June 2006 of EBS for $534 million in cash and 36.1 million shares.
This significantly increased our foreign exchange revenue. The integration
is going well having delivered its pre-acquisition targets. Now that 
we have had the opportunity to examine more deeply the potential
technology savings, we have identified further synergies and the
anticipated annual cost savings by 2008/09 are now expected to be
$58 million. The total associated exceptional costs of achieving these
synergies are now estimated to be $48 million.

Our electronic broking margins will continue to improve as we 
complete the integration of EBS and ICAP’s electronic broking business.
The electronic broking margin in the second half of the year increased 
from 26% in the first half to 29%. The temporary effect of the double
running costs associated with the upgrading of our fixed income platform
is reflected in these margins. These costs are expected to end in 2009.
The percentage of ICAP’s total profit2 arising from electronic broking was
22%, a rise from 15% in the previous year. ICAP has a long-term target
to increase the share of profit coming from electronic broking to 50%.

In late February 2007, ICAP’s daily electronic broking volumes exceeded
$1 trillion ($1,000 billion) for the first time on two successive days. 
The very active conditions in global financial markets, including the
foreign exchange and fixed income markets, led to a significant increase
in volumes on ICAP’s electronic broking platforms (EBS and BrokerTec).
This $1 trillion of trading activity comprised more than 175,000
transactions on each day by various counterparties in more than 
40 countries. Average daily volumes on our expanded electronic 
platform exceeded $670 billion during the second half of the year.

The EBS business has continued to perform well. Revenue and profit
margin growth has continued in electronic broking in several of the
interest rate markets including European repo, credit derivative products,
forward FX, US agencies, mortgage-backed securities and interest rate
products in Asia. 

We have maintained our market share in US treasury products and,
although there has been significant brokerage compression, since
November the rate of brokerage compression has levelled off.
Algorithmic trading in both the fixed income and FX markets has
continued to grow quickly and now makes a significant contribution 
to liquidity on the two trading platforms.

There have been a number of new product launches including, 
on the EBS platform, US dollar/rouble, US dollar/New Zealand dollar 
and Australian dollar/New Zealand dollar together with platinum and
palladium, building on the existing precious metals business in gold 
and silver. 

More recently, electronic broking in forward FX, which had already
attracted a large number of counterparties in Europe, was extended 
to the other major financial markets, including Asia and the Americas, 
to build a global operation and provide further growth.

Business review
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In April 2007 ICAP launched i-Sec, a new electronic trading 
platform for securities lending. i-Sec facilitates screen-based access 
to the securities lending markets. Initially, equities from France, 
Germany, Italy, Spain, the UK and Japan will be available for lending 
and borrowing on the platform, with a view to expanding this 
product offering.

We believe there are significant opportunities to expand our business 
in post-trade services where our customers are looking for improved
operational and balance sheet efficiencies. This year we substantially
increased our position in this market by combining an existing business
with an external team to form Reset which has performed very
successfully. TriOptima, the web-based early termination and portfolio
reconciliation service where we have increased our minority share, has
maintained its momentum. In the spot FX market we have launched 
an automated ticket netting service with foreign exchange post-trade
specialist Traiana, to create a netting system called NetLink. This enables
prime broking banks using the EBS system to net their customer’s foreign
exchange trades by currency pair at pre-defined points throughout the
day. In addition we have acquired a minority interest in The Clearing
Corporation, one of the world’s oldest, independent clearing houses 
for derivative instruments. ICAP plc and GFI Group Inc plan to develop
jointly new clearing services for OTC derivative products with 
The Clearing Corporation.

Information division
ICAP is also the source of global market information and commentary 
for professionals in the international financial markets. Our market data
offers real-time, end-of-day and historical market data sourced from 
our global interdealer trading platforms, providing authoritative and
comprehensive information on global markets across a broad range of
asset classes. A significant part of the revenue of ICAP’s information
division is drawn from the electronic broking businesses and grew
strongly this year on the back of the acquisition of EBS.

Business review

Markets
To explain the drivers of ICAP’s performance 
more clearly, ICAP will disclose revenue by product
group. These groups are aligned with the way in which
our customers manage their businesses.
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To give our investors a greater understanding of the growth drivers 
to the Group’s business, ICAP is providing an additional analysis of its
business. In future, ICAP will disclose revenue by product group. 
These are interest rates, credit, energy, FX, equities, emerging markets
and information. These groups are aligned with the way our customers
manage their businesses and as a result ICAP is able to explain the drivers
of performance more clearly. The revenue and proportion of ICAP’s
revenue for these product groups are set out below:

Revenue
£m % of total

Interest rates 468.4 42
Credit 124.9 11
Energy 101.1 9
FX 159.2 15
Equities 98.3 9
Emerging markets 114.6 10
Information 39.8 4

1,106.3 100

Interest rates
For much of the year yield curves in the major markets have been flat 
or inverted and volatility has been low. Notional amounts of interest 
rate derivatives outstanding, which include interest rate swaps and
options and cross-currency interest rate swaps, grew almost 14% 
to $285.7 trillion in the second half of 2006. For the year as a whole,
interest rate derivatives’ notionals rose 34% over 2005, which is above
the annual growth rate of recent years. These notional amounts
outstanding would have been much higher if TriOptima’s multi-lateral
termination service had not been so successful.

Credit
This is a story of contrasting fortunes. Volumes in the credit derivatives
markets have continued to grow very rapidly, secondary trading in the
corporate bond markets however has been slowing. Credit derivatives
are being used much more for hedging purposes. ISDA’s survey indicates
that the notional principal outstanding volume of credit default swaps
(CDS) grew 33% in the second half of 2006, rising from $26.0 trillion 
at 30 June 2006 to $34.5 trillion at 31 December 2006. This compares
with a 52% growth during the first half of 2006. CDS notional growth 
for the whole of 2006 was 102%, compared with 103% during 2005.
Our electronic broking platform in Europe has been particularly successful
combining both the bond and derivatives on a single platform. Over half
of the volume traded is completed electronically.

Energy
For much of the year the oil markets were particularly volatile and we
benefited from these active markets. Coal, gas and electricity were 
also busy and we became the largest OTC broker of European emissions
credits. Freight derivatives were the latest market to see significant
growth and the joint venture we established with Hyde Holdings two
years ago has been very successful. ICAP acquired the shipbroking
business of J.E.Hyde on 1 May 2007. In addition to our joint venture,
J.E.Hyde’s activities cover a range of shipbroking and related services 
to the shipping industry. The acquired business has gross assets of 
£1 million and employs 54 staff. Its core business of dry cargo ship
broking and the sale and purchase of ships is complemented by 
shipping market research, yacht broking and shipping website design. 
The new company will be known as ICAP Hyde & Company Ltd. 

Foreign exchange
The foreign exchange markets have seen significant volume growth
aided by several periods of high volatility during the year. On the EBS
platform we have seen increasing business completed through the prime
broking arms of our customers, including algorithmic trading. Several 
new products have been launched during the year on the EBS platform
including US dollar/rouble, US dollar/New Zealand dollar and Australian
dollar/New Zealand dollar. In forward FX we are extending our electronic
broking platform from a sound European base across our electronic
network to cover Asia Pacific and the Americas.

Equities 
The vast majority of ICAP’s business in the equity markets is in
derivatives and more complex structures in the UK, US and Japan.
There has been significant growth helped by equity market volatility. 
In the second half of 2006, according to ISDA, the notional amounts 
of equity derivatives outstanding, consisting of equity swaps, options 
and forwards, grew 12% from $6.4 trillion to $7.2 trillion and annual
growth was 29%.

Emerging markets
Given the very broad range of products and markets covered by ICAP’s
emerging market teams, it is not possible to provide market volumes 
to illustrate the very significant growth that the market is experiencing.
The range includes FX, interest rate products, government and corporate
bonds. We have a very strong position in Latin America where the
markets have been very active. We have found and expect to find many
more opportunities in the eastern European markets, Russia, Turkey 
and into Africa. In Asia Pacific we have a well developed network of 
12 offices with more than 650 staff covering the markets. 

Business review
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Competitive environment
ICAP leads the sector with an overall market share of interdealer broker
global revenue estimated at 30%–31%, slightly higher than a year ago.
In the voice broking markets, the major interdealer broker firms continue
to consolidate market share as banks seek to rationalise their broking
relationships and achieve economies of scale. The largest five groups 
now account for an estimated 85% of global revenue. While this 
process of consolidation has already run a long way in certain products,
it is still in the early stages in others such as equity derivatives and energy.
We believe this trend will continue for some time. The acquisition of EBS
was a significant step forward in the process of market consolidation.
It has transformed the electronic competitive landscape, more than
doubling ICAP’s share of OTC electronic broking where ICAP is now the
largest electronic interdealer broker with a 44% share of this market.

There is a growing appreciation that one of the key features of an
electronic broking business is not only the breadth of the connected
customer base but also the depth of connectivity with our customers
and their internal systems. This applies to pre-trade connectivity as well
as post-trade integration with position keeping, risk management and
back office systems. In our markets, the combination of ICAP Electronic
Broking and EBS creates a key strategic advantage – a global network
which will require significant time and expenditure by our competitors to
replicate. This connectivity, together with the opportunities for functional
enhancement and delivery of additional products and services over that
network, places ICAP in a strong position as the inevitable evolution
towards electronic trading takes place.

The financial and commodity derivatives’ exchanges have shown rapid
volume growth, particularly in North America, as they benefit from the
uplift from taking their markets electronic. The launch of new futures or
options contracts is a risky and often disappointing business. In contrast
we have found that innovation in OTC markets is much more frequent
and has a much greater chance of success. Recent examples include
structured credit derivatives, freight derivatives and carbon emissions.
Liquid futures contracts are natural hedging tools in many of our markets
and each type of instrument helps the development of the other. As the
exchanges seek to expand their businesses there is the potential for more
competition between the institutional or wholesale financial markets
serviced by ICAP and the exchanges which are open to a much wider
variety of users.

Business review

Competitive environment
The interdealer broking market continues to 
consolidate; the largest five groups now account 
for an estimated 85% of global revenue. 
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Technology
ICAP uses a number of different technology platforms to deliver
electronic broking to the different markets we serve. We continue to
invest so that in the future the majority of ICAP’s services, apart from 
a few very illiquid or structured products, will be available electronically 
as well as through voice brokers. 

This is a significant investment but it is essential to keep both the
electronic and voice broking businesses competitive. During this year
ICAP spent 10% of revenue on technology. This included investing in
upgrading our technology platforms and extending our data networks.
We now have 550 staff committed to the development and support of
these systems. As with any forward looking business the emphasis of our
technology development costs is on systems that change the business
rather than just running the business better.

The financial services industry has voted the three-year technology
global upgrade of the EBS Spot system, which was completed in
February 2006, as the Best Global Deployment in the American Financial
Services Technology Awards. The work to upgrade the live system
covered more than 40 countries, 110 cities, 2,500 workstations and
nearly 900 trading floors with core broker hubs and back-up servers 
in London, Tokyo and New York.

The majority of the costs and inefficiencies in the OTC market usually
occur post trade, where transactions need to be manually confirmed 
and input into the banks’ systems for both settlement of the trade and
position management. For ICAP a fundamental business objective
is the integration of our networks and systems with those of our
customers’ post trade systems. Establishing these links can be difficult
and slow, involving the banks in investing time and money to complete
this integration, but once established they provide a significant
competitive advantage.

Electronic broking, together with post-trade feeds, provides STP, 
which allows the trade to be confirmed, cleared (where the market has
clearing) and settled upon the execution of the trade. Voice-brokered
trades are also confirmed electronically through the same process. 
This streamlined process reduces costs significantly but also enables
many more trades to be executed and processed within a day, thereby
increasing the velocity of trading in these markets.

Business review

Technology
A significant investment in technology is essential 
to keep both the electronic and voice broking 
businesses competitive.
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Risk
As with all businesses, risk is inherent in the Group’s activities. The
effective identification, monitoring and management of each risk 
is an essential factor in the Group’s overall performance and, during the
past year, significant progress has been made in enhancing the Group’s
risk framework and upgrading risk control standards.

Risk management
The main risks that confront the Group fall into five categories;
operational, regulatory, financial, credit and market risk. The board 
is responsible for setting its strategy and appetite for each of these
categories and for ensuring that the Group’s risk management
framework and processes are appropriate and operating effectively 
with clearly defined roles and responsibilities. It performs these 
tasks through the group risk committee and the finance committee.
These committees are also responsible for establishing and continually
reviewing risk policies, delegated authorities and limits.

The committees also adopt ongoing risk and control assessment
programmes. These involve senior business and support management in
identifying and measuring the various risks that they are accountable for
and the systems and controls in place to manage, monitor and mitigate
those risks.

At the end of the year the assessment programmes were supplemented
by the completion of a comprehensive review of the top 25 significant
risks faced by the Group’s businesses. This included the review of the 
key controls in place and the action plans required to further reduce 
risk exposure.

Business review

Risk
Significant progress has been made in enhancing 
the Group’s risk framework and upgrading risk 
control standards.
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Operational risk
Operational risk is the most important risk that the Group faces and 
is the risk that the Group suffers a loss directly or indirectly from
inadequate or failed internal processes, people, systems or from external
events. It is intrinsic in all of the Group’s activities and is comprised 
of a wide and diverse range of risk types.

The two key operational risks faced by the Group are technology 
and people risk. In particular losses can result from:

– significant and extended failure of IT systems and applications;

– breakdown of information security, including corrupt data due 
to network intrusion, breach of network gateways or security 
systems failure;

– project risk in relation to critical IT development;

– the loss of key members from a broking desk;

– broker errors;

– external events including failure of external settlement/clearing
systems;

– introduction of new products and markets and the related tax, 
legal, accounting, regulatory, settlement and technology issues.

It is a policy of the Group to ensure that the important and significant
operational risks and their controls are continually reviewed and assessed.
As a consequence of this process corrective action plans are continually
introduced to mitigate the impact of a risk when it occurs and reduce 
the probability of it occurring.

Key risk indicators are produced on a regular basis and are discussed at
the group risk committee together with reports on key risk events or
developments that may impact the Group’s business activities. In addition
the committee also oversees other processes that supplement and
validate the risk identification and measurement programmes, including
the collection of loss data, internal audit findings and process mapping.

Regulatory risk
Regulatory risk is the risk of a financial loss or opportunity cost arising
from either the failure to meet the requirements set by the Group’s
regulators or the impact that legislation has on the markets in which 
the Group carries out its business.

During 2007, wide ranging financial regulatory developments are being
introduced. The impact of these, including the Capital Requirements
Directive (CRD) referred to later, has considerably raised the profile 
of regulatory risk within the Group.

The Group is required to meet the systems and controls requirements 
of the CRD and has, during the past year, reviewed these and where
necessary has taken action to ensure compliance.

In November 2007 further regulatory developments in the shape 
of the new Markets in Financial Investments Directive (MiFiD) 
will be introduced. Although these new rules will assist in improving
transparency in our businesses, they may damage the development 
of and possibly reduce liquidity within some of the Group’s markets.

The FSA adopts a risk-based approach to supervision and does this 
in various ways including the review of prudential returns, visits to the
Group and meetings with senior management. In the US, the Group’s
activities are regulated by the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
The Group operates in other countries and its operations are subject to
relevant local regulatory requirements. Adherence to these regulations 
is monitored, where applicable, by local compliance officers who report
regularly to the board.

Financial risk 
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to a variety of 
financial risks including liquidity, interest rate and currency. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability 
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects 
on the Group’s financial performance by using derivative instruments 
to lower funding costs, alter interest rate exposures arising as a result of
mismatches between assets and liabilities or to achieve greater certainty
of future costs. The use of derivatives forms part of the Group’s overall
risk management framework as determined by the board through the 
group risk and finance committees.
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The Group’s funding, liquidity and exposure to interest rate and FX rate
risk are managed by the Group’s treasury function in accordance with a
policy framework approved by the finance committee. The framework
lays out the Group’s appetite for risk and the steps to be taken to
manage these risks. The finance committee receives a bi-monthly 
report on the activities of the treasury function and is also responsible for
approving significant transactions such as new financing arrangements or
changes to the Group’s hedging strategy. The Group risk committee sets
and monitors treasury’s counterparty limits.

Liquidity risk The Group seeks to ensure that it has constant access, 
even in periods of corporate or market turmoil, to an appropriate level 
of cash, other forms of marketable securities and funding to enable 
it to finance its on-going operations, proposed acquisitions and other
reasonable unanticipated events on cost effective and attractive terms. 

Cash balances are invested with the objective of optimising return, 
while having regard to security, liquidity and counterparty risk. Where the
Group has cash surplus (ie non-trading related balances) it is invested
only with institutions which have the equivalent of an A credit rating or
better and is in accordance with limits imposed and monitored by the
Group’s finance and risk committees.

To finance the acquisition of EBS, the Group entered into a five-year 
£300 million multi-currency credit facility of which £125 million was
represented by a revolving credit facility and the balance by a US dollar
denominated term loan. Subsequently the revolving credit facility was
increased by £50 million. The term loan was fully drawn and the revolving
credit element undrawn at the year end resulting in the Group having
access to £175 million of committed headroom.

At the end of the year gross borrowings stood at £304 million of which
£114 million was in the form of Subordinated Loan Notes due 2015:
£167 million in respect of the EBS term loan and the balance in 
short-term borrowings, including bank overdrafts used to finance 
the businesses clearing and settlement activities.

Interest rate risk The Group has an exposure to fluctuations in interest
rates on both its borrowings and cash positions which, from time to 
time, it manages with derivative instruments. The Group’s objective 
is to minimise interest cost and the impact of interest volatility on the
Group’s income statement. As a result of the EBS acquisition being part
financed with debt, the Group had net finance expense as opposed 
to the historic finance income position. However, if no significant debt
financed acquisitions are made, the Group would remain cash positive
throughout the year and return to having finance income for the financial
year ending 31 March 2008. As a result the Group’s income will be
exposed to interest rate movements, but not so significantly as to be
material in the context of ICAP’s total profit before taxation.

Currency risk The Group publishes its consolidated financial statements 
in sterling and conducts business in a number of other currencies,
principally the US dollar and the euro. As a result the Group is exposed 
to foreign exchange risk due to exchange rate movements which affect
the Group’s transactional revenues, and the translation of the earnings
and net assets of its overseas operations.

During the financial year, the US dollar depreciated in value against
sterling (the average dollar/sterling rate in the financial year was
$1.89/£1 compared with $1.79/£1 in the previous financial year)
which had a net £9 million negative impact on the Group’s operating
profit in the financial year to 31 March 2007 when compared with 
the prior financial year.
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The table below shows the anticipated impact on operating profit of 
a 10 cent movement in the US dollar and the euro on ICAP in terms 
of translational and transactional exposure. The impact of the US dollar
has increased by £3 million against the prior year following the
acquisition of EBS.

Post EBS acquisition – impact of 10 cent movement 

US dollar Euro Total
Operating profit £m £m £m 

Translational 7 – 7
Transactional 5 9 14

The Group’s policy is for subsidiaries with a sterling functional currency 
to hedge their two main transactional exposures, which are the US dollar
and the euro, using a combination of forward foreign exchange contracts
and options for up to two years forward. A maximum of 100% of the
forecast exposures is hedged for the first 12 months, 75% for the
following six months and 25% thereafter. The Group’s other transactional
exposures are continually monitored and, where deemed appropriate,
hedged for a period of 12 months forward.

As at the date of this report, the Group had hedging contracts in place
covering approximately 90% of its forecast US dollar transactional
exposure for the period to 31 March 2008 at $1.84 and 20% of 
its forecast exposure for the year ended 31 March 2009 at $1.98.
Approximately 90% of the Group’s euro transactional exposure has been
hedged for the period to 31 March 2008 at a rate of 11.47 and 25% 
of its exposure for the year to 31 March 2009 at 11.45. A number of
the hedge contracts allow ICAP to participate in any strengthening of 
the US dollar and the euro.

The Group’s only significant balance sheet translational foreign exchange
exposure is to the US dollar. The Group does not normally hedge this
exposure, other than through foreign currency debt, as it views it as
short term and hedging could expose the Group to significant net cash
flows. As at March 2007, this exposure was $1.3 billion including
intangible assets arising on consolidation, but before hedging of 
$0.2 billion.

The Group does not hedge the translation of profits and losses earned by
its overseas operations.

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by
counterparties in respect of its agency, matched principal and treasury
operations. Credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments
is limited by the Group’s policy of requiring its treasury transactions to 
be undertaken with financial institutions which have been approved by
the group risk committee and which are investment grade rated.

The Group’s agency and matched principal business involves doing business
with a variety of clients in multiple jurisdictions. All counterparties are
subject to regular review and assessment by regional credit management
who then propose for approval, by the group risk committee, 
appropriate limits taking into account the creditworthiness of the
commercial counterparty and the nature of the business they transact
with the Group. Allocated global limits are based on Group set
parameters determining the maximum loss that the Group can suffer 
as a result of a counterparty default. Where appropriate, country limits
are applied to limit the exposure of the Group to that country.

Limits and their utilisation are monitored on a global basis. In some cases
exceptions do occur but these are approved prior to the transaction
taking place and are reported to the group risk committee.

Market risk
Market risk can arise in those instances where one or both counterparties
in a matched principal transaction fail to fulfil their obligations (e.g. an
unsettled transaction) or through trade mismatches or other errors. 
The risk the Group faces in these situations is restricted to short-term
price movements in the underlying stock temporarily held by the Group
and movements in foreign exchange rates. Any such market risk arising is
identified, monitored and reported to senior group management on a
daily basis and to the Group risk committee. Policies and procedures have
been improved during the past year to reduce the likelihood of such trade
mismatches and, in the event that they arise, the Group’s policy is to
close out such situations immediately.

In some parts of its business, the Group, acting in its interdealer 
broker capacity, engages in complex (and sometimes very substantial)
structured transactions developed by its highly-rated counterparties. 
The Group undertakes substantial tax, legal and regulatory due diligence
before entering these transactions. These transactions are fully matched
and do not involve the Group taking principal positions.

During the year, the Group disposed of all of its position taking
businesses in order to comply with the CRD waiver requirements. 
The Group no longer participates in position taking activities.

Business review
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Internal control
The board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal control 
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Such a system of internal control 
is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

There is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing 
the significant risks faced by the Group. This has been in place
throughout the year under review and up to the date of approval 
of these financial statements.

The key elements of the internal control system are:

– the establishment of an organisational structure with clearly defined
levels of authority and division of responsibility;

– a comprehensive budgetary process, with both annual and regular
forecasts being considered and approved by the board;

– the formulation of policies and of approval procedures in key areas;

– monthly monitoring of trading results and periodic review of balance
sheet and cash flow against budget and prior periods with significant
variances being investigated and appropriate action taken;

– formulation and review of specific policy covering credit, market,
operational and treasury risks faced by the business;

– regular visits to Group operating companies by board members and
senior management;

– all transactions authorised in accordance with delegated authority
limits approved by the board;

– regular internal audit visits to Group operating companies to carry 
out reviews of systems and procedures and compliance with 
Group policies;

– senior management within each region have responsibility for 
the establishment of appropriate control frameworks within their
operations to ensure compliance with Group policies, procedures 
and standards. They are also responsible for ensuring that risks within
their businesses are identified, assessed, controlled and monitored 
on an ongoing basis; and

– regular reports from both the external and internal auditors on the
internal control systems operating within the Group.

The board, through the audit committee, has conducted an annual 
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control covering 
all controls including financial, operational and compliance controls 
and risk management systems.

The Group has investments in a number of joint ventures and associates.
Where the Group is not directly involved in the management of the
investment it can influence, through board representation, but not
control the internal control systems present in those entities. The board’s
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal controls in those
entities is consequently less comprehensive than in its directly-owned
subsidiaries.

Business review
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Staff 
ICAP has more than 3,500 staff worldwide, with more than 1,900
broking staff, including trainees. More than 550 are involved in the
development and delivery of our electronic systems. 1,400 of our staff
are based in Europe with a further 1,400 in the Americas and more than
650 operate in the Asia Pacific region. In a competitive employment
market an important aspect of managing our business is the retention 
of our staff. 

It is essential that we invest in a regular flow of quality staff into our
growing business, both those with experience and knowledge and those
at the start of their careers. A key goal for ICAP is to be the “employer 
of choice” for graduates entering our industry.

ICAP monitors the voice revenue per voice broker as the most relevant
efficiency measure of our voice broking business. This year it grew by
10%, from £413,000 in the previous financial year to £454,000.
The variable component of voice broker remuneration increased to 60%
in this year from 58% in the previous year.

Employee involvement and employment practices
The Group is committed to achieving the highest standards in its
workplace. The policies and practices in place within the Group to 
deter acts of harassment and discrimination are regularly monitored. 
The Group maintains a zero tolerance policy concerning sexual
harassment, discrimination and retaliation against individuals 
who report problems in the Group’s workplace.

The Group recognises the value of communication with employees at all
levels and incentive schemes and share ownership schemes are run for
the benefit of employees. Information on these schemes is set out in the
note 25 to the financial statements.

Intranet sites are available in both the UK and the US allowing employees
easy access to the Group’s website for information on current
developments. The intranet brings together information on employment
opportunities, the staff handbook, including policies and procedures, and
compliance procedures and manuals. The Group expects to complete the
development of a global intranet accessible by all staff by March 2008.

Business review

Corporate and social responsibility
As an international business operating in 29 countries,
ICAP aims to conduct its business in a socially
responsible manner.

p
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Equal opportunity and diversity policy
The Group is committed to employment policies that provide and
promote equal employment opportunities for all employees and
applicants and to maintaining a workplace that ensures tolerance, 
respect and dignity for all its employees. No employee, contract 
or temporary worker or job applicant will be treated less favourably,
victimised or harassed on the grounds of their disability, sex, marital or
civil partnership status, race, nationality, colour, ethnic or national origins,
religious or similar philosophical belief, sexual orientation, age or any other
class protected by applicable law. 

Health and safety
The Group has a health and safety policy approved by the board and a
health and safety committee, chaired by the Group Company Secretary,
which meets quarterly. The board is committed to providing for the
health, safety and welfare of all its employees and to maintaining high
standards.

Corporate and social responsibility
As an international business operating in 29 countries, ICAP aims to
conduct its business in a socially responsible manner, to contribute to the
communities in which it operates and to respect the needs of employees,
investors, customers, suppliers, regulators and other stakeholders.

ICAP endeavours to comply with the laws, regulations and rules
applicable to its business and to conduct its business in accordance 
with established best practice in each of the countries in which it
operates. The Group aims to be a responsible employer and adopt 
values and standards designed to help guide our staff in their conduct
and business relationships.

The Group recognises its responsibility and integrity in meeting best
practice benchmarks when interacting with its employees, investors,
customers, suppliers, regulators and other stakeholders. ICAP expects 
to deal with these stakeholders in an open and co-operative way,
ensuring full, transparent, fair, accurate, timely and understandable
disclosure/public communication to encourage sustained and long-term
mutually rewarding relationships. ICAP operates a Code of Ethics and
Business Conduct policy. 

Charity Day and charitable donations
During the year the Group donated £7.1 million (2006 – £5.2 million) 
to charitable organisations globally, of which £3.4 million (2006 – 
£2.6 million) was donated to charitable organisations based in the UK.

For the past 14 years ICAP has held an annual Charity Day and the
Group’s offices around the world have raised over £33 million. Many
charities have received significant donations enabling them to continue
their valuable work without incurring the costs of fundraising. ICAP’s
offices around the world choose their own charities and those that 
have benefited include medical research, third world countries, cancer
and childrens’ charities. Among these were the Worldwide Orphans
Foundation, the Mirabel Foundation, The Tusk Trust and the Laureus
Sport for Good Foundation. Further information can be found on 
the Group’s website.

Environment
The nature of ICAP’s business activities means that the most significant
impact on the environment is the emission of greenhouse gases
as a result of running the Group’s offices and the associated travel.
ICAP seeks to reduce emissions by purchasing electricity from renewable
sources where possible, minimising the amount of air travel that its
employees undertake and recycling much of the Group’s waste. 
ICAP has worked with Carbon Neutral Ltd, an environmental impact
consultancy, to estimate the residual emissions of the Group in terms 
of carbon dioxide equivalents. Worldwide, the Group is estimated to emit
the equivalent of approximately 14 thousand tonnes* of carbon dioxide
or 4.1 tonnes per employee per annum. ICAP will monitor its emissions
going forward and is working to reduce this footprint further. To the
extent ICAP cannot eliminate emissions we purchase Certificates of
Emission Reduction under the United Nations’ sponsored Clean
Development Mechanism Programme.

Business review

* Based on World Business Council for Sustainable Development and the World Resources
Institute Protocols, relevant Scope 3 activities (mainly business travel and commuting)
have been included as recommended by these organisations. Using only Scope 1 and 
2 emissions (minimum recommended reporting level) would reduce ICAP’s reported
emissions by over 55%.
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Cost management
The effective and efficient management of the Group’s cost base
remains a key component of operational strategy.

During the financial year the Group continued to invest for the future 
in terms of people and technology. Employment markets remained highly
competitive in a number of areas of the Group’s operations. However, by
actively managing all cost areas the overall impact has been reduced 
(see margins below). 

Net operating expenses have gone up by 19%. Acquisitions and
investment in new business areas and information technology account
for the majority of this. Broker bonuses, which vary with revenue,
account for approximately one third of the increase. Excluding these
items, costs increased by less than inflation reflecting the Group’s focus
on cost management and reallocation of resources to higher margin
businesses.

Staff costs represent the largest single expense of the Group. This year
staff costs as a percentage of revenue decreased from 60% to 57%. 
This decrease reflects the higher proportion of ICAP’s revenues from
electronic broking.

Overall we would not expect the drivers of the cost base to change and
continued focus on this area will be required. 

Operating profit* margins
The Group maintained its industry leading market position, with operating
profit margins increasing by a percentage point to 22% in the financial
year ended 31 March 2007. Following the acquisition of EBS a greater
proportion of ICAP’s business comes from electronic broking which has
higher margins. The improvement in margins reflects this shift and ICAP’s
electronic broking margin is now 28%. Consequently, with the EBS
acquisition increasing the Group’s electronic broking capabilities, 
this should be a positive dynamic for the Group’s overall margins 
going forward, provided the Group maintains its vigilance over cost
management in its voice broking operations. 

Business review

Financial review
ICAP has demonstrated very strong financial 
performance and cash flows. With a robust balance 
sheet and control environment, ICAP is in  a strong
position to continue to grow.

p

* Excludes amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising on consolidation 
and exceptional items.
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The integration of EBS continues to go well. As a result, the estimate of
the synergies arising from this acquisition has been increased. It is now
estimated that the total annual benefit will be $58 million from the year
ending 31 March 2009 onwards. The total associated exceptional costs
are now estimated to be $48 million of which approximately half has
been incurred this year. Clearly this will have a materially positive impact
on the Group’s margins and those of the electronic division in particular.

The voice business has also seen an improvement in margins due to the
substantial growth in revenue exceeding the cost growth. Cost and
competitive pressures mean that we would not expect voice margins 
to improve substantially from this level.

Taxation
The overall objective continues to be to plan and manage the tax 
affairs of the Group efficiently within the various local tax jurisdictions 
of the world so as to achieve the lowest tax cash cost consistent with
compliance with the local tax regulations. 

The Group’s effective tax rate, excluding amortisation and impairment of
intangibles arising on consolidation and exceptional items, has increased
to 37% (2006 – 35%), reflecting in part the discontinuance of the tax
deductibility of certain costs. 

Generally the charge for taxation is affected by the varying tax rates 
in different jurisdictions applied to taxable profits and the mix of those
profits, by the rules impacting deductibility of certain costs, such as
finance costs, and by the rules relating to double taxation relief.

ICAP has proactively reviewed opportunities to reduce the tax burden
and has restructured the Group’s financing arrangements. As a result the
Group’s effective tax rate is expected to fall to approximately 35% in the
financial year to 31 March 2008.

The Group takes a prudent approach to the management of its tax
affairs and provisions are set to cover any tax exposures the Group 
may have.

Earnings and earnings per share (EPS)
We continue to believe that the most appropriate EPS measurement
ratio for the Group is adjusted EPS, which better reflects the business’s
underlying cash earnings. Adjusted EPS excludes amortisation and
impairment of intangibles arising on consolidation and exceptional items.
The calculation of EPS is set out in note 12 to the financial statements.

Adjusted EPS increased by 14% to 24.6p. The Group’s basic EPS
decreased from 19.6p to 19.3p.

Dividend
Subject to shareholder approval, a final dividend of 9.3p is proposed. 
This compares with 7.5p in the prior year and would result in a full-year
dividend of 12.3p, which represents a 23% increase over the prior year,
in line with the growth in profit before taxation*. This is the seventh
consecutive year that we have been able to increase the dividend. 
The dividend is exactly twice covered by adjusted EPS. This cover 
is slightly lower than the prior year and we consider this appropriate 
given the very strong cash flow performance.

ICAP is keeping its dividend policy under review. Interim dividends are
calculated as 30% of the previous year’s full-year dividend. This approach
will continue in the 2007/08 financial year.

Business review

* Excludes amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising on consolidation 
and exceptional items.
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Operating profit/cash conversion
The Group’s consolidated cash flow is set out on page 58 of the 
financial statements. 

The Group again demonstrated its strong cash generative characteristics.
ICAP’s free cash flow grew to £190.1 million (2006 – £74.2 million).
Before tax and interest payments, cash from operations benefited from 
a year-on-year impact of £88.6 million from initially unsettled trades 
and exceptional items. Excluding these impacts, cash from operations
increased to £260.9 million, an increase of £64.6 million. Offsetting this,
cash tax and interest payments increased by £28.9 million and capital
expenditure rose by £11.5 million to £31.1 million.

The very strong cash flow has meant that despite investing £290.2
million in acquisitions in 2006/07, ICAP ended the year with a net cash
position of £19.5 million (2006 – £211.1 million).

Calculation of free cash flow

12 months to 12 months to
31 March 31 March 

2007 2006
£m £m

Cash generated by operations* 303.5 150.3
Interest and taxation (86.2) (57.3)

Cash flow from operating activities 217.3 93.0
Capital expenditure (31.1) (19.6)
Dividends from associates 3.9 0.8

Free cash flow 190.1 74.2

* This figure includes the impact of initially unsettled matched transactions. Usually, in a
matched principal transaction, both sides settle on the same day. Occasionally, for various
reasons, only one side of the transaction may settle giving rise to a temporary cash position
which reverses on the completion of the other side of the transaction, normally within
24 hours.

The table demonstrates that ICAP is able to fund significant investments
in new businesses from free cash flow. This is before raising additional
debt finance.

Balance sheet and capital 
Net assets increased by £173.9 million during the year and, as at 
31 March 2007, were £793.7 million, primarily as a result of the
acquisition of EBS. 

Certain Group companies are involved as principal in the purchase and
simultaneous commitment to sell securities between third parties. Such
trades are complete only when both sides of the deal are settled and so
the Group is exposed to risk in the event that one side of the transaction
remains unsettled. Substantially all the transactions settle within a short
period of time and the settlement risk is considered to be minimal. 

All amounts due to and payable by counterparties in respect of matched
principal business are shown gross, except where a legally enforceable
netting agreement exists and the asset and liability are either settled 
net or simultaneously. At 31 March 2007 matched principal business
resulted in the balance sheet being grossed up by £83,512.7 million. 

The Group had a net cash balance (net cash and cash equivalents 
less long-term debt) as at 31 March 2007 of £19.5 million 
(2006 – £211 million). The reduction is due to the acquisition 
of EBS, the consideration of which included $534 million 
(£286.6 million) in cash. This has, however, been offset by 
the strong free cash flow described above.

The Group is required to maintain significant cash balances within its
operating entities for regulatory, clearing house deposits and commercial
requirements. It is estimated that £260 million of the total cash balance
of £323.3 million is required for these purposes.

Capital structure and regulatory capital changes
In January 2007 the Group became subject to the new Capital
Requirements Directive (CRD). Under the CRD the circumstances in
which a group may avoid deducting goodwill from regulatory capital are
more restrictively defined. However, those businesses which do not take
on principal risk are entitled to apply for a waiver from the consolidated
capital adequacy tests and in so doing significantly reduce their
regulatory capital requirement. To enable ICAP to qualify for this waiver,
the Group was required to reduce its investment in a number of its
smaller businesses, such as Exotix, which had position taking activities.
These disposals were completed by the end of March 2007 following
which the waiver was granted. Currently the Group has regulatory capital 
that exceeds the requirement by approximately £300 million.

Going forward the most important impact of this waiver is that ICAP 
is able to make acquisitions using debt without reducing this headroom.

ICAP has demonstrated very strong financial performance and 
cash flows. With a robust balance sheet and control environment, 
ICAP is in a strong position to continue to grow.

Matthew Lester
Group Finance Director
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Charles Gregson

Non-executive Chairman N

Aged 59

He was appointed on 1 August 2001 having been executive Chairman since 6 August
1998. Between 1978 and 1998, he was responsible for the Garban businesses that
demerged from UBM and later merged with Intercapital. He was appointed to the board 
of United Business Media plc in 1996 and is Chief Executive of PR Newswire. In addition,
he is non-executive Deputy Chairman of Provident Financial plc.

Michael Spencer

Group Chief Executive Officer N

Aged 52

He was the founder of Intercapital in 1986 and became Chairman and Chief Executive 
of Intercapital in October 1998, following the Exco/Intercapital merger. He is deemed, 
with IPGL and its subsidiary INFBV, to have an interest of 20.92% in ICAP plc. IPGL’s other
interests include City Index and investments in a variety of other financial services
companies. Michael Spencer has been non-executive Chairman of Numis Corporation plc
since April 2003. In February 2007, Michael Spencer was appointed the Conservative
Party Treasurer.

Mark Yallop

Group Chief Operating Officer GR, NBA, F

Aged 47

He was appointed on 13 July 2005 and is chairman of the group risk and new business
approvals committees. He had previously been Group Chief Operating Officer of 
Deutsche Bank Group, following many years’ involvement in trading in the derivatives,
foreign exchange and cash markets. He was also a director of the International Swaps 
& Derivatives Association (ISDA) from 1996 to 1998.

Key to membership of committees:
A Audit committee
F Finance committee
GR Group risk committee
N Nomination committee
NBA New business approvals committee
R Remuneration committee
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Executive director GR, NBA

Aged 50 

He was appointed on 28 October 1998. He is responsible for overseeing the integration
with EBS and the interface between the Group’s voice and electronic broking businesses.
He is Chief Operating Officer for the Americas and previously headed ICAP’s global
electronic businesses. He was appointed a director of the US operations in December 1995
having joined the foreign exchange business of Garban in 1986. He is also a board member
of Columbia University’s Executive Masters of Science and Technology Management. 

Nicholas Cosh

Independent non-executive director A, N, R

Aged 60

He was appointed on 5 December 2000. He is a chartered accountant and is chairman 
of the audit committee. He is Chairman of Kiln Limited and also a director of Hornby plc 
and Bradford & Bingley plc. From 1991 to 1997 he was Finance Director of JIB Group plc 
and until 1991 Finance Director of MAI plc.

Duncan Goldie-Morrison

Senior Independent Director A, N, R

Aged 51

He was appointed a non-executive director on 20 November 2003 and appointed 
the senior non-executive director on 14 July 2004. He is President of Ritchie Capital
Management, a multi-strategy hedge fund based in Geneva, Illinois and a non-executive
director of Primus Guaranty Ltd. Between 1993 and 2003 he was Managing Director,
Head of Global Markets Group and Head of Asia at Bank of America. He was also 
a member of Bank of America’s Management Operating Committee, the Asset and 
Liability Committee and the Trading Risk Committee. 

James McNulty

Independent non-executive director N, R

Aged 56

He was appointed on 30 March 2004. He is chairman of the remuneration committee. 
He has 30 years’ experience in the global financial markets, including futures, securities,
derivatives and foreign exchange. He is a director of NYSE Euronext. He was President 
and Chief Executive Officer of Chicago Mercantile Exchange Holdings Inc from its
formation in August 2001 and Chicago Mercantile Exchange Inc (CME) from February
2000 until 1 January 2004. Before joining CME he was managing director and co-head 
of the Corporate Analysis and Structuring Team in the Corporate Finance division of the
investment banking firm now known as UBS Warburg. 

William Nabarro

Independent non-executive director A, N, R

Aged 51

He was appointed on 28 October 1998 and is chairman of the nomination committee. 
He was appointed Executive Chairman of JLT Employee Benefits in January 2006, 
joined the board of Jardine Lloyd Thompson Group plc as Commercial Director in April
2006 and is Treasurer of the University of Leeds. He was Vice Chairman of KPMG
Corporate Finance between July 1999 and July 2003. Before joining KPMG he was 
a managing director of SG Hambros Corporate Finance. He joined Hambros Bank in 
1978 and became head of the Corporate Finance Division of Hambros in 1997. 

Matthew Lester

Group Finance Director GR, NBA, F

Aged 43

He was appointed on 6 September 2006, following the resignation of Jim Pettigrew,
and is chairman of the finance committee. He worked for Diageo plc from 1996 in 
a number of senior finance roles, most recently as Group Financial Controller. He is 
a Chartered Accountant and a member of the main committee of The 100 Group
of Finance Directors.
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements 
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2007.

Activities, business review and development
A review of business activities, future developments and a description 
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company is given 
in the following sections of the annual report: financial highlights on the
inside front cover, key performance indicators page 7, financial review
pages 29 to 31, risk management pages 22 to 26 and corporate and
social responsibility pages 27 and 28.

Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions are set out in note 30 to the
financial statements.

Post balance sheet events
Details of post balance sheet events are set out in note 34 to the
financial statements.

Results and dividends
The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
income statement on page 54. The directors recommend a final dividend
of 9.3p per share which, together with the interim dividend of 3.0p per
share already declared, makes a total for the year ended 31 March 2007
of 12.3p per share (2006 – 10.0p). Details of the interim dividend
payment are set out in note 11 to the financial statements. Subject to
approval at the annual general meeting the final dividend will be paid 
on 24 August 2007 to shareholders on the register on 27 July 2007
(ex-dividend date being 25 July 2007).

Directors and directors’ interests
Profiles of the directors who held office during the year are given 
on page 34 and 35. Details of the service contracts of the current
directors are shown in the remuneration report on page 47.

David Gelber and Jim Pettigrew resigned as directors of the Company
during the year under review. Matthew Lester was appointed a director
during the year.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, Nicholas Cosh,
Duncan Goldie-Morrison and James McNulty will stand for re-election 
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Matthew Lester, having been
appointed to the board since the last annual general meeting, will stand
for election.

Directors’ interests in ordinary shares
The interests of the directors in the Company’s ordinary shares of 10p
each are shown below as at 31 March 2007 and at 31 March 2006
or the appointment date if appointed during the year. The interests 
of directors in options over the Company’s shares are shown on page 50
within the remuneration report.

As at As at
31 March 31 March 

2007 2006

Charles Gregson – Chairman 227,895 227,895

Michael Spencer 135,386,784 131,816,360

Matthew Lester – –

Stephen McDermott 92,640 92,640

Mark Yallop 527,056 350,000

Nicholas Cosh 30,000 30,000

Duncan Goldie-Morrison 100,000 100,000

James McNulty 20,000 20,000

William Nabarro 48,580 48,580

Notes

1 Details of Michael Spencer’s shareholding are set out in a note to the substantial
shareholdings section of the directors’ report.

2 Directors’ interests shown in the table above represent shares beneficially held by each
director together with shares held by their spouse and children under 18. This year, 
in addition, ordinary shares held on behalf of Michael Spencer and Mark Yallop by the
trustees of the ICAP Trust in respect of their basic awards and any vested matching
awards under the BSMP have been included.

3 Between 31 March 2007 and 11 May 2007 there were no changes to the 
above interests.

Creditor payment policy
The Group’s policy with regard to the payment of its suppliers is to agree
the terms of payment at the start of business with each supplier, ensure
that the suppliers are made aware of the terms of payments and pay 
in accordance with its contractual and legal obligations. The Company
does not have any trade creditors.

Political donations
As for the previous year, no political donations were made during 
the year.
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Substantial shareholdings
As at 11 May 2007, the Company had been notified of the following interests of 3% or more in its issued ordinary share capital:

Total
interest in Percentage of voting rights

ordinary shares Indirect Direct Total

Mr & Mrs M Spencer, together with INCAP Finance B.V.* 135,386,784 20.77% 0.15% 20.92%
Newton Investment Management Limited 41,288,333 6.38% – 6.38%

*Mr and Mrs M Spencer own approximately 55.10% of IPGL which in turn owns 100% of INFBV. Accordingly, Mr and Mrs M Spencer are deemed to be interested in all the shares in 
ICAP plc held by INFBV (130,769,560) respectively. A trust fund of which their children are beneficiaries holds a further 50,000 shares and 3,570,424 shares are held by Halifax EES
Trustees International Ltd as trustee of the ICAP Trust. The shares held in the ICAP Trust include basic awards to Michael Spencer under the BSMP and matching awards under the BSMP 
in respect of which there are no unsatisfied performance or continuity of employment conditions. Michael Spencer holds 996,800 shares in his own name.

Charitable donations
During the year the Group donated £7.1 million (2006 – £5.2 million) 
to charitable organisations globally, of which £3.4 million (2006 – 
£2.6 million) was donated to charitable organisations in the UK. 
Further information can be found on page 28 of the business review 
and on the Group’s website.

Employee involvement
Details are given in the business review on page 27.

Disability policy
Details are given in the business review on page 28 as part of the equal
opportunity and diversity policy section.

Share capital
All changes in share capital are detailed in note 24 to the financial
statements. As at 31 March 2007, options existed over 21,672,476 
of the Company’s ordinary shares of 10p each in relation to employee
share option schemes. Of this figure 9,463,529 are options over 
existing shares which are held in employee benefit trusts and the
remainder are expected to be satisfied by new issues of shares. 
Changes in options under the various schemes are detailed in note 25
to the financial statements.

The Company repurchased 2,000,000 of its shares during the year.
These shares (less 111,600 which have been used to satisfy option
exercises up to 31 March 2007) are held as Treasury Shares.
The balance of 1,888,400 Treasury Shares held at 31 March 2007
represents 0.29% of the issued share capital. As at the date of this
report, the Company had an unexpired authority to repurchase shares 
up to a maximum of 58,773,194 ordinary shares of 10p each.
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Annual general meeting
The ninth annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
Wednesday 18 July 2007. The notice of meeting is set out on pages
117 to 119 together with explanatory notes.

Auditors and the disclosure of information to auditors
So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this
report is aware, there is no relevant audit information, being information
needed by the auditors in connection with preparing their report, 
of which the auditors are unaware. Having made enquiries of fellow
directors, each director has taken all the steps that he is obliged to take
as a director in order to make him aware of any relevant audit information
and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were re-appointed auditors to the Company
on 19 July 2006. Resolutions to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
and to authorise the directors to set their remuneration will be proposed 
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. Note 8 to the financial
statements sets out details of the auditors’ remuneration.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements
The directors are required by the Companies Act 1985 to prepare
financial statements for each accounting period that give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and Group as at the end 
of the financial year and of the profit or loss of the Group for the year.
The directors confirm that suitable accounting policies have been used
and applied consistently and reasonable and prudent judgements and
estimates have been made in the preparation of the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2007. The directors also confirm that the
financial statements comply with applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU.

The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy the financial position of the
Company and of the Group, for taking reasonable steps to safeguard the
assets of the Company and the Group and to prevent and detect fraud
and other irregularities.

The maintenance and integrity of the Group’s website is the responsibility
of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve
consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no
responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial
statements since they were initially presented on the website. 
Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Going concern
The directors are satisfied that the Company and the Group have
adequate resources to continue to operate for the foreseeable future 
and confirm that the Company and the Group are going concerns. 
For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing these financial statements.

By order of the board

Deborah Abrehart
Group Company Secretary

23 May 2007
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Corporate governance statement
The following statement, together with the remuneration report, 
details how the Company has applied the principles set out in the
Combined Code and includes additional disclosures, where appropriate.
The directors believe that during the year they have fully complied with
the provisions of the Combined Code.

Directors
The Company is headed by an experienced board of directors consisting
of a non-executive Chairman, Group Chief Executive Officer, three
further executive directors and four non-executive directors. The board
meets at least six times a year, with three meetings being held overseas.
In addition, during the year the board held a separate meeting which
focused solely on corporate strategy.

The board has a schedule of matters specifically reserved to it for
decision and approval which include, but are not limited to:

– the Group’s long-term objectives and commercial strategy;

– acquisitions, disposals and major investments;

– the Group’s annual and half-yearly reports;

– any significant change in accounting policies or practices;

– any interim dividend and recommendation of the final dividend;

– the annual operating and capital expenditure budgets;

– any changes to the Company’s capital structure or its status 
as a listed company;

– risk management strategy; and

– treasury policy.

Information is provided in a timely and regular manner to directors for all
meetings to enable them to exercise their judgement in the discharge of
their duties. In addition senior executives below board level attend certain
board meetings and make presentations on the results and strategies 
of their businesses.

All directors have access to the advice and services of the Group Company
Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that board procedures and
applicable rules are observed. There is a procedure to enable the directors
to obtain independent professional advice in respect of their duties 
at the Company’s expense. This facility extends to the members of audit,
remuneration and nomination committees. The Company maintains liability
insurance for its directors and officers.

There is a clear division of the roles and the responsibilities of the
Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman is responsible
for leadership of the board and ensuring effective communication with
shareholders. The Group Chief Executive Officer is responsible for leading
and managing the business.

Duncan Goldie-Morrison is the senior independent director and 
is an additional contact point for shareholders if the normal contact
channels are inappropriate. With the exception of the Chairman, all the
non-executive directors are independent of management and considered
by the board to be free from any business or other relationships which
could interfere with the exercise of their independence. Profiles of each
of the directors and details of their membership of board committees 
are given on pages 34 and 35.

Board nominations are recommended to the board by the nomination
committee under its terms of reference.

In accordance with the Combined Code and the Company’s articles of
association all directors are subject to re-appointment by shareholders 
at the first opportunity following their appointment and, subsequently,
must seek re-election at least once every three years.

New directors to the board are provided with appropriate training and
briefings which take into account their individual qualifications and
experience. All directors receive, during their term of office, regular
briefings on changes and developments in the Group’s business and
legislative and regulatory changes which are relevant to the Group.

During the year the board evaluated its performance and that of its
committees and individual directors. This was done by way of a
questionnaire which was completed by each director to evaluate
effectiveness and accountability. The collective results were then
discussed by the board with actions agreed. The board has considered
and agreed that each of Nicholas Cosh, Duncan Goldie-Morrison and
James McNulty, who are standing for re-election at the annual general
meeting, continue to perform effectively and to demonstrate
commitment to his role. The board considered (with Nicholas Cosh
excusing himself from such discussions) the nomination for the 
re-election of Nicholas Cosh with particular rigour, as he had served as 
a director for six years, and was satisfied that his re-appointment as a
director for a further term was warranted having regard to his ongoing
contribution and valuable experience on the board. The Chairman’s
performance was evaluated by the non-executive directors led by the
senior independent director who then provided the Chairman with the
results of this evaluation.

The board manages the Group through board meetings and a number 
of committees, each of which has detailed terms of reference and 
meets regularly. The terms of reference of the audit, remuneration 
and nomination committees are available on the Group’s website,
www.icap.com. The minutes of each of the committees are made
available to all directors and the board receives an update from each 
of the committee’s chairman.



Audit committee
The committee comprises three independent non-executive directors.
The directors who served on the committee during the year are:

Nicholas Cosh FCA (chairman)
Duncan Goldie-Morrison
William Nabarro

The audit committee is responsible for:

– monitoring the integrity of the Group’s financial statements and any
announcements relating to the Group’s financial performance;

– reviewing the Group’s internal financial controls and risk 
management systems;

– assessing the independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the
external auditors;

– developing and implementing policies on the engagement of the
external auditors for the supply of non-audit services;

– making recommendations for the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the external auditors and approving their remuneration and
terms of engagement;

– monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
audit function; and

– reviewing arrangements by which staff may, in confidence, raise
concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting
or other matters.
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Board and committee attendance
The following table sets out the number of meetings of the board and its committees during the year and individual attendance by directors 
at those meetings:

Finance
committee
(previously New business 

Audit Remuneration Nomination Group risk treasury approvals
Board committee committee committee committee committee) committee

Total number of meetings in 
the financial year 2006/07 6 4 5 1 6 8 4

Current directors
Charles Gregson 6/6 – – 1/1 – – –
Michael Spencer 6/6 – – 1/1 – – –
Matthew Lester 
(appointed 6 September 2006) 4/4 – – – 3/3 4/4 3/3
Stephen McDermott 6/6 – – – 6/6 – 1/1
Mark Yallop 6/6 – – – 6/6 8/8 4/4
Nicholas Cosh 6/6 4/4 5/5 1/1 – – –
Duncan Goldie-Morrison 5/6 4/4 4/5 1/1 – – –
James McNulty 5/6 – 5/5 1/1 – – –
William Nabarro 6/6 4/4 4/5 1/1 – – –

Past directors
David Gelber (resigned 12 July 2006) 1/1 – – – – 1/3 –
Jim Pettigrew (resigned 2 June 2006) 1/1 – – – 1/2 2/2 –

Director absences from meetings were the result of unavoidable diary clashes and were agreed with the Chairman in advance.

Corporate governance statement continued



ICAP plc
Annual Report 2007 41

Governance

Appointments to the committee are made by the board on the
recommendation of the Group’s nomination committee following
consultation with the chairman of the audit committee.

The board has satisfied itself that the chairman of the audit committee,
and the committee collectively, possess recent and relevant financial
experience to enable the committee to function effectively and to
discharge its responsibilities.

The committee meets four times a year with meetings coinciding with
the start of the external audit cycle, the financial year end and the
publication of the annual and half-yearly reports. In attendance at such
meetings, by invitation only, are the Chairman, Group Chief Operating
Officer, Group Finance Director, Ernst & Young as internal auditor and
representatives from the external auditors. The chairman of the audit
committee also maintains contact with those attendees throughout 
the year. At the end of each committee meeting representatives from
Ernst & Young as internal auditor and the external auditors are given 
the opportunity to raise any issues, in private, without management
being present.

The chairman of the audit committee reports on the committee’s
deliberations and any significant issues that may have arisen to the 
board meeting following each meeting of the committee.

In the 2006/07 financial year, the committee reviewed the Group’s
annual and interim financial statements, prior to their approval 
by the board. In doing so, it ensured that the accounting policies adopted,
the judgements and disclosures made in the preparation of those 
financial statements, were the most appropriate to the circumstances 
of the Group.

In the course of the year the committee was kept up to date on
developments in accounting standards and their likely impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

During the year, the committee received regular reports on the work of
the outsourced internal audit department and reviewed the authority,
scope of work, resources and effectiveness of the function. The Ernst 
& Young representative has direct access to the audit committee and its
chairman. The committee also considered the external auditors’ Group
management letter on accounting procedures and systems of internal
financial control.

During the financial year, the committee reviewed the effectiveness of
the external audit process and the qualification, expertise and resources
of the external auditors. The committee also reviewed and approved the
proposed audit fee and terms of engagement for the 2006/07 audit 
and has recommended to the board that it proposes to shareholders that
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP be re-appointed as the Group’s external
auditors. The committee also monitored the balance of audit and 
non-audit fees to ensure that the independence and objectivity of the
external auditors is maintained. During the year, the audit committee 
reviewed the tender process which was in place for the provision 
of external advice. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP was the main provider
but their work was limited to specific areas and the services of other
firms used on an ongoing basis. Any proposed non-audit assignments,
with fees in excess of £50,000, are subject to the committee’s prior
review and approval. As part of its consideration of the annual financial
statements the committee has reviewed and is satisfied that the auditors
have remained independent of the Group during the financial year and
continue to do so to the date of this report. The committee also received
details from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP of its own independence
procedures and confirmation that, in its opinion, it remained independent
throughout the year.

Management is responsible for maintaining an effective system 
of internal controls with the board being responsible for reviewing 
its effectiveness. To assist the board in this duty, the committee 
reviews the Group’s internal financial controls and risk management
systems. Details of the steps taken by the committee to review the
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control are set out in 
the business review.

The committee has reviewed the whistleblowing arrangements within
the Group and is satisfied that such arrangements are still appropriate.
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Remuneration committee
The remuneration report is set out on pages 43 to 50.

Nomination committee
The committee comprises the chairman, four non-executive directors
and one executive director:

William Nabarro (chairman)
Nicholas Cosh
Duncan Goldie-Morrison
Charles Gregson
James McNulty
Michael Spencer

The committee recommends to the board appointments for the role of
Chairman, Group Chief Executive Officer, executive and non-executive
directors. In September 2006, following an external candidate search,
Matthew Lester was appointed Group Finance Director.

No other appointments have been made during the year.

During the year, in accordance with previous announcements, 
Jim Pettigrew and David Gelber resigned as directors on 2 June 2006
and 12 July 2006 respectively.

There are three further board committees which report directly to 
the board of the Company, but whose membership does not include
non-executive directors.

Group risk committee
The committee is chaired by the Group Chief Operating Officer and
includes the Group Finance Director.

The committee is responsible for ensuring that the Group’s risk
management framework, risk appetite, risk strategy and policies are
appropriate to the activities of the Group. The committee reviews 
the Group’s risk exposures and ensures adherence to Group risk 
policy (particularly in relation to credit, market and operational risk).

It is the board’s responsibility to determine the Group’s risk appetite 
and identify, monitor and assess the significant risks the Group may be
exposed to. The committee is responsible for developing procedures for
managing risk in line with board approved polices and limits. This includes
establishing and maintaining an adequate, sound and appropriate internal
control structure, evaluating its effectiveness and promptly identifying
material weaknesses and taking corrective steps.

Finance committee
The committee is chaired by the Group Finance Director and includes 
the Group Chief Operating Officer. 

The committee is responsible for reviewing and making recommendations
to the board in relation to matters affecting the structure, financing, 
tax and treasury aspects of the Group and to ensure compliance with
board approved financing, treasury and tax policies.

Detailed information on risk management and financial risk management
is set out on pages 22 to 26 of the business review.

New business approvals committee
The committee is chaired by the Group Chief Operating Officer 
and includes the Group Finance Director.

The committee is responsible for reviewing all new business proposals 
to ensure that a proper consideration of risk has been undertaken and that
proposals meet the strategic direction and financial criteria set out in the
new business approvals’ guidelines. The committee also regularly reviews
the performance of all new business against the new business proposal.

Relations and dialogue with shareholders
The board is accountable to the Company’s shareholders for the
performance and activities of the Group and is very much aware of the
importance of maintaining good relations and communications with all 
its shareholders. The annual and interim financial statements and Stock
Exchange announcements are posted on the investor relations section 
of the Group’s website, www.icap.com, as soon as they are released 
and major shareholder and analysts’ presentations are also available. 
The board recognises that the annual general meeting provides
shareholders with an opportunity to receive information on the 
Group’s business performance and to question senior management 
on any business matters. In 2006 all the directors attended the 
annual general meeting.

The Group has an established programme of communication with its
institutional investors and analysts. At the time of the announcement of
the final and interim results, presentations are made to analysts, the press
and institutional investors. In addition, there are regular meetings during
the year (subject to relevant regulatory constraints) with analysts and
investors to update them on developments in the Group’s strategy 
and performance.

Accountability and audit
The directors’ statement regarding their responsibility for preparing 
the Group’s financial statements is set out in the directors’ report 
on page 38 and the independent auditors’ report regarding their
reporting responsibility is detailed on page 51.

By order of the board

Deborah Abrehart
Group Company Secretary
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This report sets out the Group’s remuneration policy and details the
remuneration of each of the directors for the financial year ended 
31 March 2007 and, as far as practicable, for subsequent years.

Unaudited information
Remuneration committee
The committee comprises four independent non-executive directors.

The directors who served on the committee during the year are:

James McNulty (chairman)
Nicholas Cosh
Duncan Goldie-Morrison
William Nabarro

The committee consults the Chairman of the board and the Group 
Chief Executive Officer about its proposals relating to the remuneration
of the executive directors.

The remuneration committee has been assisted in its considerations on
executive directors’ remuneration by Towers Perrin who were appointed
by the committee in December 2003. Towers Perrin do not have any
other connection with the Group. Advice was also sought during the year
from Ashurst on legal issues. Ashurst has also provided advice on a broad
range of legal issues for the Group during the year to 31 March 2007.

Details of the number of meetings and attendance at committee
meetings during the year are set out in the table on page 40.

Remuneration policy
In determining remuneration policy and the size of the awards, the
remuneration committee takes account of structures and levels of
remuneration for executive directors in other substantial companies 
that it regards as appropriate comparators and of such companies’ stated
remuneration policies. The comparator companies, selected because 
their and the Group’s activities are in broadly comparable areas of the
financial services sector, include Chicago Board of Trade, Chicago
Mercantile Exchange, Collins Stewart, Tullett Prebon, Deutsche Borse,
eSpeed, Euronext, GFI, Jardine Lloyd Thompson, London Stock Exchange
and Man Group.

The principles of the remuneration policy have been developed over a
number of years to recognise and reward the rapid and substantial
growth of the Group. The principles are designed to ensure that the
structure and level of the executive directors’ remuneration are:

(i) appropriate in light of remuneration arrangements among senior
executives and managers employed by competitors and other
participants in the markets in which ICAP is active;

(ii) compatible with the remuneration of senior brokers and managers
employed within the Group who are not directors of ICAP plc;

(iii) structured directly to take account of the absence of committed
future revenue in the Group’s businesses, which means that the
major part of revenue has to be secured in the year in which it is
earned;

(iv) structured to reflect Group profit, with low fixed-base salaries and
negligible pension and other benefits;

(v) simple, with the amounts to which executive directors are entitled
capable of being calculated by reference to the published financial
statements of the Group;

(vi) integrated, so that executive directors participate in a single
comprehensive bonus and incentive structure rather than
participating in several different schemes;

(vii) structured rather than discretionary: remuneration is primarily
determined arithmetically by reference to the published financial
performance of the Group, with the non-arithmetic element 
(which will be smaller, other than in exceptional circumstances)
determined by reference to progress towards specific management
objectives agreed at the start of the relevant year;

(viii) structured to maximise the likelihood of retaining a proven 
and stable senior management team; and

(ix) structured to align executive directors’ interests with those of 
ICAP shareholders.

While the remuneration strategy, policy and approach is reviewed
annually for executive directors, significant changes to the policy are not
envisaged in the forthcoming year.

The executive directors’ remuneration comprises basic salary,
performance-related bonus, participation in the Bonus Share Matching
Plan (BSMP), pension contribution, life assurance, medical insurance and,
in some cases, car allowance. The remuneration committee is responsible
for determining the salaries and other remuneration of the Chairman and
the executive directors.

Directors are not involved in deciding their own remuneration. 
The remuneration committee does not determine the fees payable 
to the non-executive directors, which are considered and approved 
by the executive directors and the Chairman of the board.
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Salaries and benefits
The executive directors did not receive a salary increase in 2006/07 
and have not done so since 1999 as the remuneration committee
believes that performance-related pay should be the major component
of the package in order to align executives’ interests with those 
of shareholders.

Bonus and other entitlements under the Company’s incentive schemes
are not pensionable.

Set out below are the salaries and benefits received by the executive
directors in (or, in the case of bonuses, in respect of) 2006/07.

Michael Spencer received a salary of £360,000, a pension contribution
of 5% of salary being £18,000 for the year ended 31 March 2007
(2006 – £18,000), life assurance, long-term disability insurance, 
private medical insurance and a performance-related bonus of
£5,740,000 comprising cash of £2,870,000 and £2,870,000 which
will be used to buy shares to be held in trust for the basic award under
the BSMP. 84% of total compensation was performance related for the
year ended 31 March 2007.

As non-executive Chairman of Numis Corporation plc Michael Spencer
received fees of £45,000 which were paid to IPGL.

Matthew Lester, who was appointed a director on 6 September 2006,
received a salary of £142,308, a pension contribution of £6,308
for the year ended 31 March 2007, life assurance, long-term disability
insurance, private medical insurance and a performance-related bonus 
of £550,000 comprising cash of £275,000 and £275,000 which will
be used to buy shares to be held in trust for the basic award under the
BSMP; this bonus of £550,000 was guaranteed in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2007. No guarantee is in place in respect of any 
future year.

Stephen McDermott received a salary of $450,000. Benefits included 
a car lease of $18,000 per annum, the maximum pension payment 
of $5,000 equivalent to £2,645 for the year ended 31 March 2007
(2006 – £2,799), various insurances and a performance-related bonus
of £1,450,00 comprising cash of £725,000 and a promise to deliver 
a number of shares currently valued at £725,000 in three years’ time.
77% of total compensation was performance related for the year 
ended 31 March 2007.

Mark Yallop received a salary of £225,000, a pension contribution 
of £9,973 for the year ended 31 March 2007 (2006 – £9,973), 
life assurance, long-term disability insurance, private medical insurance 
and a performance-related bonus of £2,250,000 comprising cash 
of £1,125,000 and £1,125,000 which will be used to buy shares 
to be held in trust for the basic award under the BSMP. 90% of 
total compensation was performance related for the year ended 
31 March 2007.

In addition, Michael Spencer, Matthew Lester and Mark Yallop will 
be granted matching award options under the BSMP and Stephen
McDermott a promise to receive matching shares.

Remuneration of the non-executive directors
The remuneration of the non-executive directors is considered and
approved by the executive directors within the limits set in the articles 
of association. The basic remuneration for Nicholas Cosh, Duncan Goldie-
Morrison, James McNulty and William Nabarro was £60,000 per annum.

Nicholas Cosh as chairman of the audit committee, James McNulty
as chairman of the remuneration committee and William Nabarro as
chairman of the nomination committee receive an additional £20,000,
£10,000 and £5,000 per annum respectively for those functions.

Since the year end it has been agreed that a three-month notice period
should be included in the letter of appointment for non-executive
directors. The notice period would apply only in the event of a change 
of control of the Company. 

The Chairman, Charles Gregson, received a fee of £200,000 per annum.

Breakdown of remuneration
The fixed and performance-related elements of directors’ remuneration
are illustrated in the tables on pages 48 and 49.

The line graph on page 45 shows, for the five financial years to 
31 March 2007, the total shareholder return on a holding of the
Company’s ordinary shares compared with the FTSE 250 index. 
ICAP plc was a constituent of the FTSE 250 index until its entry into 
the FTSE 100 index on 30 June 2006. For the year ended 31 March
2007 the FTSE 250 is considered to be the appropriate benchmark.
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Calculation of the executive directors’ variable remuneration
The structure put in place by the remuneration committee, by which
executive directors’ variable remuneration is determined, comprises
three elements. A bonus pool is created representing a percentage of
profit before taxation, amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising
on consolidation and exceptional items and after all remuneration costs.
Of this pool:

(i) half is paid in cash;

(ii) the other half is used to purchase shares of the Company held by
the ICAP Trust and over which the executive directors are granted
awards (the basic award) but which are not released to the
respective executive directors until the end of three years unless
they cease employment earlier; and

(iii) matching awards of shares equal in total to the number purchased
under (ii) above, to be secured through market purchase. An award
will usually be released after three years only if the executive
director to whom the particular award was made is still employed
and has not disposed of his basic award and, for matching awards 
in respect of 2003/04 onwards, provided performance-related
criteria are met.

The performance-related criteria for the release of the matching 
awards granted under the BSMP for the year ended 31 March 2004 
and subsequent years is that adjusted EPS must have grown by 
at least 9% over RPI over the three years from the date of grant.

The structure is designed to result in two-thirds of each executive
director’s variable remuneration in respect of each year being locked into
the Company’s shares for the subsequent three years, its value varying 
in direct relation to the price of the Company’s shares. Half of this award
is then usually released after three years if the executive director is still
employed and has not disposed of his basic award and if the financial
performance of the Company is such that the performance criteria have
been met during the subsequent three-year period.

Under the structure adopted by the remuneration committee which
establishes the pool from which executive directors’ bonuses will be paid,
the bonus pool comprises:

(i) a fixed percentage of the Group’s profit before taxation,
amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising on consolidation
and exceptional items and after all remuneration costs, subject to
the achievement of a minimum level of profit for the year set by 
the remuneration committee at the beginning of the year; and

(ii) a smaller, variable percentage set by the remuneration committee 
to reflect, first, the progress made towards agreed specific priorities
and objectives and, second, financial results outperforming the
minimum level in the relevant year.

The remuneration committee does not consider it appropriate to put 
a cap on the size of the bonus pool that may be generated in light of
remuneration practices prevalent in the financial services sector and
because the major part of the bonus pool is set as a direct reflection 
of the financial performance of the Group.

Performance graph – value of £100 invested
Five financial years ending 31 March 2007
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Bonus arrangements for year ended 31 March 2007
The bonus arrangements in effect for the executive directors’ bonuses
for the year ended 31 March 2007 were set down in the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2006:

– so long as profit before taxation, amortisation and impairment of
intangibles arising on consolidation and exceptional items, is greater
than £255 million (and provided there is a year-on-year increase in
adjusted EPS), the executive directors’ bonus pool will be 2.87%* of
that profit;

– an additional amount of up to 1.43%* of that profit may be payable 
as determined by the remuneration committee based on the actual
financial performance for the year and progress made towards
specified agreed priorities and objectives for the executive directors;

– if adjusted profit before taxation, amortisation and impairment of
intangibles arising on consolidation and exceptional items is below
£255 million the amount of the executive directors’ bonus pool will 
be at the discretion of the remuneration committee;

– the remuneration committee will retain the overriding discretion 
to make such changes to the bonus arrangements as it believes the
circumstances warrant. Such changes may lead to either an increase 
or a decrease in the bonus pool; and

– the matching award will be released only if adjusted EPS has grown 
by at least 9% above RPI over the three financial years beginning 
with the financial year in which the matching award is granted. If this
performance-related criterion is not met at the end of the three years
the matching award will lapse.

In the remuneration committee’s deliberations in respect of the award for
the year ended 31 March 2007, the committee considered the impact
of the weakening of the dollar against sterling on the Group’s reported
results. It was agreed that, without the dollar depreciation, the profit
before taxation, amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising on
consolidation and exceptional items would have exceeded £255 million.

Bonus arrangements for year ending 31 March 2008
The arrangements for the year ending 31 March 2008 are as follows:

– so long as profit before taxation, amortisation and impairment of 
intangibles arising on consolidation and exceptional items, is greater
than £290 million at an exchange rate of US$1.95 (and provided there 
is a year-on-year increase in adjusted EPS), the executive directors’ 
bonus pool will be 2.87% of that profit;

– an additional amount of up to 1.43% of that profit may be payable as
determined by the remuneration committee based on the actual
financial performance for the year and progress made towards
specified agreed priorities and objectives for the executive directors;

– if adjusted profit before taxation, amortisation and impairment of
intangibles arising on consolidation and exceptional items is below 
£290 million the amount of the executive directors’ bonus pool will 
be at the discretion of the remuneration committee;

– the remuneration committee will retain the overriding discretion 
to make such changes to the bonus arrangements as it believes the
circumstances warrant. Such changes may lead to either an increase 
or a decrease in the bonus pool; and

– the matching award will be released only if adjusted EPS has grown 
by a least 9% above RPI over the three financial years beginning 
with the financial year in which the matching award is granted.
If this performance-related criterion is not met at the end of the 
three years the matching award will lapse.

Share schemes and long-term incentive arrangements
The Company has a number of share schemes:

– ICAP 1998 Approved Share Option Plan (ESOP)

– ICAP 1998 Unapproved Share Option Plan (UESOP)

– ICAP 1998 Sharesave Scheme (SAYE)

– ICAP Senior Executive Equity Participation Plan (SEEPP)

– ICAP 2001 Unapproved Company Share Option Plan (UCSOP)

These schemes are described in note 25 to the financial statements.

Following the approval of the BSMP, executive directors no longer
receive awards under any of the above schemes with the exception of
the SAYE scheme. During the year, as part of a signing-on incentive,
Matthew Lester was granted 333,000 options under the UCSOP.
These options vest in three equal tranches on the third, fourth and fifth
anniversaries of the date of grant and are subject to the performance
conditions described in note 25.

The policy in respect of these share schemes is that they will be
restricted and allocation made only to key executives and senior brokers.
Awards will be of a size, up to the limits allowed by the schemes, to
provide a meaningful incentive and an effective retention tool for this
particular group of employees. The SAYE scheme is open to eligible
employees to encourage regular saving linked to investing in the shares
of the Company.

Performance conditions
The table on page 50 shows the share options and interests under 
long-term incentive schemes held by directors of the Company. 
Details of the performance conditions applicable to those options are
described in note 25.

Where performance conditions are attached to options, these were
selected to act as a mechanism to safeguard the progress that has 
been made in the performance of the Group and to underpin continuing
forward movement in the Group’s earnings.

* The remuneration committee has, during the year, agreed that an adjustment to the
directors’ bonus pool percentage should be made to account for the impact of shares
issued and share repurchases. This has resulted in an amendment to the percentage
figures as published in the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2006.
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Directors’ service contracts
The Company’s policy is for executive directors to have service contracts with notice periods of no more than one year as recommended by the
Combined Code and to provide a reasonable balance between the need to retain the services of key individuals and the need to limit the liabilities of
the Company in the event of the termination of a contract. The table below shows details of directors’ service contracts.

No director received compensation for loss of office during the year.

Date Compensation
appointed Contract on early 

director date Term Expiry termination

Executive directors

Michael Spencer 09.09.99 30.09.98 1 year Rolling Note 1

Matthew Lester 06.09.06 24.05.06 1 year Rolling Note 2

Stephen McDermott (US) 28.10.98 10.04.03 1 year Rolling Note 3

Mark Yallop 13.07.05 23.05.05 1 year Rolling Note 4

Non-executive directors

Charles Gregson (Chairman) 06.08.98 27.01.06 No notice Review on 01.11.08 Note 5

Nicholas Cosh 05.12.00 08.05.07 3 months’ notice on Review on 05.12.09 Note 5
change of control

Duncan Goldie-Morrison (US) 20.11.03 08.05.07 3 months’ notice on Review on 20.11.09 Note 5
change of control

James McNulty (US) 30.03.04 08.05.07 3 months’ notice on Review on 30.03.10 Note 5
change of control

William Nabarro 28.10.98 08.05.07 3 months’ notice on Review on 28.10.07 Note 5
change of control

Past directors

David Gelber – Executive director 09.09.99
Non-executive director 13.07.05 25.10.05 1 year 12.07.06 Note 6

Jim Pettigrew 25.01.99 17.11.98 1 year 30.06.06 Note 7

Notes

1 The contract of Michael Spencer, dated 30 September 1998 as amended on 22 July 1999, may be terminated by the Company with no notice in which case the Company is obliged 
to make a payment of salary and contractual benefits (excluding any bonus) for 12 months.

2 The contract of Matthew Lester, dated 24 May 2006, may be terminated by the Company with no notice in which case the Company is obliged to make a payment of salary and
contractual benefits (excluding any bonus) for 12 months.

3 The contract of Stephen McDermott may be terminated by the Company with no notice in which case the Company is obliged to make a payment of his base salary of $450,000. 
This contract is being amended and will include the removal of the guaranteed bonus of $350,000 with effect from 1 April 2006.

4 The contract of Mark Yallop, dated 23 May 2005, may be terminated by the Company with no notice in which case the Company is obliged to make a payment of salary and
contractual benefits (excluding any bonus) for 12 months.

5 The Chairman, Charles Gregson, and the non-executive directors, Nicholas Cosh, Duncan Goldie-Morrison, James McNulty and William Nabarro do not have contracts with the
Company and no notice is required to be given by the Company on termination except on change of control as shown above.

6 The remuneration committee has exercised its discretion to allow David Gelber to exercise in full his outstanding basic awards under the BSMP as they become exercisable on the
normal vesting date. Where a matching award is performance related, the matching award will vest only to the extent that the performance conditions have been satisfied at the
relevant date of vesting.

7 The contract of Jim Pettigrew, dated 17 November 1998 as amended on 27 October 1999, 7 January 2000, 29 August 2000, 20 November 2003 and by a Termination Agreement
dated 21 November 2005 and 21 August 2006, terminated on 30 June 2006. His resignation as a director of the Company was effective from 2 June 2006. In accordance with the
Termination Agreement, the following applied:

(a) Jim Pettigrew received a payment in lieu of notice calculated by reference to his salary, car allowance and pension contribution which would have been paid between 30 June 2006
and 30 September 2006 (the automatic termination date under the Termination Agreement) of £50,625;

(b) Jim Pettigrew was entitled to exercise in full his outstanding basic awards under the BSMP for 12 months from 30 June 2006;

(c) the remuneration committee has exercised its discretion in relation to the unvested matching awards granted on 4 June 2004 and 10 June 2005 so that two-thirds and one-third
respectively of each of these awards will vest at the normal vesting dates, subject to the applicable performance conditions being satisfied. In addition, Jim Pettigrew will be eligible 
for a discretionary cash bonus in lieu of dividends on shares subject to his BSMP awards on a basis consistent with that for other executive directors.
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Group pension arrangements
In the UK, the Group operates a Group Personal Pension Scheme (the Scheme), which is open to new non-broking employees and administered 
by the Standard Life Assurance Company. The Group will match contributions paid by members of the Scheme, up to a limit of 5% of basic salary. 
For new broking employees, or those not eligible for a Group contribution, a stakeholder scheme is available, administered by the Standard Life
Assurance Company. In addition, the Group administers a number of historic pension arrangements for existing employees.

Various 401k plans are run in the US. These are retirement savings schemes with a choice of investment funds and US federal tax law sets savings
limits for employees.

The Group operates defined benefit pension schemes in the US and Germany. Further information can be found in note 28 to the financial statements.

Audited information
Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration of the directors of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2007 was as follows:

Bonus in 
lieu of  

Bonus in dividend 
lieu of on the  Amounts

dividend BSMP over which Year ended Year ended
on the vested basic awards 31 March 31 March 

BSMP basic matching will be granted 2007 2006
Salaries Fees Benefits award award Cash bonus under BSMP Total Total

Note £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Executive directors

Michael Spencer 1,2,5 360,000 – 12,942 476,560 221,610 2,870,000 2,870,000 6,811,112 5,681,113

Matthew Lester 1,2,3 142,308 – 2,093 – – 275,000 275,000 694,401 –

Stephen McDermott (US) 1,2,4,5 238,095 – 67,412 72,534 55,201 725,000 725,000 1,883,242 1,709,953

Mark Yallop 1,2,5 225,000 – 4,669 23,632 – 1,125,000 1,125,000 2,503,301 1,873,956

Non-executive directors

Charles Gregson – Chairman – 200,000 – – – – – 200,000 110,000

Nicholas Cosh – 80,000 – – – – – 80,000 70,000

Duncan Goldie-Morrison (US) – 60,000 – – – – – 60,000 50,000

James McNulty (US) – 70,000 – – – – – 70,000 57,167

William Nabarro – 65,000 – – – – – 65,000 57,883

Past directors

David Gelber 
to 12.07.06 5 117,115 8,725 52,251 63,796 – – 241,887 502,311

Jim Pettigrew 
to 30.06.06 5 43,750 – 4,456 36,398 50,366 – – 134,970 1,152,042

Total 1,126,268 475,000 100,297 661,375 390,973 4,995,000 4,995,000 12,743,913 11,264,425

Notes

The remuneration shown above represents amounts payable in respect of services provided by the directors to the Company and its subsidiaries during the year in which they held office
as directors of the Company.

1 In addition to the basic award an equivalent matching award will be granted under the BSMP. Matching awards may, in normal circumstances, be exercised only if the directors still 
hold office in three years’ time and retain their basic awards. Exercise of matching awards is also subject to the performance criterion attached to the award being satisfied.

2 Benefits may include car allowance, premiums for private medical insurance, permanent health insurance and disability insurance, mobile telephone and country club membership.

3 As part of a signing-on incentive, Matthew Lester was paid £200,000 on joining the Company.

4 The remuneration of Stephen McDermott has been converted to sterling using the average exchange rate for the year of £1 – US$1.89 (2006 – £1 – US$1.79).

5 A bonus in lieu of dividend on the BSMP was received on the basic awards granted in 2003, 2004, 2005 and 2006 and on the vested matching awards granted in 2003.

6 The figures stated above exclude pension contributions to defined contribution schemes which are shown under salaries and benefits for each executive director on page 44.
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Bonus Share Matching Plan (BSMP)
The BSMP was approved by shareholders at the annual general meeting held in 2003. One half of each director’s bonus has been used to purchase
ordinary shares (a basic award) which are held by the ICAP Trust. Matching award options will normally be exercisable at the end of three years as long
as the basic award options are still held and only if the executive director remains in employment. The performance-related criteria for the release of
the matching awards granted under the BSMP for the year ended 31 March 2004 and subsequent years is that adjusted EPS must have grown by at
least 9% over RPI over three financial years beginning with the financial year in which the matching award is granted.

The performance year for the grant made on 4 June 2004 is the year ended 31 March 2004, for the grant made on 10 June 2005 the performance
year is the year ended 31 March 2005 and for the grant made on 22 June 2006 the performance year is the year ended 31 March 2006.

The exercise price for a basic award is £1 and the exercise price for a matching award is £1.

The remuneration committee has agreed to extend the exercise period for all grants from 12 months to five years to maintain the alignment 
of interest between the executive directors and shareholders.

The market price of an ICAP share on the grant dates was as follows:

16 July 2003 – 248.7p; 4 June 2004 – 283.5p; 10 June 2005 – 292.5p; 22 June 2006 – 482.8p.

The table below sets out the shares awarded as part of the executive directors’ variable remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2007.

Options Total options 
under the under the 

BSMP held  Basic Matching BSMP held 
at 1 April award award at 31 March 

2006 Grant date options options Exercised Lapsed 2007 Exercise period

Current directors

Michael Spencer 4,556,330 16.07.03 766,300 766,300 – – Note 1
04.06.04 810,153 810,153 – – Note 2
10.06.05 701,712 701,712 – – Note 3
22.06.06 525,959 525,959 – – 5,608,248 Note 4

Mark Yallop – 22.06.06 177,056 177,056 – – 354,112 Note 4

Past directors

David Gelber 
(retired 12.07.06) 1,224,138 16.07.03 – – 441,200 – Note 5

04.06.04 216,041 216,041 – – Note 2
10.06.05 175,428 175,428 – – 782,938 Note 3

Jim Pettigrew 
(resigned 
02.06.06) 1,111,872 16.07.03 – – 348,320 – Note 6

04.06.04 – 120,023 180,034 60,011 Note 2, 7
10.06.05 – 67,247 201,742 134,495 187,270 Note 3, 8

Notes

1 Exercise period 28 May 2006 – 27 May 2011.

2 Exercise period commences on the day of the announcement of the Company’s annual results for the financial year ending 31 March 2007 and will last for five years.

3 Exercise period commences on the day of the announcement of the Company’s annual results for the financial year ending 31 March 2008 and will last for five years.

4 Exercise period commences on the day of the announcement of the Company’s annual results for the financial year ending 31 March 2009 and will last for five years.

5 The market price on 15 June 2006, the date of exercise, was 476.8p.

6 The market price on 16 June 2006, the date of exercise, was 483.8p.

7 The market price on 21 September 2006, the date of exercise, was 523.0p

8 The market price on 6 October 2006, the date of exercise, was 521.0p.

9 Stephen McDermott was given a promise to receive 174,160 basic award shares and 174,160 matching award shares on 16 July 2003, a promise to receive 171,032 basic award
shares and 171,032 matching award shares on 4 June 2004, a promise to receive 184,199 basic award shares and 184,199 matching award shares on 10 June 2005 and a promise
to receive 140,603 basic award shares and 140,603 matching award shares on 22 June 2006. 348,320 shares promised on 16 July 2003 were transferred to Stephen McDermott
on 31 May 2006. The market price on 31 May 2006 was 493.0p. No promises have lapsed.
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Company long-term incentive schemes

The interests of the directors in options over the Company’s shares resulting from the UESOP, the UCSOP, the SAYE and the SEEPP are shown 
below at 31 March 2006 and 31 March 2007.

Options held Granted Exercised Options held Market price (p)
Date of at 31 March during during at 31 March Exercise period Exercise period Exercise on date of 

grant 2006 period period 2007 from to price (p) exercise

Current directors

Michael Spencer
SAYE 21.06.05 4,229 – – 4,229 01.08.08 31.01.09 224.0 –

Matthew Lester 
UCSOP 07.09.06 – 333,000 – 333,000 07.09.09 06.09.16 460.0 –

Stephen McDermott
UESOP 23.12.98 270,560 – – 270,560 23.12.01 22.12.08 46.2 –

30.09.99 875,000 – – 875,000 30.09.02 29.09.09 42.4 –
SEEPP 01.06.99 107,830 – – 107,830 01.06.02 31.05.09 22.7 –
UCSOP 31.05.01 750,000 – – 750,000 31.05.04 30.05.11 100.3 –

Mark Yallop
UCSOP 01.07.05 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000 01.07.08 30.06.15 297.0 –

Past directors

David Gelber 
SAYE 27.06.03 5,495 – 5,495 – 12.07.06 11.01.07 168.2 464.3

Jim Pettigrew
SAYE 27.06.03 5,495 – 5,495 – 01.08.06 31.01.07 168.2 460.3
UCSOP 31.05.01 250,000 – 250,000 – 31.05.04 30.05.11 100.3 465.3

All option figures shown as at 31 March 2007 remained unchanged as at 11 May 2007.

At the close of business on Friday 30 March 2007 the market price of the Company’s ordinary shares was 530.5p per share and during the year
fluctuated in the range 445.25p – 572.5p per share.

By order of the board

James McNulty
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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We have audited the Group and Company financial statements (the
financial statements) of ICAP plc for the year ended 31 March 2007
which comprise the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
and Company statements of recognised income and expense, the
consolidated and Company balance sheets, the consolidated and
Company cash flow statements and the related notes. These financial
statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out
therein. We have also audited the information in the remuneration report
that is described as having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the
remuneration report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as adopted by the EU are set out in the statement of directors’
responsibilities included in the directors’ report.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the
remuneration report to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and
regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only
for the Company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 235
of the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, in
giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose
or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent 
in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give
a true and fair view and whether the financial statements and the part 
of the remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared 
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and as regards the Group
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We report to you
whether in our opinion the information given in the directors’ report is
consistent with the financial statements. The information given in the
directors’ report includes that specific information presented in the
business review that is cross referred from the activities, business review
of the directors’ report. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the
Company or Group has not kept proper accounting records, if we have
not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit,
or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and
other transactions is not disclosed.

We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects the
Company’s and Group’s compliance with the nine provisions of the
Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued in 2006 specified 
for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority
and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether 
the board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, 
or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s or Group’s
corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider
whether it is consistent with the audited financial statements. The other
information comprises only the financial highlights, the Chairman’s
introduction, the business review, the directors’ profiles, directors’ report,
the corporate governance statement and the unaudited part of the
remuneration report. We consider the implications for our report 
if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities 
do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. 
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant 
to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the part
of the remuneration report to be audited. It also includes an assessment
of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the
preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Company’s and Group’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements and the part of the remuneration report to be audited are
free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements
and the part of the remuneration report to be audited.

Opinion

In our opinion:

– the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, of the state of the Group’s affairs 
as at 31 March 2007 and of its profit and cash flows for the year 
then ended;

– the Company financial statements give a true and fair view, in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU as applied in accordance
with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state of the
parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 2007 and cash flows for the
year then ended;

– the financial statements and the part of the remuneration report 
to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation; and

– the information given in the directors’ report is consistent with the
financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors 
London, United Kingdom

23 May 2007
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Before 
amortisation 

and impairment Amortisation
of intangibles and impairment 

arising on of intangibles Exceptional
consolidation and arising on items 
exceptional items consolidation (note 5) Total

Note £m £m £m £m

Revenue 3 1,106.3 – – 1,106.3 
Operating expenses (874.5) (40.9) 4.8 (910.6)
Other income 4 15.9 – – 15.9 

Operating profit 3 247.7 (40.9) 4.8 211.6
Finance income 6 23.0 – – 23.0 
Finance costs 7 (25.1) – – (25.1)
Share of profit/(loss) of associates after tax 3 6.0 (1.7) – 4.3

Profit before taxation 251.6 (42.6) 4.8 213.8
Taxation 10 (92.1) 3.3 0.7 (88.1)

Profit for the year 159.5 (39.3) 5.5 125.7 

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 155.1 (39.3) 5.5 121.3
Minority interests 4.4 – – 4.4 

159.5 (39.3) 5.5 125.7

Earnings per ordinary share
– basic 12 19.3p
– diluted 12 18.8p
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Before 
amortisation 

and impairment Amortisation
of intangibles and impairment 

arising on of intangibles Exceptional
consolidation and arising on items 
exceptional items consolidation (note 5) Total

Note £m £m £m £m

Revenue 3 919.2 – – 919.2
Operating expenses (736.4) (10.7) – (747.1)
Other income 4 13.5 – – 13.5

Operating profit 3 196.3 (10.7) – 185.6
Finance income 6 14.6 – – 14.6
Finance costs 7 (9.8) – – (9.8)
Share of profit/(loss) of associates after tax 3 3.2 (0.6) – 2.6

Profit before taxation 204.3 (11.3) – 193.0
Taxation 10 (72.2) – – (72.2)

Profit for the year 132.1 (11.3) – 120.8

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 128.5 (11.3) – 117.2
Minority interests 3.6 – – 3.6

132.1 (11.3) – 120.8

Earnings per ordinary share
– basic 12 19.6p
– diluted 12 19.1p
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Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
Note £m £m

Revaluation of available-for-sale investments 17 3.5 13.5
Net movement on cash flow hedges 26(b) 1.8 (4.2)
Actuarial (losses)/gains on retirement benefit obligations 28 (0.2) 0.2
Exchange adjustments on net investments in overseas subsidiaries 26 (52.7) 17.2
Revaluation gains realised in the year (5.9) –
Net current tax on items recognised in equity 10, 26 (0.1) 4.4
Net deferred tax on items recognised in equity 10, 26 4.3 (2.8)

Income and expense recognised directly in equity (49.3) 28.3
Profit for the year 125.7 120.8

Total recognised income and expense for the year 76.4 149.1

Total recognised income and expense for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 72.0 145.5
Minority interests 4.4 3.6

76.4 149.1
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As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
Note £m £m

Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets arising on consolidation 14(a) 681.8 276.7
Intangible assets arising from development expenditure 14(b) 21.5 16.5
Property, plant and equipment 15 55.9 50.2
Investment in associates 16 29.8 33.1
Deferred tax assets 20 33.3 33.7
Trade and other receivables 18 7.9 4.0
Available-for-sale investments 17 26.6 35.1

856.8 449.3
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 18 83,804.3 44,145.7*
Available-for-sale investments 17 20.0 11.8
Cash and cash equivalents 32(b) 323.3 339.9

84,147.6 44,497.4
Total assets 85,004.4 44,946.7
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 (83,794.9) (44,116.9)*
Short-term borrowings and overdrafts 32(b) (22.9) (0.1)
Tax payable (71.1) (51.8)
Short-term provisions 22 (10.0) (3.9)
Obligations under finance leases 27(a) (0.1) (0.1)

(83,899.0) (44,172.8)
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 (27.8) (10.4)
Long-term borrowings 21 (280.9) (128.7)
Retirement benefit obligations 28 (1.4) (2.1)
Deferred tax liabilities 20 (0.2) (9.2)
Long-term provisions 22 (1.4) (3.6)
Obligations under finance leases 27(a) – (0.1)

(311.7) (154.1)
Total liabilities (84,210.7) (44,326.9)
Net assets 793.7 619.8
Equity
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 24, 26 64.9 60.8
Share premium account 26 397.2 217.4
Other reserves 26 43.7 39.9
Retained earnings 26 275.4 285.7
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 781.2 603.8
Minority interests 26 12.5 16.0
Total equity 793.7 619.8

*The comparatives for 2006 are restated for changes to the presentation of matched principal transactions (note 1 (c)).
Approved by the board on 23 May 2007 and signed on its behalf by:
Michael Spencer Matthew Lester
Group Chief Executive Officer Group Finance Director
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Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
Note £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities 32(a) 217.3 93.0
Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends received from associates 3.9 0.8
Other equity dividends received – 0.3
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment (18.3) (13.0)
Intangible development expenditure (12.8) (6.6)
Receipts from sale of property, plant and equipment – 0.8
Net payments to acquire available-for-sale investments (3.4) (5.7)
Acquisition of interests in businesses net of cash acquired (282.3) (32.8)
Acquisition of associates (7.9) (8.5)

Net cash flows from investing activities (320.8) (64.7)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to minority interests (2.8) (1.3)
Equity dividend paid (66.7) (53.1)
Payments to acquire Treasury Shares (9.0) –
Payments to acquire own shares (5.1) (4.0)
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 8.7 2.4
Capital element of finance lease payments (0.1) (0.8)
Funds received from borrowing, net of fees 167.1 124.8

Net cash flows from financing activities 92.1 68.0

Exchange adjustments (28.0) 12.8

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (39.4) 109.1
Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 339.8 230.7

Net cash and cash equivalents at end of year 32(b) 300.4 339.8
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As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
Note £m £m

Assets
Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries 35(a) 876.5 459.8

876.5 459.8

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 18 329.0 135.9
Corporation tax receivable 5.7 5.3
Cash and cash equivalents 0.9 1.0

335.6 142.2

Total assets 1,212.1 602.0

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 (334.6) (238.8)

Total liabilities (334.6) (238.8)

Net assets 877.5 363.2

Equity
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 24, 26 64.9 60.8
Share premium account 26 397.2 217.4
Other reserves 26 0.9 0.9
Retained earnings 26 414.5 84.1

Equity shareholders’ funds 877.5 363.2
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Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends received from subsidiaries 145.8 32.2
Investments in subsidiaries (277.0) (136.7)

Net cash flows from investing activities (131.2) (104.5)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 8.7 2.4
Proceeds from exercise of share options 0.2 –
Net receipts from subsidiaries 122.6 100.6

Net cash flows from financing activities 131.5 103.0

Exchange adjustments (0.4) 1.5

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (0.1) –
Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1.0 1.0

Net cash and cash equivalents at end of year 0.9 1.0

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Profit for the year 408.9 77.3

Total recognised income and expense for the year 408.9 77.3
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1 Basis of preparation

(a) Basis of preparation – Group and Company
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS adopted by the European Union, IFRIC interpretations and with those 
parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS and therefore comply with Article 4 of the EU IAS Regulation. 
The financial statements have also been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified to include the fair value of certain financial
instruments in accordance with IFRS. The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the parent company,
ICAP plc.

The Group maintains a columnar format for the presentation of its consolidated income statement. This enables the Group to continue its
practice of improving the understanding of its results by presenting profit for the year before amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising
on consolidation and exceptional items. This is the profit measure used to calculate adjusted EPS and is considered to be the most appropriate 
as it better reflects the Group’s underlying cash earnings. Profit before amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising on consolidation and
exceptional items is reconciled to profit before taxation on the face of the income statement.

Items which are of non-recurring nature and material when considering both size and nature, have been disclosed separately to give a clearer
presentation of the Group’s results. These items are shown as “exceptional items” on the face of the income statement.

The Company has taken advantage of section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 not to present its own income statement.

Group
Intangible assets arising on consolidation represent goodwill and other separately identifiable intangible assets on business combinations since 
1 April 2004. The amortisation of separately identifiable intangible assets and any impairment of goodwill is included in the income statement
within the column “amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising on consolidation”.

(b) Basis of consolidation – Group
The Group’s consolidated financial statements include the results and net assets of the Company, its subsidiaries and the Group’s share of joint
ventures and associates.

An entity is regarded as a subsidiary if the Group has control over its strategic, operating and financial policies and intends to hold the investment
on a long-term basis for the purpose of securing a contribution to the Group’s activities.

The results of companies acquired during the year are included in the Group’s results from the effective date of acquisition. The results 
of companies disposed of during the year are included up to the effective date of disposal.

A joint venture is an entity in which the Group has an interest and, in the opinion of the directors, exercises joint control over its operating and
financial policies. An interest exists where an investment is held on a long-term basis for the purpose of securing a contribution to the Group’s
activities. Joint ventures are proportionately consolidated, whereby the Group’s income statement and balance sheet include the Group’s share 
of the income and assets on a line-by-line basis.

An associate is an entity in which the Group has an interest and, in the opinion of the directors, can exercise significant influence, but not control,
over its operating and financial policies. An interest exists where an investment is held on a long-term basis for the purpose of securing a
contribution to the Group’s activities. Significant influence generally exists where the Group holds more than 20% and less than 50% of the
shareholders’ voting rights. Associates are accounted for under the equity method whereby the Group’s income statement includes its share 
of their profits and losses and the Group’s balance sheet includes its share of their net assets and the Group’s equity includes its share of their
revaluation reserve.

The accounts of certain subsidiaries incorporated outside the UK are drawn up initially to conform with local regulations and adjusted
subsequently to comply with IFRS and UK company law.
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(c) Prior year adjustment
As a consequence of a review of its clearing and settlement arrangements, the Group has determined that certain balances resulting from
transactions settled through clearing corporations in the US should not be recognised on the balance sheet. Comparative amounts in the prior
year have been restated. The impact on the consolidated financial statements to 31 March 2006 is a reduction in matched principal trade
debtors and matched principal trade creditors of £100,297.0m. The change has no impact on the income statement, net assets or the cash 
flow statement of the Group.

(d) Segmental analysis

Primary segment – geographic
The Group regards its primary reporting segment as geographic as this is substantially the basis on which it manages its operations. The three
geographic business segments are Americas, Europe and Asia Pacific. For reporting purposes, Europe includes South Africa and Bahrain.

Secondary segment – business
Following the acquisition of EBS, the Group’s secondary segmentation has been redefined to show voice, electronic and information divisions. 
The voice division consists of the previous segments of derivatives and money broking and securities broking and energy broking. 
The comparatives for the year ended 31 March 2006 have been restated in accordance with the new segmentation. The new segments 
have been adopted as management believes they better reflect the differing margins and risk profiles of the Group’s businesses.

The voice division represents trades concluded directly by the Group’s staff for interest rates, credit, FX, energy, equities and emerging market
products. The electronic division represents trades concluded via electronic trading platforms and post-trade services. The information division
represents the sale of market data and research services.

(e) Recent accounting developments
As at the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective. 
The Group has chosen not to early adopt these Standards and Interpretations:

IFRS7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures; and the Related Amendments to IAS1 on Capital Disclosures
IFRS8 Operating Segments
IFRIC8 Scope of IFRS2
IFRIC9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
IFRIC10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
IFRIC11 IFRS2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions
IFRIC12 Service Concession Arrangements

The impact on the Group’s financial statements of the future adoption of the Standards and Interpretations is still under review.

2 Principal accounting policies

Group

(a) Revenue
Revenue comprises commission from the Group’s agency business, brokerage from matched principal transactions and fees received from 
the sale of financial information to third parties.

Matched principal business
Certain Group companies are involved as principal in the purchase and simultaneous commitment to sell securities between third parties. 
Revenue is generated from the difference between the purchase and sale proceeds and is recognised in full at the time of the simultaneous
commitment by the counterparties to sell and purchase the financial instrument.

Agency business
The Group acts in a non-advisory capacity to match buyers and sellers of financial instruments and raises invoices monthly for the service
provided. The Group does not act as principal and only receives and transmits orders between counterparties. Revenue is stated net of rebates
and discounts, value added tax and other sales taxes and is recognised in full on the date of the trade. Amounts receivable at the year end are
reported as other trade debtors within trade and other receivables (note 18).
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Information services
The Group receives fees from the sale of financial information to third parties. This is stated net of value added tax and other sales taxes and is
recognised in revenue on an accruals basis to match the provision of the service. Amounts receivable at the year end are reported as other trade
debtors within trade and other receivables (note 18).

(b) Government grants
Revenue grants received are credited to the income statement on an accruals basis over the period the related expenditure is charged.

(c) Intangible assets arising on consolidation
Intangible assets arising on consolidation include all goodwill and other separately identifiable intangible assets identified at the time of acquisition
of an entity. Amortisation or impairment of these assets is disclosed on the face of the income statement.

(i) Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates and represents the cost of the acquisition in excess of the fair
value of the Group’s share of the net assets acquired. Fair values are determined based on an assessment of the value of the individual assets 
and liabilities acquired, including reference to market prices and by discounting expected future cash flows to present value.

For acquisitions prior to 1 January 1998, goodwill was written off directly to reserves. The transitional arrangements of IFRS3 “Business
Combinations” allow this goodwill to remain eliminated.

For acquisitions on or after 1 January 1998, goodwill was capitalised and, until 31 March 2004, was amortised to the income statement 
on a straight-line basis over its useful life. Since transition to IFRS on 1 April 2004 goodwill is no longer amortised, but is subject to an annual
impairment review.

For acquisitions on or after 1 April 2004, separately identifiable intangible assets have been recognised where applicable and are amortised on a
straight-line basis over their useful economic life. Any residual goodwill is capitalised on the balance sheet and is subject to an annual impairment
review. Any impairment of goodwill is recognised in the income statement.

In accordance with the transitional arrangements of IFRS3, goodwill previously recognised under UK GAAP has been included in the Group’s
opening IFRS balance sheet as at 1 April 2004 at net book value as an equivalent to fair value.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and joint ventures is shown within intangible fixed assets. Goodwill arising on the acquisition 
of associates is included within their carrying value.

On disposal of a subsidiary, joint venture or associate, the attributable goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal,
except for goodwill written off to reserves prior to 1998, which remains eliminated.

(ii) Separately identifiable intangible assets
For acquisitions since 1 April 2004, the Group has applied the provisions of IFRS3 “Business Combinations” and has separately identified
intangible assets where appropriate. These generally include customer contracts and customer relationships. Intangible assets acquired by the
Group are initially stated at fair value and subsequently adjusted for amortisation and any impairment. Impairment charges are recognised in the
income statement.

Amortisation of separately identifiable intangible assets is charged to the income statement on an appropriate basis over their estimated useful
lives as follows:

Customer relationships 2–10 years
Customer contracts Period of contract
Other intangible assets Period of contract

(d) Intangible assets arising from development expenditure
Development expenditure on software for electronic trading platforms is recognised as an intangible asset in accordance with the provisions 
of IAS38 “Intangible Assets”. Amortisation of these assets is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the expected useful
economic life of the asset of three to five years.

Amortisation of intangible assets arising from development expenditure is charged within operating expenses in profit before amortisation and
impairment of intangibles arising on consolidation and exceptional items. Amortisation is charged against assets from the date at which the asset
becomes available for use.
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(e) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at fair value less accumulated depreciation and any provisions for impairment in its value. 
It is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its expected useful economic life as follows:

Short leasehold property Period of lease
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3–5 years
Motor vehicles 3–4 years

The Group reviews its depreciation rates regularly to take account of any changes in circumstances. These rates are determined on consideration
of factors such as the expected rate of technological development and anticipated usage levels.

When a leasehold property becomes surplus to the Group’s foreseeable business requirements, a provision is made on a discounted basis for the
expected future net cost of the property.

(f) Leased assets
Assets financed by leasing arrangements which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group (finance leases) 
are capitalised in the balance sheet at fair value. Lease repayments comprise both a capital element and a finance element. The capital element 
of the leasing commitment is shown as an obligation to the lessor in the balance sheet and the finance element is charged to the income
statement on a constant periodic rate of change basis.

Operating lease rentals are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(g) Classification of financial assets
Financial assets are classified as “available-for-sale”, “financial assets at fair value through the income statement” or “loans and receivables”
on initial recognition.

Available-for-sale: available-for-sale investments are initially recognised at fair value and any subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
directly in equity. When an investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 
equity is transferred to the income statement. Where the fair value cannot be reliably measured, the assets are held at cost less any provision 
for impairment. Assets such as shares or seats in exchanges and long-term equity investments that do not qualify as associates or joint ventures
are usually classified as available-for-sale.

Fair value through the income statement: fair value through the income statement investments are initially recognised at fair value and any
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised directly in the income statement. These assets are usually held for short-term gain, or are
financial instruments not designated as hedges. The accounting policy for fair value hedges is included in note 2(j).

Loans and receivables: loans and receivable are non-derivative financial instruments which have a fixed or easily determinable value. 
They are recognised at cost, less any provisions for impairment in their value. These assets are included in trade and other receivables.

(h) Matched principal business
Certain Group companies are involved as principal in the purchase and simultaneous commitment to sell securities between third parties. 
Such trades are complete only when both sides of the transaction are settled and so the Group is exposed to the risk in the event that one side
of the transaction remains unsettled. Substantially all the transactions settle within a short period of time and the settlement risk is considered 
to be minimal. All amounts due to and payable by counterparties in respect of matched principal business are shown gross as matched principal
trade debtors and matched principal trade creditors (notes 18 and 19), except where a netting agreement which is legally enforceable at all
times exists and the asset and liability are either settled net or simultaneously.

(i) Matched stock lending business
Certain Group companies are involved in collateralised stock lending transactions as an intermediary between counterparties. Such trades are
complete only when both the collateral and stock for each side of the transaction is returned. The gross amounts of collateral due and receivable
are disclosed in the balance sheet as deposits paid for securities borrowed and deposits received for securities loaned (notes 18 and 19).



ICAP plc
Annual Report 2007 65

Financialstatem
ents

2 Principal accounting policies continued

(j) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group uses various financial instruments as hedges to reduce exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risk. These can include 
forward foreign exchange contracts, currency options and cross currency and interest rate swaps. All derivative financial instruments are initially
recognised on the balance sheet at their fair value adjusted for transaction costs.

The fair values of financial instrument derivatives are determined by reference to quoted prices in an active market. Where no such active market
exists, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques from observable data, including discounted cash flow analysis and the
Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The method of recognising the movements in the fair value of the derivative depends on whether the instrument has been designated as a
hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the exposure being hedged. To qualify for hedge accounting, the terms of the hedge must be clearly
documented at inception and there must be an expectation that the derivative will be highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value 
or cash flow of the hedged risk. Hedge effectiveness is tested throughout the life of the hedge and if at any point it is concluded that the
relationship can no longer be expected to remain highly effective in achieving its objective, the hedge relationship is terminated.

Gains and losses on financial instrument derivatives which qualify for hedge accounting are recognised according to the nature of the hedge
relationship and the item being hedged. Hedges are either classified as fair value hedges, cash flow hedges or net investment hedges.

Fair value hedges: derivative financial instruments are classified as fair value hedges when they hedge the Group’s exposure to changes in the fair
value of a recognised asset or liability. The hedging instrument and hedged item are recorded at fair value on the balance sheet, with changes in
fair value being taken through the income statement.

Cash flow hedges: derivative financial instruments are classified as cash flow hedges when they hedge the Group’s exposure to changes in cash
flows attributable to a particular asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction. Gains or losses on designated cash flow hedges are
recognised directly in equity, to the extent that they are determined to be effective. Any remaining portion of the gain or loss is recognised
immediately in the income statement. On recognition of the hedged asset or liability, any gains or losses that had previously been recognised
directly in equity are included in the initial measurement of the fair value of the asset or liability. When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss in equity remains there and is recognised 
in the income statement when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.

Net investment hedges: changes in the value of foreign denominated investments due to currency movements are recognised directly in equity.
The accounting treatment for a net investment hedge is generally consistent with the treatment for a cash flow hedge. Gains and losses
accumulated in equity are included in the income statement on the ultimate disposal of the foreign denominated investment.

Where financial instrument derivatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair market value are recognised immediately 
in the income statement.

(k) Client money
The Group holds money on behalf of clients in accordance with the client money rules of the FSA. Since the Group is not beneficially entitled 
to these amounts, they are excluded from the Group balance sheet along with the corresponding liabilities to clients. The amounts held on 
behalf of clients at the balance sheet date are included in note 33.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments, which are subject 
to insignificant risk of change in fair value and are readily convertible into a known amount of cash.

(m) Long-term borrowings
Long-term borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, being their issue proceeds net of transaction costs incurred. At subsequent reporting
dates long-term borrowings are held at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, with changes in value recognised through the
income statement. Transaction costs are recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings.
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(n) Pension costs
The Group mainly operates defined contribution schemes. Payments to defined contribution schemes are recognised as an expense in the income
statement as they fall due. Any difference between the payments and the charge is recognised as a short-term asset or liability.

The Group also operates a defined benefit pension scheme in the US that is closed to new entrants. The cost of providing benefits is determined
using the projected unit credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at each balance sheet date. The expected return on the
scheme’s assets and the interest arising on the pension scheme liabilities is recognised in the income statement within finance income and finance
costs. The pension scheme deficit recognised in the balance sheet represents the difference between the fair value of the assets of the scheme
and the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in which they occur in the statement of recognised income and expense, net of the
deferred tax impact. The expected return on scheme assets reflects the estimate made by management of the long-term yields that will arise
from the specific assets held within the pension scheme.

(o) Employee share-based payments and share ownership trusts
The Group awards share options and other share-based payments as part of employee incentive schemes. The Group has applied IFRS2 
“Share-based Payment” for all such awards granted since 7 November 2002. The fair value of services acquired is measured by the fair 
value of the shares or share options awarded at the time of granting and is charged to staff costs over the period the service is received 
on a straight-line basis. A reserve of an equivalent amount is held on the balance sheet as part of the retained earnings.

The fair value of share options awarded is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and takes into account various parameters,
including the exercise price, current share price, risk free rate of return and the volatility of ICAP’s share price. The expected lives used in the 
fair value calculations are adjusted for the estimated effect of non-transferability and exercise restrictions.

Investments in own shares held in connection with the Group’s employee share schemes are held in trust and are deducted from shareholders’
equity. Purchases, sales and transfers of own shares are disclosed as changes in shareholders’ equity.

(p) Taxation
Tax on the profit for the year comprises both current and deferred tax as well as adjustments in respect of prior years. Tax is charged or credited
to the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also included
within equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period, using tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted by the balance
sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all temporary differences between the carrying value of assets and liabilities for reporting purposes and
the amounts charged or credited for tax purposes. Deferred tax is calculated at the rate of tax expected to apply when the liability is settled 
or the asset is realised. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax liabilities are offset against deferred tax assets within the same taxable entity or qualifying local 
tax group where there is both the legal right and the intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group is able to control the timing of dividends from its overseas entities and hence does not expect to remit overseas earnings in the
foreseeable future in a way which would result in a tax charge. As a consequence deferred tax is recognised in respect of the retained earnings 
of overseas subsidiaries only to the extent that, at the balance sheet date, dividends have been accrued or a binding agreement to distribute past
earnings in the future has been entered into by the subsidiary.

No provision is made in respect of any further taxation liability that would arise on the distribution of retained earnings of overseas joint ventures
and associates.

(q) Foreign currencies
In individual entities transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of that entity at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Exchange differences are recognised in the income statement,
except for exchange differences arising on non-monetary assets and liabilities where the changes in value are taken directly to reserves. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing 
at the date when the fair value was determined.
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On consolidation, the results of overseas businesses are translated into the presentational currency of the Group at the average exchange rates
for the period where these approximate to the rate at the date of transaction. Assets and liabilities of overseas businesses are translated into the
presentational currency of the Group at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising are classified within
equity and transferred to the Group’s retained earnings. Cumulative translation differences arising after the transition to IFRS are taken to the
income statement on disposal of the net investment.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate. Where applicable the Group has elected to treat goodwill and fair value adjustments arising before the date 
of transition to IFRS as denominated in the presentational currency of the Group.

In the cash flow statement, cash flows denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the presentational currency of the Group at the
average exchange rate for the year.

(r) Accounting estimates and provisions
The Group makes various judgements in applying its accounting policies and various assumptions and estimates when determining the carrying
value of certain assets and liabilities. The estimates, assumptions and judgements that have a significant impact on the Group’s results and
financial position are discussed below:

The Group reviews goodwill and intangible assets arising on consolidation at least annually, or more frequently if circumstances suggest that 
an impairment may have taken place. The Group tests for impairment by comparing the carrying value of assets with their value in use. 
The calculation of the value in use is based on discounted cash flows from financial budgets. This requires the use of estimates and judgements 
in determining the budgeted profit after tax, discount rate and growth rates.

The Group provides for impairment of other trade debtors to estimate existing bad debts and amendments to sales invoices. The provision 
is estimated based on historic trends. An increase or decrease in these trends of 1% would not have a material effect on the net assets of 
the Group.

The Group determines estimated useful economic lives of its intangible assets arising on development expenditure based on projected lifecycles.
Technological advances and other factors could result in these estimates no longer being appropriate. If actual useful economic lives were to
differ from the Company’s estimate by 10%, the carrying value of intangible assets would be £0.5m lower or £0.6m higher respectively.

When a leasehold property becomes surplus to the Group’s foreseeable business requirements, provision is made on a discounted basis for the
expected future net cost of the property.

The Group is subject to income taxes in many jurisdictions and significant judgement is required in determining the worldwide provision for
income taxes. There are certain transactions for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Differences between the final tax outcome of these matters and the amounts initially recorded will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(s) Treasury Shares
Treasury Shares are recognised in equity and are measured at cost. Consideration received for the sale of such shares is also recognised in equity,
with any difference between the proceeds from the sale and original cost being taken to revenue reserves.

Company
In addition to the above accounting policies, the following relate specifically to the Company.

Investment in subsidiaries
An entity is regarded as a subsidiary if the Company has control over its strategic, operating and financial policies and intends to hold 
the investment on a long-term basis for the purpose of securing a contribution to the Group’s activities.

The Company recognises investments in subsidiaries initially at fair value and subsequent changes in value as a result of impairment 
are recognised in the income statement.



Notes to the financial statements continued

68 ICAP plc
Annual Report 2007

Financialstatem
ents

2 Principal accounting policies continued

Dividends
The Company recognises dividends payable only when they have been approved by the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting, 
or the amount due has been paid. Dividends receivable are recognised when they are received.

Share awards to employees
The cost of share awards to employees of subsidiaries are recharged by the Company.

Functional currency
The Company considers its functional currency to be UK sterling as that is the currency of the economic environment in which it operates.
Accordingly the results of the Company and the Group are presented in UK sterling.

3 Segmental information

(a) Analysis by geographic segment

Year ended 31 March 2007

Americas Europe Asia Pacific Total
£m £m £m £m

Revenue 458.3 502.4 145.6 1,106.3

Operating profit before amortisation and impairment of intangibles
arising on consolidation and exceptional items 104.2 124.4 19.1 247.7

Amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising on consolidation (14.9) (12.8) (13.2) (40.9)
Exceptional items 9.4 (4.4) (0.2) 4.8

Operating profit 98.7 107.2 5.7 211.6
Net finance income/(expense) (5.5) 2.7 0.7 (2.1)
Share of post-tax profit of associates – 2.7 1.6 4.3

Profit before taxation 93.2 112.6 8.0 213.8

Other income statement items

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 8.4 11.0 2.1 21.5
Amortisation of intangibles arising from development expenditure 7.8 2.3 0.1 10.2
Movements in provisions in the year (5.8) – (0.2) (6.0)
Other balance sheet items

Investment in associates – 24.5 5.3 29.8
Capital expenditure 18.7 11.0 1.4 31.1

Total assets 65,251.6 15,792.7 3,960.1 85,004.4
Total liabilities (64,860.5) (15,499.6) (3,850.6) (84,210.7)

Net assets 391.1 293.1 109.5 793.7

Included in revenue is £24.2m in respect of joint ventures (Americas £9.2m, Europe £11.4m, Asia Pacific £3.6m). Included in operating profit 
is £6.7m in respect of joint ventures (Americas £2.7m, Europe £3.3m, Asia Pacific £0.7m).

Details of the Group’s principal operating companies are provided in note 35.
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(a) Analysis by geographic segment continued

Year ended 31 March 2006

Americas Europe Asia Pacific Total
£m £m £m £m

Revenue 428.2 394.9 96.1 919.2

Operating profit before amortisation and impairment of 
intangibles arising on consolidation and exceptional items 103.9 85.3 7.1 196.3

Amortisation and impairment of 
intangibles arising on consolidation (3.0) (6.7) (1.0) (10.7)

Operating profit 100.9 78.6 6.1 185.6
Net finance income 3.8 0.6 0.4 4.8
Share of post-tax profit of associates – 1.7 0.9 2.6

Profit before taxation 104.7 80.9 7.4 193.0

Other income statement items

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (6.3) (8.3) (1.4) (16.0)
Amortisation of intangibles arising from development expenditure (3.4) (2.8) (0.1) (6.3)
Movements in provisions in the year – 1.0 – 1.0

Other balance sheet items

Investment in associates – 28.8 4.3 33.1
Capital expenditure 8.5 8.1 2.7 19.3

Total assets – restated (note 1(c)) 27,813.0 13,993.7 3,140.0 44,946.7
Total liabilities – restated (note 1(c)) (27,457.7) (13,806.4) (3,062.8) (44,326.9)

Net assets 355.3 187.3 77.2 619.8

Included in revenue is £24.7m in respect of joint ventures (Americas £11.0m, Europe £7.8m, Asia Pacific £5.9m). Included in operating profit 
is £6.3m in respect of joint ventures (Americas £3.2m, Europe £1.8m, Asia Pacific £1.3m).
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(b) Analysis by business segment
As explained in note 1(d) the Group’s secondary segmentation has been redefined to show voice, electronic and information divisions. 
The comparatives for the year ended 31 March 2006 have been restated in accordance with the new segmentation.

Year ended 31 March 2007

Voice Electronic Information Holding
division division division companies Total

£m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 867.4 199.1 39.8 – 1,106.3

Operating profit before amortisation and impairment of 
intangibles arising on consolidation and exceptional items 169.9 55.4 22.4 – 247.7

Amortisation and impairment of 
intangibles arising on consolidation (15.1) (25.6) (0.2) – (40.9)

Exceptional items 16.1 (11.3) 4.8

Operating profit 170.9 18.5 22.2 211.6

Other items

Capital expenditure 15.0 14.5 1.6 – 31.1

Total assets 23,936.0 60,517.5 147.1 403.8 85,004.4
Total liabilities (23,530.5) (60,173.9) (127.0) (379.3) (84,210.7)

Net assets 405.5 343.6 20.1 24.5 793.7

Included in revenue is £24.2m in respect of joint ventures (voice division). Included in operating profit is £6.7m in respect of joint ventures 
(voice division).

Year ended 31 March 2006 – restated (note 1(d))

Voice Electronic Information Holding
division division division companies Total

£m £m £m £m £m

Revenue 795.0 98.3 25.9 – 919.2

Operating profit before amortisation and impairment 
of intangibles arising on consolidation and exceptional items 152.5 29.6 14.2 – 196.3

Amortisation and impairment of 
intangibles arising on consolidation (3.5) (5.0) (2.2) – (10.7)

Operating profit 149.0 24.6 12.0 – 185.6

Other items

Capital expenditure 14.9 4.4 – – 19.3

Total assets – restated (note 1(c)) 25,988.3 18,253.0 123.9 581.5 44,946.7
Total liabilities – restated (note 1(c)) (25,591.2) (18,070.7) (104.2) (560.8) (44,326.9)

Net assets 397.1 182.3 19.7 20.7 619.8

Included in revenue is £24.7m in respect of joint ventures (voice division). Included in operating profit is £6.3m in respect of joint ventures 
(voice division).
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Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Income from government grants 11.7 10.9
Other 4.2 2.6

Other income 15.9 13.5

Income from government grants includes amounts relating to a BEIP grant receivable in the US from the state of New Jersey. This grant 
is receivable until 2014 by the Group so long as it maintains its operations in the state of New Jersey until 2019 and is based on the amount 
of employee tax paid over to the state authorities.

5 Exceptional items

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

EBS related exceptional costs (11.3) –
Disposal and closure of operations 16.1 –

Net exceptional items before taxation 4.8 –
Taxation 0.7 –

5.5 –

The EBS related exceptional item relates to reorganisation and rationalisation costs following the acquisition of EBS in June 2006 (note 13).

During the year the Group disposed of its controlling interest in Exotix Limited, Exotix Investments Limited and Guy Butler Limited and closed 
a number of its futures operations. The gain from the disposal and closure of operations includes a gain of £12.5m arising from the disposal 
of shares, seats and memberships included within available-for-sale investments that were previously required to support part of the futures
operations, a gain of £6.5m on the sale of the Exotix businesses, offset by reorganisation and rationalisation costs of £2.9m.

The businesses that were disposed of or closed in the year ended 31 March 2007 contributed revenue of £12.5m and a loss before 
taxation of £0.6m for the year. As the results are not significant in the context of the Group’s total results, they have not been treated 
as discontinued operations.
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6 Finance income

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Interest receivable and similar income
Bank deposits 13.4 10.8
Other interest receivable 1.3 0.9

14.7 11.7

Other finance income
Fair value gains on derivative financial instruments 4.0 2.3
Other foreign exchange 3.8 –
Expected return on defined benefit arrangements (note 28) 0.4 0.3
Dividends received on equity investments 0.1 0.3

8.3 2.9

Finance income 23.0 14.6

7 Finance costs

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Interest payable and similar charges
Bank loans and overdrafts 18.1 6.7
Unwinding of discount on deferred consideration (note 13(c)) 1.5 0.2
Other interest payable 3.5 1.2

23.1 8.1

Other finance costs
Fair value losses on derivative financial instruments 1.6 1.3
Interest on defined benefit arrangements (note 28) 0.4 0.4

2.0 1.7

Finance costs 25.1 9.8
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8 Profit before taxation

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
Profit before taxation is stated after charging/(crediting): £m £m

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets arising on consolidation
– Subsidiaries 40.9 10.7
– Associates 1.7 0.6
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from development expenditure 10.2 6.3
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
– Owned assets 21.5 15.9
– Assets held under finance leases – 0.1
Operating lease rentals – minimum lease payments 14.3 13.1
Exchange adjustments 1.7 (1.0)

Auditors’ remuneration
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s accounts 0.5 0.4
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services:
– audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 1.4 1.4
– other services pursuant to legislation 0.1 0.1
– tax services 1.3 1.7
– corporate finance services 0.5 –
– other services – 0.3

3.8 3.9
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9 Employee information

(a) Analysis of employee costs

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Salaries (including bonuses) 578.9 508.9
Social security costs 37.2 33.1
Share-based payments 4.9 4.4
Defined contribution pension costs 5.4 4.7

626.4 551.1

(b) Number of employees

Analysis by geographic location Average Year end

Year ended Year ended As at As at
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

2007 2006 2007 2006

Americas 1,398 1,210 1,416 1,252
Europe 1,396 1,246 1,431 1,244
Asia Pacific 671 614 667 650

3,465 3,070 3,514 3,146

Analysis by activity

Voice division 3,076 2,926 3,064 3,002
Electronic division 362 114 422 117
Information division 27 30 28 27

3,465 3,070 3,514 3,146

(c) Key management remuneration

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Aggregate remuneration 25.6 19.7
Aggregate gains made on the exercise of share options 4.0 –
Pension costs 0.1 0.1

29.7 19.8

Key management consists of the members of the executive management group, including executive directors. The executive directors’
remuneration is separately disclosed in the remuneration report. The aggregate remuneration includes amounts paid as variable bonuses. 
For the year ended 31 March 2007 this amounted to 82% (2006 – 83%) of the aggregate remuneration.

Retirement benefits are accruing to four members of the executive management group under defined contribution schemes.
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Tax charged to the income statement in the year

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Current taxation
UK Corporation Tax at 30.0% (2006 – 30.0%)
– Current year 36.3 27.6
– Double tax relief (0.4) (0.1)
– Adjustment to prior years (5.1) (5.5)
Overseas taxation
– Current year 55.1 47.4
– Adjustment to prior years 0.5 (0.2)

86.4 69.2
Deferred taxation (note 20) 1.7 3.0

88.1 72.2

The Group’s share of profit of associates in the income statement is shown net of tax of £3.8m (2006 – £2.3m). The Group’s tax charge is
stated after taking into account the tax effect of exceptional items which reduced the Group’s tax charge by £0.7m (2006 – £nil).

Tax charged to equity in the year

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Current tax credit on share-based payments (4.4) (2.2)
Current tax charge/(credit) on exchange adjustments 4.5 (2.2)

Net current tax on items recognised in equity (note 26) 0.1 (4.4)

Deferred tax on revaluation of available-for-sale investments (4.4) 7.2
Deferred tax on actuarial gains/(losses) on retirement benefit obligations (0.1) 0.1
Deferred tax charge/(credit) on share-based payments 0.2 (4.5)

Net deferred tax on items recognised in equity (note 26) (4.3) 2.8
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The Group’s UK tax charge for the year ended 31 March 2007 exceeds the UK statutory rate and can be reconciled as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Profit before taxation 213.8 193.0

Tax on profit at the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30.0% (2006 – 30.0%) 64.1 57.9
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 11.8 8.0
Surplus of book depreciation over tax depreciation (1.7) 0.5
Other timing differences 4.2 0.8
Adjustments in respect of foreign tax rates 13.3 11.4
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior years (4.6) (5.7)
Adjustments in respect of associates 0.5 (1.0)
Other 0.5 0.3

Tax charge 88.1 72.2

11 Dividends

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year: £m £m

Final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2006 of 7.5p per ordinary share (2005 – 6.4p) 47.6 38.2
Interim dividend for the year ended 31 March 2007 of 3.0p per ordinary share (2006 – 2.5p) 19.1 14.9

66.7 53.1

On 23 May 2007 the board proposed a final dividend of 9.3p per share for the year ended 31 March 2007. This has not been recognised as a
liability of the Group at the year end as it has not yet been approved by shareholders. Based on the number of shares in issue at the year end, 
the total amount payable would be £59.2m.

The right to receive dividends has been waived in respect of the shares held in employee benefit trusts.
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12 Earnings per ordinary share

The Group is required to disclose only the basic and diluted EPS on the face of the income statement. The Group continues to calculate an
adjusted EPS measurement ratio, disclosed below, as it believes that it is the most appropriate measurement since it better reflects the business’s
underlying cash earnings.

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the equity holders of the parent of £121.3m 
(2006 – £117.2m) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year of 629.9m shares (2006 – 597.5m).

The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue excludes the weighted average number of shares held by trusts relating to employee
share schemes to which the participating employees are not unconditionally entitled, being 9.9m shares (2006 – 9.2m).

Diluted earnings per share takes into account the dilutive effect of share options outstanding under the Company’s employee share schemes and
the dilutive effect of contingent share capital.

Year ended 31 March 2007 Year ended 31 March 2006

Earnings Earnings
Earnings Shares per share Earnings Shares per share

£m millions pence £m millions pence

Basic 121.3 629.9 19.3 117.2 597.5 19.6
Dilutive effect of share options – 16.4 (0.5) – 16.4 (0.5)
Dilutive effect of contingent share capital – 0.3 – – 1.3 –

Diluted 121.3 646.6 18.8 117.2 615.2 19.1

Adjusted earnings per share is based on earnings before amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising on consolidation and exceptional items
(and their tax effects). Since post-acquisition profits are included in earnings, the adjusted weighted average number of shares takes into account
the effect of contingent share capital.

Year ended 31 March 2007 Year ended 31 March 2006

Earnings Earnings
Earnings Shares per share Earnings Shares per share

£m millions pence £m millions pence

Basic 121.3 629.9 19.3 117.2 597.5 19.6
Amortisation and impairment of 

intangibles arising on consolidation 42.6 – 6.8 11.3 – 1.9
Exceptional items (note 5) (4.8) – (0.8) – – –
Taxation on exceptional items and 

intangibles arising on consolidation (4.0) – (0.7) – – –
Dilutive effect of contingent share capital – 0.3 – – 1.3 –

Adjusted 155.1 630.2 24.6 128.5 598.8 21.5
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13 Acquisitions

(a) Subsidiaries

EBS Group Limited and subsidiary companies (EBS)
On 5 June 2006 the Group completed the acquisition of EBS, a provider of foreign exchange trading and market data solutions to the
professional spot foreign exchange community. The total consideration of £458.9m ($856.6m), including costs, was financed by the issue 
of 36,100,234 ICAP plc ordinary shares of 10p each with a total market value of £172.3m ($322.2m) on the date of acquisition and cash
consideration of £286.6m ($534.4m).

The fair value adjustments include the recognition of an intangible asset arising on consolidation of £224.0m ($419.0m) in respect of customer
relationships. The fair value has been independently valued by a qualified valuation firm using the discounted cash flow method and is being
amortised over ten years. The goodwill of £207.2m ($386.3m) arising on consolidation represents the future synergies and growth potential 
of EBS and the Group considers this to be a fair value.

In the period from acquisition to 31 March 2007, EBS contributed £99.8m to revenue and £30.8m to pre-tax profit (before amortisation 
of intangibles arising on consolidation and exceptional items). If the acquisition had been completed on the first day of the financial year, the
estimated revenue would have been £121.3m with profit of £35.8m.

Other acquisitions
On 5 April 2006, the Group acquired Electronic Traveller Limited (ETL), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, together with 
control of Reset Private Limited (Reset), a company incorporated in Singapore, for cash consideration of £8.1m. Additional deferred contingent
consideration is due in January 2008 and 2009 and is estimated to have a net present value of £36.5m ($71.5m) as at 31 March 2007, 
of which £13.5m ($26.4m) is included as a non-current liability within non-current trade and other payables. The provisional fair value
adjustment of £19.6m principally relates to customer relationships and is being amortised over five years. Goodwill of £24.3m ($43.1m)
arose on this transaction and this represents the future growth potential of this business area. ETL and Reset are involved in the electronic
matching of interest rate swaps.

In the period from acquisition to 31 March 2007, ETL and Reset contributed £12.5m to revenue and £8.5m to pre-tax profit
(before amortisation of intangibles arising on consolidation and exceptional items). There would be no material difference had the businesses
been acquired on 1 April 2006.

On 5 April 2006 the Group invested £1.1m for a 50.1% stake in Altex-ATS Limited (Altex-ATS), a UK company involved in the development 
and operation of an electronic system for financial order matching. Further amounts of £1.6m have been invested in Altex-ATS throughout the
year. The goodwill arising of £1.5m represents the future potential of this company. The Group also acquired 88.94% of SIF Garban Colombia, 
SA and 100% of Gesmosa GBI Colombia, SA for £1.2m. Both companies operate as voice broking companies in Colombia. Goodwill of £1.1m
representing the future potential of this company arose on this acquisition.

In November 2006, the Group acquired the remaining 45% of ICAP Foreign Exchange Brokerage Limited, previously known as KIDB-ICAP Co.,
Ltd. which it did not previously own for £4.6m. The goodwill of £3.1m arising on this transaction represents the future growth potential 
of this business. Additional payments of net £0.9m were made for other intangible assets during the year.
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EBS Other Total

Provisional Provisional Provisional
Book fair Book fair Book fair
value value value value value value

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Net assets acquired
Intangible assets arising on 
consolidation (note 14(a)) – 224.0 0.9 20.5 0.9 244.5
Intangible assets arising 

from development expenditure 3.9 3.9 – – 3.9 3.9
Property, plant and equipment 15.1 15.1 0.2 0.2 15.3 15.3
Cash and cash equivalents 30.1 30.1 2.7 2.7 32.8 32.8
Trade and other receivables 31.6 31.6 1.3 1.3 32.9 32.9
Trade and other payables (33.3) (33.3) (0.7) (0.7) (34.0) (34.0)
Tax payable (19.7) (19.7) – – (19.7) (19.7)

27.7 251.7 4.4 24.0 32.1 275.7
Goodwill (note 14(a)) 207.2 30.0 237.2

Consideration 458.9 54.0 512.9

Satisfied by:

Cash 286.6 17.5 304.1
Shares 172.3 – 172.3
Deferred consideration – 36.5 36.5

458.9 54.0 512.9

The provisional fair value of the EBS net assets acquired has been adjusted for additional tax and other liabilities. An adjustment of £9.7m to the
net assets has been recognised in the second half of the year. A corresponding adjustment has been made to goodwill.

Additional costs of £0.3m have also been recognised as consideration.



Notes to the financial statements continued

80 ICAP plc
Annual Report 2007

Financialstatem
ents
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(b) Associates and joint ventures
During the year the Group increased its stake in its associate, TriOptima AB, from 28.8% to 39.99% for consideration of £3.5m. The Group also
invested £1.3m in Shanghai CFETS-ICAP International Money Broking Co. Ltd., a new joint venture based in Shanghai.

(c) Contingent deferred consideration in respect of acquisitions
A number of acquisitions made by the Group are satisfied in part by contingent deferred consideration. The Group has re-estimated the amounts
due as deferred contingent consideration where necessary, with any corresponding adjustments being made to goodwill.

During the year a final payment of £7.1m was made in respect of the ICAP Energy acquisition. The amount due for the acquisition of the Group’s
associate, BSN, is $12.4m (£6.3m). The performance criteria for the final payment were met in March 2007 and an amount of $12.4m was
paid in April 2007.

During the year a payment of £1.5m was made to acquire ETL. Payments are due in respect of Reset in January 2008 and 2009 of £36.5m
which represent the net present value of the estimated amounts payable, based on the approved budget of Reset. The discount rate used in this
estimate was the Group’s expected borrowing rate of 6.0%.

Year ended 31 March 2007

ETL and ICAP
Reset BSN Energy Total

£m £m £m £m

Deferred contingent consideration 
outstanding as at 1 April 2006 – 7.2 6.9 14.1

Acquisition in the year 35.9 – – 35.9
Cash consideration paid in the year _ – (7.1) (7.1)
Unwinding of discount (note 7) 1.3 – 0.2 1.5
Adjustments to goodwill during the year (note 14(a)) 4.2 – 0.7 4.9
Exchange adjustments (4.9) (0.9) (0.7) (6.5)

Deferred contingent consideration 
outstanding as at 31 March 2007 36.5 6.3 – 42.8

The deferred contingent consideration consists of cash only.

Year ended 31 March 2006

First ICAP
BSN Brokers Energy Total
£m £m £m £m

Deferred contingent consideration outstanding as at 1 April 2005 – 5.9 7.4 13.3
Acquisition in the year 7.0 – – 7.0
Cash consideration paid in the year – (6.0) (3.8) (9.8)
Unwinding of discount (note 7) – – 0.2 0.2
Adjustments to goodwill during the year (note 14(a)) – – 2.5 2.5
Exchange adjustments 0.2 0.1 0.6 0.9

Deferred contingent consideration outstanding as at 31 March 2006 7.2 – 6.9 14.1

The deferred contingent consideration consists of:
– contingent cash 7.2 – 2.4 9.6
– contingent shares – – 4.5 4.5

7.2 – 6.9 14.1

On 25 May 2006, ICAP exercised its option to satisfy £4.5m of the final deferred contingent consideration payment in respect of ICAP Energy
LLC in cash rather than shares.
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(a) Intangible assets arising on consolidation
Intangible assets arising on consolidation include goodwill and other separately identifiable intangible assets such as customer relationships and
customer contracts that arose on business combinations since 1 April 2004. The amortisation and any impairment is included in the income
statement within the column “amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising on consolidation”.

During the year, EBS paid a post-acquisition dividend of £12.0m that did not qualify to be recognised as distributable income because it related
to pre-acquisition profits. The goodwill arising on the acquisition of EBS has been reduced accordingly.

Goodwill Other Total
£m £m £m

Cost
As at 1 April 2006 271.9 15.1 287.0
Additions (note 13(a)) 237.2 244.5 481.7
Adjustments relating to deferred consideration (note 13(c)) 4.9 – 4.9
Adjustment relating to post-acquisition dividend (12.0) – (12.0)
Disposal (2.7) – (2.7)
Exchange adjustments (13.6) (12.3) (25.9)

As at 31 March 2007 485.7 247.3 733.0

Amortisation and impairment
As at 1 April 2006 5.1 5.2 10.3
Amortisation charge for the year – 29.7 29.7
Impairment in the year 11.2 – 11.2

As at 31 March 2007 16.3 34.9 51.2

Net book value

As at 31 March 2007 469.4 212.4 681.8

Cost
As at 1 April 2005 253.7 3.5 257.2
Additions 14.6 12.5 27.1
Adjustment relating to deferred consideration (note 13(c)) 2.5 – 2.5
Disposal (0.2) (0.9) (1.1)
Exchange adjustments 1.3 – 1.3

As at 31 March 2006 271.9 15.1 287.0

Amortisation and impairment
As at 1 April 2005 – 0.7 0.7
Amortisation charge for the year – 4.5 4.5
Impairment in the year 0.3 0.9 1.2
Adjustment to reflect recognition of deferred tax asset 5.0 – 5.0
Disposal (0.2) (0.9) (1.1)

As at 31 March 2006 5.1 5.2 10.3

Net book value

As at 31 March 2006 266.8 9.9 276.7



Notes to the financial statements continued

82 ICAP plc
Annual Report 2007

Financialstatem
ents
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(a) Intangible assets arising on consolidation continued
On transition to IFRS on 1 April 2004, the Group took advantage of the exemption available under IFRS1 “First-time Adoption of International
Reporting Standards” and did not separately identify any intangible assets arising on consolidation in respect of acquisitions prior to the 
transition date. It is anticipated that intangible assets arising on the acquisition of voice broking businesses have a finite life. The Group reviews
the performance of the businesses and reassesses the likely period over which the acquired intangible asset is likely to continue to add value 
to the business each year. As a result some businesses will have no impairment in a particular year while others will. The Group has booked 
an impairment in the year of £11.2m relating to First Brokers and the Acquired Asian Businesses. 

In the year ended 31 March 2006, the Group recognised a deferred tax asset of £5.0m in respect of the pre-acquisition tax losses of 
ICAP Electronic Broking that previously did not meet the criteria to be recognised. A corresponding reduction in the goodwill relating to 
ICAP Electronic Broking of £5.0m was charged to administrative expenses in the income statement within amortisation and impairment of
intangibles arising on consolidation.

As at 31 March 2007

Year of Goodwill Other Net book value
Analysis of intangible assets acquisition £m £m £m

Exco’s acquisition of Intercapital 1998 22.7 – 22.7
ICAP Energy 2002 18.3 – 18.3
First Brokers 2002 30.5 – 30.5
Acquired Asian Businesses 2002 11.6 – 11.6
ICAP Electronic Broking 2003 145.5 – 145.5
United Fuels 2005 9.0 3.2 12.2
EBS 2006 184.1 195.8 379.9
Reset 2006 26.2 9.8 36.0
Others Various 21.5 3.6 25.1

469.4 212.4 681.8

Goodwill stated above represents goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries completed on or after 1 January 1998.

The recoverable amounts used for impairment testing of intangible fixed assets is based on value-in-use calculations using a discount rate 
based on the Group’s weighted average cost of capital of 9.7% (discount rate used in 2006 – 6.0%). The future cash flow projections are 
based on approved financial budgets. Average growth rates used to estimate cash flows for the first five years ranged from 1% to 15% 
(2006 – 1% to 5%), with the growth rate assumption thereafter limited to the expected growth rate of the local economy.
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(b) Intangible assets arising from development expenditure
Intangible assets arising from development expenditure consist of the software development costs of electronic trading platforms and are
generally amortised over three to five years. The Group reviews the useful economic lives of these assets on a regular basis.

The amortisation of assets arising on development expenditure is included within profit before amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising
on consolidation and exceptional items in the income statement.

Development
expenditure

£m

Cost
As at 1 April 2006 52.8
Additions on acquisition of subsidiaries 3.9
Additions 12.8
Disposal (0.1)
Exchange adjustments (3.5)

As at 31 March 2007 65.9

Amortisation
As at 1 April 2006 36.3
Charge for the year 10.2
Disposal –
Exchange adjustments (2.1)

As at 31 March 2007 44.4

Net book value

As at 31 March 2007 21.5

Cost
As at 1 April 2005 50.2
Additions 6.7
Disposal (6.8)
Exchange adjustments 2.7

As at 31 March 2006 52.8

Amortisation
As at 1 April 2005 34.5
Charge for the year 6.3
Disposal (6.3)
Exchange adjustments 1.8

As at 31 March 2006 36.3

Net book value

As at 31 March 2006 16.5
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15 Property, plant and equipment

Short Furniture,
leasehold fixtures and Motor
property equipment vehicles Total

£m £m £m £m

Cost
As at 1 April 2006 15.7 96.7 0.9 113.3
Additions on acquisition of subsidiaries 2.0 13.3 – 15.3
Additions 1.3 16.6 0.4 18.3
Disposals (2.5) (2.6) (0.4) (5.5)
Exchange adjustments (0.9) (7.8) – (8.7)

As at 31 March 2007 15.6 116.2 0.9 132.7

Depreciation
As at 1 April 2006 4.5 58.1 0.5 63.1
Charge for the year 1.4 19.9 0.2 21.5
Disposals (0.6) (2.0) (0.3) (2.9)
Exchange adjustments (0.3) (4.6) – (4.9)

As at 31 March 2007 5.0 71.4 0.4 76.8

Net book value

As at 31 March 2007 10.6 44.8 0.5 55.9

The net book value of furniture, fixtures and equipment includes £0.1m (2006 – £0.2m) in respect of assets held under finance leases.

Short Furniture,
leasehold fixtures and Motor
property equipment vehicles Total

£m £m £m £m

Cost
As at 1 April 2005 12.6 88.9 0.8 102.3
Additions on acquisition of subsidiaries 0.3 0.7 – 1.0
Additions 2.5 9.8 0.3 12.6
Disposals (0.2) (7.6) (0.2) (8.0)
Exchange adjustments 0.5 4.9 – 5.4

As at 31 March 2006 15.7 96.7 0.9 113.3

Depreciation
As at 1 April 2005 2.9 47.5 0.4 50.8
Charge for the year 1.4 14.4 0.2 16.0
Disposals (0.1) (7.1) (0.1) (7.3)
Exchange adjustments 0.3 3.3 – 3.6

As at 31 March 2006 4.5 58.1 0.5 63.1

Net book value

As at 31 March 2006 11.2 38.6 0.4 50.2
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As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Cost
As at 1 April 37.3 12.3
Additions 3.5 20.1
Revaluation of investments to fair value 3.0 2.3
Share of profit for the financial year 6.0 3.4
Dividends received (3.9) (0.8)
Transfer to available-for-sale investments (note 17) (10.3) –
Exchange adjustments (0.1) –

As at 31 March 35.5 37.3

Amortisation and impairment
As at 1 April 4.2 3.4
Amortisation charge for the year 1.7 0.6
Transfer to available-for-sale investments (note 17) (0.2) –
Impairment in the year – 0.2

As at 31 March 5.7 4.2

Net book value

As at 31 March 29.8 33.1

The addition in the year of £3.5m is due to the acquisition of an additional 11% in TriOptima AB which increased the Group’s holding to 39.99%.
The additions in 2006 include £20.0m arising from the acquisition of a 25.1% interest in BSN (note 13(c)).

During the year the Group reduced its equity voting rights in CIMD from 25.5% to 19.99% while retaining the right to 25.5% of profits. 
Accordingly, the Group no longer exerts a significant influence over the company and the investment has been transferred to available-for-sale
investments. The Group has recognised no gain or loss.

Summary financial information for associates
The Group’s share of associates’ assets, liabilities and profit is given below:

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Assets 6,856.7 5,981.3
Liabilities (6,849.4) (5,969.0)

Net assets 7.3 12.3
Goodwill and intangible assets arising on consolidation 22.5 20.8

Net investment in associates 29.8 33.1
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Summary financial information for associates continued
The Group’s share of associates’ assets, liabilities and profit continued

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Revenue 21.1 19.4
Administrative expenses (13.2) (14.6)

Operating profit 7.9 4.8
Finance income 0.2 0.1

Profit before tax 8.1 4.9
Taxation (3.8) (2.3)

Share of profit of associates (after tax) 4.3 2.6

Details of the Group’s associates are listed in note 35(c).

17 Available-for-sale investments

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

As at 1 April 46.9 22.0
Additions 5.6 5.6
Disposals (18.3) –
Transfers from subsidiaries 4.0 –
Transfer from associates (note 16) 10.1 –
Amortisation charge for the year – (0.1)
Revaluation to fair value in the year recognised in equity 3.5 13.5
Revaluation to fair value in the year recognised in the income statement – 3.3
Exchange adjustments (5.2) 2.6

As at 31 March 2007 46.6 46.9

Non-current
– listed 2.4 24.8
– unlisted 24.2 10.3

26.6 35.1

Current
– listed 9.4 –
– unlisted 10.6 11.8

20.0 11.8

Total 46.6 46.9

Included within disposals is £15.4m of shares, seats and memberships relating to the Group’s futures operation, the gain on which has 
been included in exceptional items (note 5).

The listed securities at 31 March 2007 include the Group’s investment in the NYSE Group, Inc.
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18 Trade and other receivables

Group Company

As at As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m

Non-current receivables
Other debtors 7.9 4.0 – –

Current receivables
Matched principal trade debtors 82,763.9 42,521.8* – –
Deposits paid for securities borrowed 778.8 1,409.2 – –
Other trade debtors 150.9 128.4 – –
Impairment of other trade debtors (0.9) (0.8) – –
Financial assets held at fair value through the income statement 4.9 13.1 – –
Derivative financial instruments 4.9 1.4 – –
Amounts owed by subsidiaries – – 328.3 135.9
Amounts owed by associates 2.8 2.2 – –
Other debtors 58.6 34.0 0.7 –
Prepayments 40.4 36.4 – –

83,804.3 44,145.7 329.0 135.9

*The comparatives for 2006 are restated for changes to the presentation of matched principal transactions (note 1(c)).

Included within matched principal debtors is an amount of £9.5m relating to a disputed post settlement clearing adjustment made by a 
sub-custodian. An additional £13.1m of disputed post settlement clearing adjustments were made in respect of trades which arose after 
31 March 2007. The Group believes that these adjustments are erroneous and, after consultation with the Group’s lawyers, is confident 
in its case and therefore that the amounts owing will be recovered in full.
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19 Trade and other payables

Group Company

As at As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

2007 2006 2007 2006
£m £m £m £m

Current payables
Matched principal trade creditors 82,734.3 42,470.2* – –
Deposits received for securities loaned 778.4 1,410.2 – –
Other trade creditors 4.1 9.4 – –
Amounts owed to subsidiaries – – 334.6 234.3
Amounts owed to associates 1.4 1.6 – –
Contingent share capital – 4.5 – 4.5
Derivative financial instruments 1.1 1.6 –
Accruals 187.9 164.6 – –
Other taxation and social security 12.4 6.9 – –
Other creditors 75.3 47.9 – –

83,794.9 44,116.9 334.6 238.8

Non-current payables
Accruals 17.8 10.0 – –
Other creditors 10.0 0.4 – –

27.8 10.4 – –

*The comparatives for 2006 are restated for changes to the presentation of matched principal transactions (note 1(c)).
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20 Deferred taxation

The movement in the deferred tax balance is as follows:

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

As at 1 April 24.5 30.2
Amounts charged to the income statement (1.7) (3.0)
Amounts recognised on the revaluation of available-for-sale investments 4.4 (7.2)
Amounts recognised on share-based payments 1.1 4.5
Amounts recognised on actuarial gains/(losses) on retirement benefit obligations 0.1 (0.1)
On acquisition of subsidiaries 7.3 –
Exchange adjustments (2.6) 0.1

As at 31 March 33.1 24.5

The net deferred tax balance is represented by:

Deferred tax assets 33.3 33.7
Deferred tax liabilities (0.2) (9.2)

33.1 24.5

Deferred tax assets and liabilities comprise:

Accelerated capital allowances 6.7 (0.1)
Unrealised gains on available-for-sale investments (2.9) (7.2)
Other timing differences 29.3 31.8

33.1 24.5

21 Long-term borrowings

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

As at 1 April 128.7 –
New long-term borrowings 167.1 123.5
Issue costs capitalised (0.2) (1.2)
Amortisation of issue costs 0.3 0.2
Exchange adjustment (15.0) 6.2

As at 31 March 280.9 128.7

Analysis of long-term borrowings

Subordinated loan notes repayable 2015 114.0 128.7
Credit facility 166.9 –

As at 31 March 280.9 128.7

The subordinated loan notes represent $225m of ten-year loan notes issued in June 2005 following a private placement. The borrowing includes
$193m of fixed rate debt at 5.84% and a $32m floating rate component. The Group has the option, subject to the payment of certain break
costs, to repay the borrowings after two years.

In May 2006 a new credit facility was signed in advance of the completion of the acquisition of EBS (note 13). The five-year facility consists 
of a dollar term loan of $328m included within long-term borrowings above and a £125m revolving credit facility that was subsequently
increased to £175m. The revolving credit facility was undrawn as at 31 March 2007.
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22 Provisions

Property Holiday pay Other Total
£m £m £m £m

As at 1 April 2006 3.3 2.2 2.0 7.5
Amounts charged against provisions (1.3) – (1.0) (2.3)
Recognised in the income statement – 0.9 5.1 6.0
Unwinding of discount 0.2 – – 0.2

As at 31 March 2007 2.2 3.1 6.1 11.4

Property Holiday pay Other Total
£m £m £m £m

As at 1 April 2005 5.8 2.4 3.1 11.3
Amounts charged against provisions (2.8) (0.2) (0.1) (3.1)
Recognised in the income statement – – (1.0) (1.0)
Unwinding of discount 0.3 – – 0.3

As at 31 March 2006 3.3 2.2 2.0 7.5

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Included in current liabilities 10.0 3.9
Included in non-current liabilities 1.4 3.6

11.4 7.5

Property provisions outstanding at 31 March 2007 relate to properties in London that are not expected to be fully utilised until 2009.

The holiday pay provision represents the value of employees’ unused holiday entitlement at the balance sheet date. 

Other provisions include obligations for certain employee related costs and pension arrangements in the Group which are expected to be
discharged over the next two years.
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Risk management
The Group operates internationally and, in addition to operational risk, is exposed to a variety of financial risks including liquidity, interest rate,
currency and credit risk. The Group’s overall financial risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance by using derivative instruments to lower funding costs, alter
interest rate exposures arising as a result of mismatches between assets and liabilities or to achieve greater certainty of future costs. The use 
of derivatives forms part of the Group’s overall risk management framework as determined by the board through the group risk and group
finance committees.

Derivative financial instruments are used to hedge actual or anticipated transactions which arise in the normal course of business and which 
are viewed by the Group as highly probable to occur. The terms of the hedging instruments are designed to match the terms of the underlying
hedged transactions and, where possible, to achieve hedge accounting under IAS39.

Liquidity risk
The Group seeks to ensure that it has constant access to an appropriate level of cash, other forms of marketable securities and funding to enable
it to fund its ongoing operations, proposed acquisitions and other reasonable unanticipated events on cost effective and attractive terms.

Interest rate risk
The Group has an exposure to fluctuations in interest rates on both its cash positions and borrowings which it manages from time to time 
with a combination of interest rate swaps, interest rate options, forward rate agreements and cross currency swaps. The Group’s objective is 
to minimise interest cost and the impact of interest volatility on the Group’s income statement.

Currency risk
The Group publishes its consolidated financial statements in sterling and conducts business in a number of other currencies principally the 
US dollar and euro. Consequently, the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk due to exchange rate movements which affect the Group’s
transactional revenues and the translation of the earnings and net assets of its overseas operations.

(a) Transactional exposures
The Group seeks to manage its US dollar and euro transactional exposure by hedging forecast exposures for up to two years forward using
forward foreign exchange contracts and options. A maximum of 100% of the forecast exposures is hedged for the first 12 months, 75% for the
following six months and 25% thereafter. The gain or loss on the hedge is recognised in equity to the extent it is highly effective and recycled to
the income statement at the same time as the underlying hedged transaction affects the income statement. Any ineffectiveness is taken to the
income statement in accordance with IAS39.

The Group’s other transactional exposures are continually monitored and, where deemed appropriate, hedged for a period of 12 months forward.
Exposures are reviewed monthly with hedging actions approved by the finance committee.

(b) Balance sheet translational exposures
The Group is exposed to balance sheet translational exposures at the local entity level where the local balance sheet may contain assets or
liabilities denominated in a currency other than the entity’s functional currency. It is the Group’s policy to hedge up to 100% of these exposures
using a mix of foreign currency swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts.

Balance sheet translational exposures also arise on consolidation on the retranslation of the balance sheet of foreign operations into sterling, 
the Group’s reporting currency. These exposures are viewed as short-term in nature and, as such, the Group’s policy is not to actively manage
these exposures.

(c) Earnings translation exposures
The Group does not hedge the translation of those profits or losses earned by its overseas operations.
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Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk in the event of non-performance by counterparties in respect of its agency, matched principal and 
corporate treasury operations.

The risk in respect of the agency business is limited to the collection of agency commission and is controlled by the establishment and 
monitoring of credit limits for individual clients. The exposure to credit loss is limited to the carrying value of the receivable. Concentration is
limited since the customer base is both large and unrelated. No significant concentrations of risk existed at the year end.

The matched principal business involves the Group acting as a counterparty on trades which may involve one or more financial instruments
and/or counterparties. The Group manages its credit risk in respect of these transactions by having policies and procedures in place to ensure
that the risks inherent in all trades are matched and that appropriate credit limits have been set and are monitored at entity, parent and country
level to restrict the exposure to potential loss. The maximum exposure to credit risk for the Group is represented by the total fair value of the
financial assets. There were no significant concentrations of risk at the year end.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited by the Group’s policy of requiring its corporate treasury transactions
to be undertaken with financial institutions which have been approved by the group risk committee and which are investment grade rated by one
or more recognised credit rating agencies. The maximum exposure to credit risk for the Group is represented by the total fair value of the
financial assets. There were no significant concentrations of risk at the year end.

The Group’s approach to managing financial risk is also described in the business review on pages 22 to 26.

(i) Fair value of assets and liabilities
The book values and fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are presented in the table below.

As at 31 March 2007 As at 31 March 2006

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
£m £m £m £m

Financial assets
Non-current financial assets
Other debtors 4.4 4.4 0.8 0.8
Available-for-sale investments 26.6 26.6 35.1 35.1
Current financial assets
Included within trade and other receivables:

Matched principal trade debtors 82,763.9 82,763.9 42,521.8* 42,521.8*
Deposits paid for securities borrowed 778.8 778.8 1,409.2 1,409.2
Other trade debtors 150.9 150.9 128.4 128.4
Impairment of other trade debtors (0.9) (0.9) (0.8) (0.8)
Financial assets held at fair value through the income statement 4.9 4.9 13.1 13.1
Derivative financial instruments 4.9 4.9 1.4 1.4
Amounts owed by associates 2.8 2.8 2.2 2.2
Other debtors 41.5 41.5 28.1 28.1

Available-for-sale investments 20.0 20.0 11.8 11.8
Cash and cash equivalents 323.3 323.3 339.9 339.9

84,121.1 84,121.1 44,491.0 44,491.0

Available-for-sale investments include £5.8m (2006 – £2.0m) for investments which are not listed on recognised exchanges and the market
value is not readily obtainable. The carrying value of these investments approximates to fair value.

Included within derivative financial instruments in the table above are foreign exchange contracts designated as hedges with a fair value gain 
of £3.2m (2006 – £1.4m).

At 31 March 2007 the Group had an investment of £4.4m (2006 – £4.4m) in a hedge fund, Pronous Offshore Fund Limited, which is listed 
on the Irish Stock Exchange and was designated by the Group as fair value through the income statement.

*The comparatives for 2006 are restated for changes to the presentation of matched principal transactions (note 1(c)).
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As at 31 March 2007 As at 31 March 2006

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
£m £m £m £m

Financial liabilities
Current financial liabilities
Included within trade and other payables:

Matched principal trade creditors 82,734.3 82,734.3 44,470.2* 44,470.2*
Net deposits received for securities loaned 778.4 778.4 1,410.2 1,410.2
Other trade creditors 4.1 4.1 9.4 9.4
Amounts owed to associates 1.4 1.4 1.6 1.6
Derivative financial instruments 1.1 1.1 1.6 1.6
Accruals 187.9 187.9 164.6 164.6
Other creditors 75.3 75.3 47.9 47.9

Short-term borrowings and overdrafts 22.9 22.9 0.1 0.1
Short-term provisions 3.9 3.9 3.9 3.9
Obligations under finance leases 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1
Non-current financial liabilities
Included within trade and other payables:

Accruals 17.8 17.8 10.0 10.0
Other creditors 10.0 10.0 0.4 0.4

Long-term borrowings 280.9 280.9 128.7 129.2
Long-term provisions 1.4 1.4 3.6 3.6
Obligations under finance leases – – 0.1 0.1

84,119.5 84,119.5 46,252.4 46,252.9

Included within derivative financial instruments in the table above are foreign exchange contracts designated as hedges with a fair value loss
of £0.9m (2006 – £0.3m).

*The comparatives for 2006 are restated for changes to the presentation of matched principal transactions (note 1(c)).

(ii) Interest rate profile of financial assets
The table below gives an indication of the interest profile of the financial assets of the Group as at 31 March 2007. The table excludes deposits
paid for securities borrowed of £778.8m (2006 – £1,409.2m) which relate to the Group’s matched stock lending business and non-interest
bearing financial assets of £82,998.5m (2006 – £42,722.3m).

As at 31 March 2007 As at 31 March 2006

At fixed At floating At fixed At floating
interest interest interest interest

rates rates Total rates rates Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Sterling – 137.7 137.7 – 124.0 124.0
US dollar 8.9 146.7 155.6 10.1 179.7 189.8
Euro – 6.2 6.2 – 2.6 2.6
Japanese yen 0.4 30.2 30.6 – 33.9 33.9
Other currencies – 13.7 13.7 – 9.2 9.2

9.3 334.5 343.8 10.1 349.4 359.5

Fixed interest rate financial assets represent investments in certificates of deposit, treasury bills and corporate bonds.

Fixed interest rate financial assets had an average effective interest rate of 4.8% (2006 – 4.0%) for a weighted average period of one year.

Floating rate cash and investments bear interest based on relevant national LIBID equivalents with a maturity of less than one year.
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(iii) Interest rate profile of financial liabilities
The table below gives an indication of the interest rate profile of the financial liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2007. The table excludes
deposits received for securities loaned of £778.4m (2006 – £1,410.2m) which relates to the Group’s matched stock lending business and 
non-interest bearing financial liabilities of £83,037.2m (2006 – £42,696.6m).

As at 31 March 2007 As at 31 March 2006

At fixed At floating At fixed At floating
interest interest interest interest

rates rates Total rates rates Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Sterling – 0.1 0.1 – 3.4 3.4
US dollar 97.8 191.8 289.6 110.4 32.2 142.6
Euro – 4.6 4.6 – – –
Japanese yen 0.1 – 0.1 0.1 – 0.1
Other currencies – 9.5 9.5 – – –

97.9 206.0 303.9 110.5 35.6 146.1

The US dollar fixed rate liability represents the $193m fixed rate borrowing (note 21).

Floating rate borrowings bear interest based on relevant national LIBOR equivalents.

(iv) Maturity profile of financial liabilities
The table below shows the maturity profile of interest bearing financial liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2007.

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Payable:
Within one year or on demand 23.0 14.9
Between one and two years – 0.9
Between two and five years 280.9 130.3

303.9 146.1

(v) Financial instruments which qualify for hedge accounting treatment
It is the Group’s policy to hedge a proportion of its transactional US dollar and euro exposures with forward foreign exchange contracts.
Where these are designated and documented as hedging instruments in the context of IAS39 and are demonstrated to be both effective
and efficient, mark to market gains and losses are recognised directly in equity and transferred to the income statement upon recognition
of the underlying item being hedged. The table below shows the unrecognised gains and losses in respect of these hedges at the beginning 
and end of the year.
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The table below shows the amount of cash flow gains and losses held in equity at the start and end of the financial year.

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Cash flow hedge gains held in equity as at 1 April 0.5 4.7
Amount recognised in equity during the year 7.3 (2.8)
Amount transferred to the income statement during the year (5.5) (1.4)

Cash flow hedge gains held in equity as at 31 March 2.3 0.5

The gains and losses are expected to be recognised in the income statement:
Within one year 2.5 0.8
Between one and two years (0.1) (0.1)
Between two and five years (0.1) (0.2)

2.3 0.5

In order to mitigate the risk that US dollar exchange rate movements have on the retranslation of the Group’s US dollar net assets, the Group 
has designated the long-term borrowing of $225m as a hedging instrument against the underlying exposure. Gains and losses on revaluation 
are recognised directly in equity to offset the revaluation of the net investment.

During the year the Group entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge a deferred liability arising from the acquisition of Reset. 
The Group has designated these contracts as fair value hedging instruments against the liability, with gains or losses on revaluation being
recognised in the income statement to offset the revaluation of the liability. As at 31 March 2007 the hedging instruments had a fair value 
of £0.2m.

(vi) Currency exposures
The table below is intended to give an indication of the sensitivity of the Group’s results to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. It shows the
net monetary assets and liabilities held by Group companies that were not denominated in their functional currencies (other than certain foreign
currency borrowings treated as hedges of net investments in overseas operations) that were unhedged and therefore may give rise to exchange
gains and losses that would flow through to the Group’s income statement.

As at 31 March 2007
Net foreign currency monetary assets

US Japanese Other
Sterling dollar Euro yen currencies Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Functional currency:
Sterling – 4.5 11.8 3.8 (8.6) 11.5
US dollar (0.4) – 0.3 (0.4) 0.5 –
Euro – 0.9 – – (0.8) 0.1
Other currencies – 0.9 – – (0.1) 0.8

(0.4) 6.3 12.1 3.4 (9.0) 12.4
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(vi) Currency exposures continued

As at 31 March 2006
Net foreign currency monetary assets

US Japanese Other
Sterling dollar Euro yen currencies Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Functional currency:
Sterling – 21.8 9.4 2.0 1.6 34.8
US dollar 3.3 – (1.4) 0.2 0.3 2.4
Euro 0.4 – – – 0.3 0.7
Other currencies – 0.1 – – – 0.1

3.7 21.9 8.0 2.2 2.2 38.0

(vii) Borrowing facilities

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
The undrawn committed facilities were: £m £m

Expiring:
Within one year 29.6 28.8
Between two and five years 175.0 30.0

204.6 58.8

During the year the Group entered into a new five-year committed credit agreement to finance the acquisition of EBS, of which £175.0m 
of the facility is available on a revolving basis and was undrawn at 31 March 2007 (note 21).

The Group also entered into a 364-day $75m facility to finance the Group’s daily margin requirements in respect of the US Fixed Income 
Clearing Corporation.

24 Share capital

(a) Authorised share capital

As at 31 March 2007 As at 31 March 2006

Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value

millions £m millions £m

Equity share capital
Ordinary shares of 10p each 900 90.0 900 90.0

900 90.0 900 90.0
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(b) Issued share capital
Allotted, called up and fully paid:

As at 31 March 2007 As at 31 March 2006

Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value

millions £m millions £m

As at 1 April 607.6 60.8 605.5 60.6
Issued during the year 41.2 4.1 2.1 0.2

As at 31 March 648.8 64.9 607.6 60.8

On 5 June 2006, ICAP plc issued 36,100,234 ordinary shares of 10p each with a fair value of £172.3m to the former owners of EBS. 
During the year 5.1m (2006 – 2.1m) ordinary shares of 10p each were issued following the exercise of options held under employee share
schemes for a consideration of £8.7m (2006 – £2.4m).

The number of ordinary shares of 10p each in issue at 31 March 2007 was 648,840,665 (2006 – 607,621,877) with 1,888,400 
(2006 – nil) held as Treasury Shares. The cost of Treasury Shares is deducted from retained earnings (note 26).

(c) Potential issues of share capital
Certain employees hold options over the Company’s shares, which are potentially issuable as follows:

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006

Weighted
average Number of Number of

Year of exercise price Exercise period Exercise period shares shares
grant pence From To millions millions

1998* 46.2 23/12/01 22/12/08 0.3 0.3
2000 42.4 30/09/02 29/09/09 1.1 1.1
2001 64.0 26/07/03 28/03/11 0.5 0.9
2002 137.4 31/05/04 08/01/12 1.5 2.2
2003 186.0 31/05/05 19/01/13 0.8 1.5
2004 270.0 01/08/06 26/11/13 2.1 5.9
2005 237.0 28/06/07 08/12/14 1.1 1.1
2006 260.7 01/07/08 30/06/15 2.0 2.0
2007 442.6 01/06/09 06/09/16 2.9 –

Total potential issues of share capital 12.3 15.0

*Year end 31 December. All other year ends are 31 March.

Shares that have been issued, but are held in employee benefit trusts for employee share options are not included in the above. Full details of
share option schemes are given in note 25.
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(d) Shares held in trust for employee share schemes
The Company has established employee benefit trusts in respect of the SEEPP and BSMP schemes which are funded by the Group and have 
the power to acquire shares in the open market to meet the Company’s future obligations under these schemes. As at 31 March 2007 these
trusts owned 10,190,415 ordinary 10p shares in the Company (2006 – 9,614,094) with a market value of £51.9m as at 31 March 2007
(2006 – £43.0m).

As at As at
31 March 2007 31 March 2006

Number of Number of
shares shares

millions millions

As at 1 April 9.6 7.4
Acquired during the year 2.1 2.7
Shares used to satisfy options exercised (1.5) (0.5)

As at 31 March 10.2 9.6

(e) Treasury Shares
On 4 December 2006 the Company purchased 2,000,000 of its own shares for £9.0m to be held as Treasury Shares. As at 31 March 2007
the number of shares held as Treasury Shares was 1,888,400 (2006 - nil).

As at As at
31 March 2007 31 March 2006

Number of Number of
shares shares

millions millions

As at 1 April – –
Acquired during the year 2.0 –
Shares used to satisfy options exercised (0.1) –

As at 31 March 1.9 –
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Employee share schemes
Options outstanding over the Company’s ordinary shares under the Company’s employee share schemes were as follows:

Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average Exercised/ average average

As at exercise Granted exercise lapsed exercise As at exercise
1 April 2006 price in year price in year price 31 March 2007 price

millions pence millions pence millions pence millions pence

UESOP 3.9 141.0 – – (0.6) 188.5 3.3 132.6
2003 SAYE 3.0 168.2 – – (3.0) 168.2 – 168.2
2005 SAYE 1.0 224.0 – – (0.1) 224.0 0.9 224.0
2006 SAYE – – 1.4 388.0 (0.1) 388.0 1.3 388.0
SEEPP UK 0.7 – 0.4 – – – 1.1 –
SEEPP US 0.5 25.6 – – – – 0.5 22.7
UCSOP 7.0 210.0 1.6 486.3 (1.9) 176.1 6.7 286.8
BSMP* 6.9 – 1.4 – (1.4) – 6.9 –

23.0 4.8 (7.1) 20.7

Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average Exercised/ average average

As at exercise Granted exercise lapsed exercise As at exercise
1 April 2005 price in year price in year price 31 March 2006 price

millions pence millions pence millions pence millions pence

UESOP 4.9 129.0 – – (1.0) 85.6 3.9 141.0
2000 SAYE 0.1 35.2 – – (0.1) 35.2 – –
2003 SAYE 3.4 168.2 – – (0.4) 168.2 3.0 168.2
2005 SAYE – – 1.1 224.0 (0.1) 224.0 1.0 224.0
SEEPP UK 0.5 – 0.3 – (0.1) – 0.7 –
SEEPP US 0.9 24.2 – – (0.4) 25.6 0.5 25.6
UCSOP 7.0 189.0 1.0 297.0 (1.0) 158.1 7.0 210.0
BSMP* 4.7 – 2.2 – – – 6.9 –

21.5 4.6 (3.1) 23.0

*Under the terms of the BSMP, a director has also been given a promise to receive up to 1.0m shares as at 31 March 2007 (2006 – 1.1m).

All options over ICAP shares are issued with an exercise price equal to the market price on the date of grant, except for those in the SEEPP 
and BSMP where the exercise price is a nominal £1.00 for the basic award and £1.00 for the matching award, and the SAYE where the options
are issued with a 20% discount on market price.
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Employee share schemes continued
All share options granted since 7 November 2002 are subject to IFRS2 “Share-based Payment”. A charge to the income statement based on the
fair value of each option is made each year. The fair value of each option is calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following
assumptions have been used in calculating the fair value of the options granted in the year:

Weighted Weighted Probability
average Expected average Average of achieving
market share dividend risk free Expected performance Forfeiture Vesting

price volatility yield rate life conditions discount period
pence % % % years % % years

2006 SAYE 508.8 28.0 2.4 4.9 3.1 100.0 10.0 3
SEEPP UK 476.3 29.0 2.5 5.0 4.2 100.0 – 4
UCSOP 486.3 28.0 2.2 4.8 3.2–5.2 92.0 8.0 3–5
BSMP 478.4 28.0 2.4 4.9 3.5 85.0 – 3

Estimated share volatility is a measure of the amount by which the Company’s shares are expected to fluctuate during the life of an option. 
The expected volatility is estimated based on the historic volatility of the share price over the past three years from the date of grant of 
the option.

(i) Unapproved Share Option Plan (UESOP)
The UESOP is not approved by HMRC and is open to all executives. The grants of options have a maximum overall grant of four times annual
salary including bonuses. Options do not vest until the Group has achieved certain performance criteria (currently growth in adjusted earnings
per share in excess of growth in the RPI by an average of 3% per annum over a three-year period).

UESOP options were outstanding over 3,300,560 (2006 – 3,870,560) ordinary shares at exercise prices ranging between 42.4p and 
263.0p per share. Subject to the Group’s performance during the vesting period, these options are exercisable between December 2001 
and December 2014. A charge of £0.2m (2006 – £0.3m) has been made to the income statement in the year in respect of options granted
since 7 November 2002.

(ii) Sharesave scheme (SAYE)
The Save-As-You-Earn (SAYE) scheme is approved by HMRC. The scheme enables directors and eligible employees to acquire options over
ordinary shares of the Company at a discount of up to 20% of their market price using the proceeds of a related SAYE contract. All UK
employees who have worked for the minimum qualifying period on an invitation date are eligible to join the scheme. Options granted under 
the SAYE scheme are not subject to performance conditions.

2003 SAYE
SAYE options were outstanding over 10,990 (2006 – 3,011,760) ordinary shares for the 2003 three-year grant at an exercise price of 
168.2p per share. Subject to the participants remaining in the employment of the Group, these options were usually exercisable between 
August 2006 and January 2007. A charge of £0.2m (2006 – £0.7m) has been made to the income statement in respect of these options
in the year.

2005 SAYE
SAYE options were outstanding over 871,950 (2006 – 1,036,705) ordinary shares for the 2005 three-year grant at an exercise price of
224.0p per share. Subject to the participants remaining in the employment of the Group, these options will normally be exercisable between
August 2008 and January 2009. A charge of £0.3m (2006 – £0.3m) was made to the income statement in respect of these options in 
the year.

2006 SAYE
SAYE options were granted over 1,378,167 ordinary shares on 29 June 2006 at an exercise price of 388.0p per share. Subject to the
participants remaining in the employment of the Group, these options will normally be exercisable between August 2009 and January 2010. 
A charge of £0.5m (2006 – £nil) was made to the income statement in respect of these options in the year. As at 31 March 2007, 
1,308,747 of these shares remained outstanding.
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Employee share schemes continued

(iii) Senior Executive Equity Participation Plans (SEEPP)
The SEEPP is not approved by HMRC. The SEEPP is a long-term incentive plan where senior executives are invited to waive part of their potential
cash bonus in return for rights over the number of shares that can be purchased with the foregone bonus at the market value of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant (a basic award). Participants may also be granted a provisional allocation over additional shares (a matching award).
These shares are transferred to the executive on a sliding scale if they remain in the Company’s employment as follows: no shares for up to three
years; 40% following completion of three years, but less than four years; and the remaining 60% on the fourth anniversary of the date of grant.
No performance criteria are attached to these options.

UK SEEPP
SEEPP options were outstanding over 1,081,468 (2006 – 672,790) ordinary shares at an exercise price of a nominal sum of 100.0p 
(2005 – 100.0p). Subject to the participants remaining in the employment of the Group during the vesting period, these options will normally
be exercisable between June 2002 and November 2015. A charge of £0.2m (2006 – £0.2m) was made to the income statement in respect 
of the matching award in the year.

US SEEPP
SEEPP options were outstanding over 457,825 (2006 – 457,825) ordinary shares at an exercise price of 22.7p per share (2006 – 25.6p per
share). Subject to the participants remaining in the employment of the Group during the vesting period, these options will normally be exercisable
between June 2002 and May 2009. All these options were granted before 7 November 2002 and therefore no charges have been made to the
income statement in respect of these options in the year.

(iv) Unapproved Company Share Option Plan (UCSOP)
The UCSOP is not approved by HMRC. Options may be granted to any eligible employee within the Group. No option may be granted to any
individual at any time if, as a result, the aggregate number of shares issued or issuable to the individual under the plan would exceed 1,250,000.
Options vest in three equal instalments on the third, fourth, and fifth anniversaries of the date of grant provided that, on the date of vesting,
adjusted earnings per share growth exceeds growth in RPI by an average of 3% per annum over the preceding three years.

UCSOP options were outstanding over 6,716,700 (2006 – 6,936,333) ordinary shares at exercise prices ranging between 84.2p and 493.0p
per share. The weighted average exercise price for options granted in the year was 486.3p. Subject to the Company’s performance during the
vesting period, these options will normally be exercisable between March 2004 and June 2015. A charge of £0.8m (2006 – £0.5m) has been
made to the income statement in the year in respect of options granted since 7 November 2002.

(v) Bonus Share Matching Plan (BSMP)
The BSMP is not approved by HMRC. The BSMP is a long-term incentive plan where executive directors of the Company are invited to waive
50% of their potential cash bonus in return for rights over the number of shares that can be purchased with the foregone bonus at the market
value of the Company’s shares on the date of grant (a basic award). Participants are also granted a provisional allocation over an equal amount 
of additional shares (a matching award). These shares are transferred to the director if they remain in the Company’s employment for three years
and the Group meets certain performance criteria – currently growth in adjusted earnings per share in excess of growth in RPI by at least 9%
over the three years from the date of grant. The performance criteria applies to all grants since 1 April 2004.

BSMP options were outstanding over 6,932,568 (2006 – 6,892,340) ordinary shares. These shares will be exercisable between 28 May 2006
and a date five years from the date the Group announces its results for the year ending 31 March 2009. A promise to deliver a further 991,668
(2006 – 1,058,782) ordinary shares has also been made by the Company. A charge of £2.7m (2006 – £2.7m) has been made to the income
statement in respect of these options in the year.

Executive share options have not been offered at a discount (save as permitted by paragraph 9.4.4 and 9.5.4 of the Listing Rules).

The total charge to the income statement in respect of employee share options in the year was £4.9m (2006 – £4.4m).

The fair value of options granted during the year was £7.7m (2006 – £4.4m).

At the close of business on Friday 30 March 2007, the market price of the Company’s ordinary shares was 530.5p (2006 – 447.5p) per share 
and during the year fluctuated in the range 445.25p and 572.5p per share.
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26 Capital and reserves

(a) Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity – Group

Share Share Other
capital premium reserves Retained Minority

(note 24) account (see below) earnings Total interests Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

As at 1 April 2005 60.6 215.2 37.8 195.0 508.6 10.5 519.1
Ordinary shares issued 

(note 24) 0.2 2.2 – – 2.4 – 2.4
Own shares acquired  

for employee trusts – – – (4.0) (4.0) – (4.0)
Profit for the year – – – 117.2 117.2 3.6 120.8
Dividends paid in the year – – – (53.1) (53.1) (1.3) (54.4)
Share-based payments 

in the year – – – 4.4 4.4 – 4.4
Revaluation of available 

for sale investments 
(note 17) – – 13.5 – 13.5 – 13.5

Net movement on 
cash flow hedges – – (4.2) – (4.2) – (4.2)

Actuarial gains on 
retirement benefit
obligations (note 28) – – – 0.2 0.2 – 0.2

Exchange adjustments 
on net investments in
overseas subsidiaries – – – 17.2 17.2 – 17.2

Net current tax on items 
recognised in equity – – – 4.4 4.4 – 4.4

Net deferred tax on items 
recognised in equity – – (7.2) 4.4 (2.8) – (2.8)

Other movements in 
minority interests – – – – – 3.2 3.2

As at 31 March 2006 60.8 217.4 39.9 285.7 603.8 16.0 619.8
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(a) Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity – Group continued

Share Share Other
capital premium reserves Retained Minority

(note 24) account (see below) earnings Total interests Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

As at 1 April 2006 60.8 217.4 39.9 285.7 603.8 16.0 619.8
Ordinary shares issued 

(note 24) 4.1 176.9 – – 181.0 – 181.0
Own shares acquired 

for employee trusts – – – (5.1) (5.1) – (5.1)
Shares issued by trust 

in the year – – – 1.2 1.2 – 1.2
Profit for the year – – – 121.3 121.3 4.4 125.7
Dividends paid in the year – – – (66.7) (66.7) (2.8) (69.5)
Share-based payments 

in the year – – – 4.9 4.9 – 4.9
Options exercised in the year – 2.9 – (4.1) (1.2) – (1.2)
Revaluation of available 

for sale investments 
(note 17) – – 3.5 – 3.5 – 3.5

Net movement on 
cash flow hedges – – 1.8 – 1.8 – 1.8

Actuarial gains on 
retirement benefit 
obligations (note 28) – – – (0.2) (0.2) – (0.2)

Exchange adjustments 
on net investments in 
overseas subsidiaries – – – (52.7) (52.7) (1.3) (54.0)

Revaluation gains realised 
in the year – – (5.9) – (5.9) – (5.9)

Net current tax on items 
recognised in equity – – – (0.1) (0.1) – (0.1)

Net deferred tax on items 
recognised in equity – – 4.4 (0.1) 4.3 – 4.3

Other movements in 
minority interests – – – – – (3.8) (3.8)

Treasury Shares acquired 
in the year – – – (9.0) (9.0) – (9.0)

Shares issued from Treasury
in the year – – – 0.3 0.3 – 0.3

As at 31 March 2007 64.9 397.2 43.7 275.4 781.2 12.5 793.7

The cost of shares held by employee benefit trusts of £15.4m (2006 – £11.5m) has been deducted from retained earnings. The share-based
payment reserve of £10.2m (2006 – £9.3m) has been included in retained earnings.
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(b) Analysis of other reserves

Capital Total 
Merger redemption Hedging Revaluation other 
reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves 

£m £m £m £m £m 

As at 1 April 2005 27.9 0.9 4.7 4.3 37.8 
Revaluation of available-for-sale investments (note 17) – – – 13.5 13.5 
Deferred tax – – – (7.2) (7.2)
Net movement on cash flow hedges – – (4.2) – (4.2)

As at 31 March 2006 27.9 0.9 0.5 10.6 39.9 

As at 1 April 2006 27.9 0.9 0.5 10.6 39.9 
Revaluation of available-for-sale investments (note 17) – – – 3.5 3.5
Deferred tax – – – 4.4 4.4
Revaluation gains realised in the year – – – (5.9) (5.9)
Net movement on cash flow hedges – – 1.8 – 1.8

As at 31 March 2007 27.9 0.9 2.3 12.6 43.7

The merger reserve was created on the merger of Intercapital plc and Garban plc in 1999 and also includes goodwill arising before 
1 January 1998 which had been written off to reserves. Under IFRS3 transitional arrangements, this amount remains eliminated.

The capital redemption reserve was created as a result of shares cancelled in 1998 and 2005.

The revaluation reserve represents revaluations of available-for-sale investments.

The hedging reserve arises as a result of recognising the fair value of derivative financial instruments designated as hedging instruments 
on the balance sheet.

(c) Statement of changes in equity – Company

Share Share Capital
capital premium redemption Retained

(note 24) account reserve earnings Total
£m £m £m £m £m

As at 1 April 2005 60.6 215.2 0.9 59.5 336.2
Ordinary shares issued 0.2 2.2 – – 2.4
Increase in investment in own shares – – – (4.0) (4.0)
Profit for the year – – – 77.3 77.3
Dividends paid in the year (note 11) – – – (53.1) (53.1)
Share-based payments in the year – – – 4.4 4.4

As at 31 March 2006 60.8 217.4 0.9 84.1 363.2

As at 1 April 2006 60.8 217.4 0.9 84.1 363.2
Ordinary shares issued 4.1 176.9 – – 181.0
Net increase in shares held in trust – – – (3.9) (3.9)
Profit for the year – – – 408.9 408.9
Dividends paid in the year (note 11) – – – (66.7) (66.7)
Net Treasury Shares acquired in year – – – (8.7) (8.7)
Net share-based payments in the year – 2.9 – 0.8 3.7

As at 31 March 2007 64.9 397.2 0.9 414.5 877.5

As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, the Company has elected not to include its own income statement in these financial
statements. The Company’s profit for the year was £408.9m (2006 – £77.3m).
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(a) Finance lease commitments
The Group’s future minimum lease payments under finance leases are as follows:

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Within one year 0.1 0.1
Between one and two years – 0.1

0.1 0.2

(b) Operating lease commitments
At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases,
which fall due as follows:

As at 31 March 2007 As at 31 March 2006

Other Other
Property assets Total Property assets Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Within one year 14.6 0.4 15.0 13.9 0.9 14.8
Between two and five years 53.5 0.4 53.9 48.6 0.2 48.8
After five years 54.1 – 54.1 58.8 – 58.8

122.2 0.8 123.0 121.3 1.1 122.4

Future minimum sub-lease amounts expected to be received under non-cancellable sub-leases as at 31 March 2007 were £2.2m 
(2006 – £3.1m).

(c) Capital commitments
As at 31 March 2007, capital expenditure contracted for but not provided for amounted to £2.1m (2006 – £1.3m).
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The Group operates defined benefit pension schemes in the US and Germany. In the case of the schemes operating in Germany, any future
obligations that the Group may incur in respect of benefits accrued to members for past service are insured with local insurance companies. 
The scheme in Germany is not significant in the context of the Group.

The US scheme was closed to new entrants on 1 July 1996 and no benefits have accrued to the members of the scheme in respect of their
service after that date. The scheme only provides for pension benefits and does not provide for post-employment medical benefits. For the
purposes of determining the Group’s pension cost, the scheme is valued on an annual basis by qualified independent actuaries. The most recent
valuation was as at 1 January 2006 with an update as at 31 March 2007 and used the projected unit method. The Group expects to contribute
£0.8m to its defined benefit pension scheme in the year ending 31 March 2008. Details of the scheme are provided below.

The actuarial assessment was based on the following principal assumptions:

2007 2006 2005
% % %

Rate of increase in pensionable salaries nil nil nil
Rate of increase in pensions in payment nil nil nil
Discount rate 5.8 5.8 5.5
Inflation assumption 3.0 3.0 2.8

The market value of the pension assets and liabilities of the scheme and the expected rate of return are:

Long-term Long-term Long-term
rate of return rate of return rate of return

expected Value as at expected Value as at expected Value as at
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March

2007 2007 2006 2006 2005 2005
% £m % £m % £m

Equities 8.5 1.6 8.5 1.7 8.5 1.4
Bonds 6.0 3.6 6.0 3.6 5.5 3.3
Cash and other assets 3.8 0.7 4.5 0.4 3.5 0.5

Total market value of assets 5.9 5.7 5.2
Present value of scheme liabilities (7.3) (7.8) (7.9)

Deficit in the scheme (1.4) (2.1) (2.7)

Assumptions regarding mortality rates are calculated based on life expectancy tables which reflect US statutory requirements.

The average life expectancy in years of an individual retiring at the age of 65 at the balance sheet date is as follows:

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006

Male 17.9 17.9
Female 21.3 21.3

The mortality rates also assume that the average life expectancy of an individual retiring 20 years after the balance sheet date at the age of 65
at the balance sheet date is in accordance with the above table.
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The changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows:

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

As at 1 April (7.8) (7.9)
Interest costs (0.4) (0.4)
Actuarial (losses)/gains (0.1) 0.3
Benefits paid 0.2 1.0
Exchange differences 0.8 (0.8)

As at 31 March (7.3) (7.8)

The changes in the present value of plan assets are as follows:

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

As at 1 April 5.7 5.2
Expected return on plan assets 0.4 0.3
Contributions by employer 0.7 0.8
Actuarial losses (0.1) (0.1)
Benefits paid (0.2) (1.0)
Exchange differences (0.6) 0.5

As at 31 March 5.9 5.7

The amounts recognised in the income statement within finance income and finance costs are as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Expected return on scheme assets 0.4 0.3
Interest on scheme liabilities (0.4) (0.4)

Net return – (0.1)

The actuarial gains and losses recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense are as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Actual return less expected return on scheme assets (0.1) (0.1)
Experience gains and losses arising on the scheme’s liabilities (0.1) –
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme – 0.3

Actuarial (losses)/gains recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense (0.2) 0.2
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All actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately and there are no unrecognised gains or losses.

The history of the plan is as follows:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March

2007 2006 2005
£m £m £m

Present value of the defined benefit obligations (7.3) (7.8) (7.9)
Fair value of the plan assets 5.9 5.7 5.2
Deficit (1.4) (2.1) (2.7)
Experience adjustments on the plan liabilities (0.1) 0.3 (0.6)
Experience adjustments on the plan assets (0.1) (0.1) (0.4)

In accordance with the transitional provisions for the amendments to IAS19, the above disclosures are determined prospectively from 1 April 2004.

29 Contingent liabilities

Group
(a) In July 2003, it was announced that two of the Group’s subsidiaries and the Company were among those being sued in connection with 
an alleged infringement of patent number 6,560,580 (580 Patent) in the US. The Group rejected the claim.

The jury trial commenced on 7 February 2005. Prior to the commencement of the trial, the claimants stated their damage claims against the
defendants, including the Group, to be an amount of up to $104m as at 30 September 2004. On the first day of trial, the Court dismissed 
all of the monetary claims against the Group. The Court also dismissed all of the claims challenging use of the OM Click Exchange System 
for ICAP Electronic Broking LLC (IEB).

The case then proceeded to trial on the limited issue of the claimants’ request for injunctive relief as to the use of a second computer system, 
the ICAP Securities USA LLC (ICAP Securities) GTN and on the Group’s counterclaim for judgement declaring that the ICAP Securities GTN did
not infringe the 580 Patent. On 22 February 2005, the jury found that the application for the 580 Patent failed to provide an adequate written
description in certain of the 580 Patent claims. In addition, the jury found that the ICAP Securities GTN infringed certain claims of the 580
Patent, but that the claimed infringement had not been wilful.

On 4 April 2005, the claimants and the Group filed post-trial applications. On 12 December 2005, the Court ruled on the claimants’ and the
Group’s applications pertaining to the jury’s verdict and denied all applications, thus leaving the jury’s verdict undisturbed.

On 22 February 2006, the Court ruled on the Group’s application pertaining to claimants’ asserted inequitable conduct in the prosecution 
of the 580 Patent. The Court ruled in favour of the Group and declared that the 580 Patent was procured by inequitable conduct and as a result
was unenforceable.

A final order as to all matters decided by the jury and the Court was entered on 3 April 2006. On 27 April 2006 a claimant filed a Notice of
Appeal seeking to appeal the jury’s decision and the Court’s ruling.

On 20 March 2007 the US Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit denied the claimant’s appeal. The claimants have filed an application asking
that the US Court of Appeals reconsider its decision. The application is pending.

At this stage it is not possible to predict the outcome with certainty or to determine the extent of liability, if any, of the Group following any
appeal but, based on current available information and after consultation with the Group’s lawyers, the directors continue to expect a successful
outcome for the Group. No provision has been made in the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2007.

(b) ICAP plc has received correspondence from National Australia Bank (NAB) alleging that revaluation data, supplied by an individual within
ICAP Currency Options Pte Limited (formerly ICAP-Nittan Pte Limited), one of ICAP’s Singapore subsidiaries and a member of the TFS-ICAP 
joint venture, helped mask trading losses in NAB’s FX options business.
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On 27 January 2004 NAB announced that it incurred FX option trading losses of A$360m (£158m). Detailed reports following full
investigations into these losses were published by PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) and the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority in March
2004 and indicated that NAB incurred these FX trading losses between April 2003 and January 2004. The PwC report includes descriptions 
of how certain NAB dealers concealed losses by processing false spot FX and false FX option transactions, booking one-sided internal FX option
transactions and using incorrect dealing rates for genuine transactions. The reports analyse the cause of these trading losses, including the
methods of concealment allegedly employed by the NAB dealers, repeated failures of NAB risk management, absence of NAB financial controls,
gaps in NAB back office procedures, inadequate NAB corporate governance and NAB corporate cultural weaknesses. NAB accepted the findings
of the PwC report on 28 April 2004.

Neither ICAP Currency Options Pte Limited nor any other member of the ICAP Group or TFS-ICAP accept any responsibility for these NAB FX
trading losses and intend to vigorously contest any claim which may be made against them in this matter.

ICAP Currency Options Pte Limited has been informed that a similar allegation has been asserted by NAB against another interdealer broker,
which is not a party to the TFS-ICAP joint venture, in respect of these FX options trading losses.

It is not possible at this stage to predict the outcome with certainty nor to determine the extent of liability, if any, of ICAP plc or ICAP Currency
Options Pte Limited. No provision has been made in the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2007.

(c) From time to time the Group is engaged in litigation on employee related and other matters. The highly regulated nature of the Group’s
activities means that the Group is occasionally subject to regulatory enquiries and investigations. There are currently no issues that are expected
to have a material, adverse effect on the Group’s results or net assets.

(d) In the normal course of business, certain Group companies enter into guarantees to cover trading arrangements.

Company
The Company has provided a subordinated guarantee in respect of the $225m subordinated loan notes repayable in 2015 which has a fair value
of zero.

30 Related party transactions

Group

(a) IPGL
During the year, IPGL recharged the Group £303,504 (2006 – £101,888) for the net amount of transactions between the two parties. 
This amount includes £66,580 (2006 – £31,716) paid by IPGL in respect of certain employees of the Group who provided services to IPGL
and its subsidiary undertakings. As at 31 March 2007, IPGL owes the Group £25,209 (2006 – £26,808).

(b) S.I.F. ICAP, S.A. de CV
On 15 April 2002, the Group entered into an agreement to licence its electronic broking software to S.I.F. ICAP, S.A. de CV. Under the agreement
£378,371 including withholding taxes was paid to the Group in advance for a five year licence. This amount is being amortised over the life of
the agreement. As at 31 March 2007, the balance had been fully amortised to £nil (2006 – £81,980).

During the year, the Group acquired SIF-Garban Columbia S.A. from the company for £480,950.

(c) Hartfield, Titus & Donnelly LLC
The Group supplies and maintains electronic broking software on behalf of Hartfield, Titus & Donnelly LLC. During the year ended 31 March
2007, the Group charged £253,446 (2006 – £313,480) and the balance due from Hartfield, Titus & Donnelly LLC as at 31 March 2007 was
£84,482 (2006 – £89,566).

(d) TFS-ICAP Limited, TFS-ICAP LLC and TFS-ICAP Australia
The Group invoices and collects revenue on behalf of TFS-ICAP Limited, TFS-ICAP LLC and TFS-ICAP Australia. During the year, the Group
invoiced and collected £6,144,929 (2006 – £5,620,388) for which it did not receive a fee. During the year the Group recharged £176,065
(2006 – £156,970) to TFS-ICAP Limited as compensation for overheads and IT support costs and £1,331,818 (2006 – £1,314,989) 
to TFS-ICAP Australia and £71,810 (2006 – £86,767) to TFS-ICAP LLC. As at 31 March 2007 the outstanding balance was £610,126 
(2006 – £28,607).
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(e) TriOptima UK Limited
The Group provides TriOptima UK Limited, a subsidiary of the Group’s associate TriOptima AB, with office space and management services which
includes accounting, legal and personnel services. During the year, the Group charged TriOptima UK Limited £93,899 (2006 – £233,329) for
these services. As at 31 March 2007 the outstanding balance was £13,659 (2006 – £nil).

(f) ICAP Hyde Derivatives Limited (formerly ICAP Hyde Limited)
During the year, the Group invoiced ICAP Hyde Derivatives Limited £101,084 (2006 – £138,064) as compensation for overheads and IT
support costs. As at 31 March 2007 there was an outstanding balance due to ICAP Hyde Derivatives Limited of £40,564 (2006 – £58,732).

(g) Exotix Limited
On 28 March 2007 the Group sold its controlling interest in Exotix Limited and Exotix Investments Limited to IPGL for £10.9m based on an
independent valuation of the businesses. As at 31 March 2007 there was £2.4m of consideration still owed to the Group. As part of the disposal
the Group loaned employees of Exotix Limited £1.6m to enable them to purchase shares in the company. This balance is still outstanding as at
31 March 2007.

(h) Jardine Lloyd Thompson plc
During the year, an agreement was reached with Jardine Lloyd Thompson plc to set up a joint venture owned equally by the two Groups, 
to operate in areas where the market for insurance, financial derivatives and securities are converging. As at 31 March 2007 there had been 
no transactions between the Group and the joint venture and there were no outstanding balances.

Company
ICAP plc is the Group’s ultimate parent company and is incorporated and domiciled in the UK.

During the year the Company entered into the following transactions with subsidiaries:

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Income from management services – 7.7
Expenses from management services (0.2) (0.2)
Interest received from related parties 6.7 4.3
Interest paid to related parties (10.6) (10.1)

Amounts owed to the Company from subsidiaries are disclosed in note 18 and amounts owed by the Company to subsidiaries are disclosed 
in note 19.

31 Exchange rates

The principal exchange rates which affect the Group, expressed in currency per £1, are shown below:

Closing rate Closing rate Average rate Average rate
as at as at year ended year ended

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2007 2006 2007 2006

US dollar 1.96 1.73 1.89 1.79
Euro 1.47 1.43 1.47 1.46
Yen 231.59 204.66 221.19 202.05

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange translational risk on consolidation of its overseas operations not denominated in sterling. During the
year ended 31 March 2007, the US dollar depreciated by 13% with respect to sterling and the euro depreciated by 3%. In accordance with
IAS21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates”, the resulting translational exchange difference is included within the exchange
adjustments taken directly to reserves, as disclosed in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense.
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32 Cash flow

(a) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to net cash flow from operating activities

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Profit before taxation 213.8 193.0

Operating exceptional items (4.8) –
Share of operating profits of associates after tax (6.0) (3.2)
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets arising on consolidation 42.6 11.3
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from development expenditure 10.2 6.3
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 21.5 16.0
Other amortisation and impairments 0.3 0.2
Share-based payments 4.9 4.4
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 2.6 –
Profit on disposal of available-for-sale investments (1.9) –
Net finance income 2.1 (4.8)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 285.3 223.2
Increase in trade and other receivables (25.9) (84.7)
Increase in trade and other payables 14.2 25.1
Net receipts/(payments) in respect of financial assets held at fair value 7.9 (7.0)

Cash generated by operations before exceptional items 281.5 156.6
Operating exceptional items received/(paid) 22.0 (6.3)

Cash generated by operations 303.5 150.3
Interest received 14.7 11.6
Interest paid (20.9) (7.2)
Taxation (80.0) (61.7)

Net cash flow from operating activities 217.3 93.0

The movement in trade and other receivables and trade and other payables excludes the impact of the gross up of matched principal trades as
permitted by IAS7 “Cash Flow Statements”. Excluding the impact of the gross up, the net debtor for matched principal transactions and deposits
for securities borrowed/loaned was £30.0m (2006 – £50.6m).

(b) Net cash and cash equivalents
Net cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. Net cash and cash equivalents comprise the following amounts:

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Cash and cash equivalents included in current assets 323.3 339.9
Short-term borrowings and overdrafts (22.9) (0.1)

Net cash and cash equivalents 300.4 339.8
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33 Client money

At 31 March 2007 the Group held client money of £11.5m (2006 – £36.3m). This amount, together with the corresponding liabilities to
clients, is not included in the Group’s balance sheet.

34 Post balance sheet events

In May 2007, the Group announced that it had acquired all of the share capital of Hyde Holdings Limited, a company which provides shipbroking 
and related services to the shipping industry. The assets acquired include the remaining 50% of the existing joint venture between the Group 
and Hyde Holdings Limited. The total consideration payable is capped at £17.7m.

After the year end, £13.1m of disputed post settlement clearing adjustments were made by a third party in respect of trades which arose after
31 March 2007 (see note 18).

35 Principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

(a) Investment in subsidiaries – Company

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Cost and net book value
As at 1 April 459.8 324.6
Additions 875.4 209.5
Adjustment relating to post-acquisition dividend received (note 14(a)) (12.0) –
Disposals (446.7) (74.3)

As at 31 March 876.5 459.8

During the year, the Company invested additional cash amounts of £416.7m in Intercapital plc and ICAP America Investments Limited. 
On 5 June 2006 the Company acquired EBS Group Limited for £458.6m and subsequently sold it to a subsidiary, Intercapital plc, for £446.7m.
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35 Principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates continued

(a) Investment in subsidiaries – Company continued

The Company’s principal subsidiaries and their country of incorporation are listed below.

% held

Australia ICAP Brokers Pty Limited 100
ICAP Australia Pty Limited 100

Bahrain ICAP (Middle East) WLL* 49

China ICAP (Hong Kong) Limited 100

Denmark ICAP Scandinavia A/S 100

England ICAP Electronic Broking Limited 100
Harlow (London) Limited 100
ICAP Energy Limited 100
ICAP Europe Limited 100
ICAP Management Services Limited 100
ICAP Securities Limited 100
ICAP WCLK Limited 100
EBS Dealing Resources International Limited 100
Altex-ATS Limited 50.1
T&M Securities Limited 100

Germany ICAP Deutschland GmbH 100

India ICAP India Private Limited 51

Indonesia PT ICAP Indonesia 85

Japan EBS Dealing Resources Japan Limited 100
ICAP Totan Securities Co. Ltd 60

Republic of Korea ICAP Foreign Exchange Brokerage Limited (formerly KIDB-ICAP Co. Limited) 100

Netherlands ICAP Holdings (Nederland) B.V. 100

New Zealand ICAP New Zealand Limited 80

Norway ICAP Energy AS 100

Philippines ICAP Philippines, Inc 100

Poland ICAP (Poland) Sp. Zo.o. 100

Singapore ICAP AP (Singapore) Pte Limited 100
ICAP Energy Pte Limited 100
ICAP Currency Options Pte Limited 
(formerly ICAP-Nittan Pte Limited) 100
Reset Private Limited* 25

*ICAP (Middle East) WLL is treated as a subsidiary since the Group exercises control over the company as the majority shareholder takes 
no part in the management of the company. Reset Private Limited is treated as a subsidiary as the Group has management control over 
the company.
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35 Principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates continued

(a) Investment in subsidiaries – Company continued

% held

South Africa FCB-Harlow Butler Pty Limited 55.3

United States First Brokers Securities LLC 100
EBS Dealing Resources Inc 100
GovPX Inc 100
ICAP Securities USA LLC 100
ICAP Capital Markets LLC 100
ICAP Corporates LLC 100
ICAP Electronic Broking LLC 100
ICAP Energy LLC 100
ICAP Futures LLC 100
ICAP Information Systems LLC 100
ICAP Services North America LLC 100
ICAP United Inc 100
Intercapital Securities LLC 100
Wrightson ICAP LLC 100

The percentage held represents the percentage of issued share capital held (all classes) and also represents the voting rights of the Company.
All subsidiaries have a 31 March year end.

All the above subsidiaries are owned indirectly. All companies operate in their country of incorporation, except ICAP Securities USA LLC and 
ICAP Futures LLC which also operate in the UK, and ICAP Energy AS which also operates in the Netherlands and in Spain.

The principal activity of Garban Information Systems Limited, ICAP Information Services LLC, Wrightson ICAP LLC and GovPX, Inc. is the provision
of financial information to third parties. All other subsidiaries are involved in securities broking, derivatives and money broking, energy broking,
electronic broking or service activities related to broking activity.

(b) Joint ventures – Group
The Group’s principal joint ventures and their country of incorporation are listed below.

% held Principal activity

England TFS-ICAP Limited 22.5 Voice broking
ICAP Hyde Derivatives Limited (formerly ICAP Hyde Limited) 50.0 Voice broking

Mexico SIF ICAP S.A. de CV 50.0 Voice broking
United States Hartfield, Titus & Donnelly LLC 33.0 Voice broking

TFS-ICAP LLC 22.5 Voice broking
China Shanghai CFETS-ICAP International Money Broking Co. Ltd. 33.0 Voice broking

All joint ventures are held indirectly and all have a 31 December year end.
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35 Principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates continued

(b) Joint ventures – Group continued

Summary financial information of joint ventures
The Group’s share of joint ventures’ assets and liabilities included in the balance sheet and their results included in the income statement 
is given below:

As at As at
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Assets 15.5 13.6
Liabilities (7.4) (4.8)

Net assets 8.1 8.8
Goodwill included in the Group’s balance sheet 0.8 0.8

Net investment in joint ventures 8.9 9.6

Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March

2007 2006
£m £m

Revenue 24.2 24.7
Administrative expenses (17.9) (18.6)
Other income 0.4 0.2

Operating profit 6.7 6.3
Finance income 0.2 0.1

Profit before tax 6.9 6.4
Taxation (1.6) (1.5)

Profit for the year 5.3 4.9

(c) Associates – Group
The Group’s principal associates and their country of incorporation are listed below.

% held Principal activity

Japan Totan Capital Markets Co. Limited 28.1 Voice broking
Sweden TriOptima AB 40.0 Electronic trading

TriOptima AB has a 31 December year end while the year end for Totan Capital Markets Co. Limited is 31 March.



116 ICAP plc
Annual Report 2007

Shareholderinform
ation

Information on ICAP plc (Company No 3611426) can be found on the
Company’s website, www.icap.com.

Company Secretary and registered office
Deborah Abrehart, ICAP plc, 2 Broadgate, London EC2M 7UR

Financial calendar
2007

23 May Results for year ended 31 March 2007
announced

18 July Annual general meeting, London

25 July Ex-dividend date for final dividend

27 July Record date for final dividend

24 August Final dividend payment

20 November Results for half year to 30 September
2007 announced

2008

January Ex-dividend date for interim dividend

January Record date for interim dividend

February Interim dividend payment

May Results for year ending 31 March 2008
announced

July Annual general meeting, London

August Final dividend payment

November Results for half year to 30 September
2008 announced

Registrar
Lloyds TSB Registrars, The Causeway, Worthing, West Sussex 
BN99 6DA. Telephone: 0870 600 3970 or +44 121 415 7047.

Information about Lloyds TSB Registrars is available at 
www.lloydstsb-registrars.co.uk and up to date information about current
holdings on the Register is also available at www.shareview.co.uk.
Shareholders will need their reference number (account number) and
postcode to view information on their own holding.

Frequent shareholder enquiries

Notifying the Company of a change of address 
Shareholders should notify the Company’s registrar, Lloyds TSB
Registrars, in writing. If shares are held in joint names, the notification
must be signed by the first named shareholder.

Notifying the Company of a change of name 
To ensure the details of a shareholding are correct, notification of a
change of name should be made in writing to Lloyds TSB Registrars. 
A copy of any marriage certificate or change of name deed should be
provided as evidence of the name change.

Dividend payments directly into bank/building society accounts 
Dividends for shareholders are paid through BACS and can be paid
directly into a UK bank or building society account with the tax voucher
sent direct to the shareholder’s registered address. A dividend mandate
form is available from Lloyds TSB Registrars or from its website,
www.shareview.co.uk, under the Frequently Asked Questions section.

Transferring ICAP shares 
Transferring shares to someone else requires the completion of a stock
transfer form. These forms are available by calling the ICAP shareholder
helpline, 0870 600 3970.

Lost ICAP share certificate(s)
Shareholders who lose their share certificate(s) or have their certificate(s)
stolen should inform Lloyds TSB Registrars immediately by calling the ICAP
shareholder helpline, 0870 600 3970. Following the share split it is only
the ICAP ordinary 10p share certificates that are valid.

ShareGift
Shareholders with a small number of shares, the value of which makes 
it uneconomic to sell them, may wish to consider donating them 
to charity through ShareGift, a registered charity administered by 
The Orr Mackintosh Foundation. The relevant share transfer form can be
obtained from Lloyds TSB Registrars. Further information about ShareGift
is available at www.sharegift.org or by telephone 020 7337 0501.

Share dealing
A telephone and internet dealing service has been arranged through
Lloyds TSB Registrars which provides a simple way of selling ICAP 
shares. For further information visit www.shareview.co.uk/dealing 
or call 0870 850 0852. You will need your shareholder reference
number shown on your share certificate.

Disability helpline
For shareholders with hearing difficulties a special text phone number 
is available: 0870 600 3950.

Depositary for ICAP plc Level 1 ADR Program
The Company established a Level 1 American Depositary Receipt (ADR)
program in December 2004. The Bank of New York was appointed 
as the depositary bank for the program. ICAP’s ADRs trade on the OTC
market under the symbol “IAPLY” and its CUSIP number is 450936109. 
Each ADR represents two ordinary shares.

Information to shareholders
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THIS DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt about the action you should take, it is recommended that you consult your stockbroker, solicitor, accountant 
or other professional adviser authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

If you have sold or transferred all your ordinary shares in ICAP plc, please give this and the accompanying documents to the purchaser 
or transferee, or to the stockbroker, bank or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was made.

Notice is hereby given that the ninth annual general meeting of ICAP plc will be held at the offices of ICAP plc, 2 Broadgate, London EC2M 7UR 
at 10.30am on Wednesday 18 July 2007.

Resolutions
To consider and, if thought fit, to pass resolutions numbered 1 to 10 and resolutions 13, 14 and 15 as ordinary resolutions (requiring a majority 
of more than 50%) and resolutions 11 and 12 as special resolutions (requiring a majority of not less than 75%).

The directors consider that all the resolutions of the annual general meeting are in the best interests of the Company and recommend that
shareholders vote in favour of them.

Ordinary business
1 To receive the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2007, together with the reports of the directors and auditors thereon.

The directors are required to present the directors’ report and the accounts of the Company for adoption by the shareholders at the annual 
general meeting of the Company. Accordingly, resolution 1 presents the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2007 and proposes the 
accounts for adoption.

2 To declare a final dividend of 9.3p per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 2007, payable to the shareholders on the register 
at 27 July 2007.

Shareholder approval is required for the payment of a final dividend as recommended by the board of directors. Subject to shareholder
approval this dividend will be paid on 24 August 2007.

3 To re-elect Nicholas Cosh as a director of the Company.

4 To re-elect Duncan Goldie-Morrison as a director of the Company.

5 To re-elect James McNulty as a director of the Company.

Under Article 114 of the Company’s articles of association each director is required to retire and offer themselves for re-election at the third
annual general meeting after the annual general meeting at which he was last elected. Profiles for each of the directors standing for re-election
are set out on pages 34 and 35.

6 To re-appoint Matthew Lester as a director of the Company.

Under Article 118 of the Company’s articles of association each director appointed by the board of directors is required to stand for 
re-appointment at the next annual general meeting following his appointment by the board of directors. Matthew Lester’s profile is set 
out on page 35.

7 To re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the Company.

8 To authorise the directors to set the remuneration of the auditors of the Company.

The Company’s auditors must offer themselves for re-appointment at each annual general meeting at which accounts are presented. 
Accordingly, the board proposes the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Company’s auditors. Resolution 8 authorises 
the directors to agree the remuneration of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLC for their services as auditors.

Notice of annual general meeting
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Special business
To consider, and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions of which numbers 9, 10, 13, 14 and 15 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions and
numbers 11 and 12 will be proposed as special resolutions:

Ordinary resolutions
9 To approve the remuneration report.

Resolution 9 presents the remuneration report for the year ended 31 March 2007 to the shareholders for approval under section 241A 
of the Companies Act 1985 (as amended). The remuneration report can be found on pages 43 to 50.

10 That the directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of section 80 of the Companies Act 1985 
and in accordance with Article 9.2 of the Company’s articles of association, to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot relevant securities
(within the meaning of section 80(2) of the said Act) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £21,565,972, (being 33% of the issued share
capital (excluding Treasury Shares) of the Company as at 11 May 2007, the latest practicable date before publication of this notice) this
authority to expire at the conclusion of the annual general meeting for 2008, save that the Company may before such expiry make any offer 
or agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after such expiry and the directors may allot relevant securities in
pursuance of any offer or agreement as if the authority conferred hereby had not expired. This authority shall be in substitution for and shall
replace any existing authority pursuant to the said section 80, to the extent not utilised at the date this resolution is passed.

Under the Companies Act 1985, the directors may not allot unissued shares in the Company without the authority of shareholders in general
meeting, except for the issue of shares under the Company’s share or share option plans. The authority contained in resolution 10 would
permit the directors to issue securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £21,565,972.

Special resolutions
11 That in accordance with Article 9.3 of the Company’s articles of association, the directors be and are hereby empowered pursuant to 

section 95(1) of the Companies 1985 (the Act):

(a) subject to the passing of resolution 10 above, to allot equity securities (as defined in section 94(2) of the said Act) for cash pursuant 
to the authority conferred by resolution 10 above as if section 89(1) of the Act did not apply to any such allotment;

(b) to sell relevant shares (as defined in section 94(5) of the said Act) in the Company if, immediately before the sale such shares are held by
the Company as Treasury Shares (as defined in section 162A(3) of the said Act) (Treasury Shares) for cash (as defined in section 162D(2)
of the said Act), as if section 89(1) of the said Act did not apply to any such sale;

provided that this power shall be limited to the allotment of equity securities and the sale of Treasury Shares:

(i) in connection with a rights issue or any other pre-emptive offer in favour of ordinary shareholders where the equity securities are
proportionate (as nearly as practicable) to the respective number of ordinary shares held by such holders but subject to such exclusions 
or other arrangements as the directors may deem necessary or desirable in relation to fractional entitlements or legal or practical problems
arising in, or pursuant to, the laws of any territory, or the requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange in any territory; and

(ii) otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (i) above, up to an aggregate nominal amount of £3,228,426;

and this power shall expire at the conclusion of the annual general meeting for 2008, save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer
or enter into any agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted or Treasury Shares to be sold, after such expiry and the
directors may allot equity securities or sell Treasury Shares in pursuance of such offer or agreement as if the power conferred hereby had not expired.

Resolution 11 empowers the directors to allot ordinary shares, otherwise than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders in connection with
any future rights issue or grant rights over shares or sell Treasury Shares for cash, up to an aggregate nominal amount of £3,228,426 (being
approximately 5% in value of the existing issued share capital at 11 May 2007, the latest practicable date before publication of this notice). 
It is not intended that the Company will allot in this way more than 7.5% of the unissued share capital in any rolling three-year period.

The authorities in resolutions 10 and 11 will last for a period of one year each, in accordance with institutional guidelines. The directors have no
present intention of exercising these authorities. It is normal for boards of listed companies to have these authorities in order to take advantage 
of market opportunities as they arise.

Notice of annual general meeting continued
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12 That the Company be and is hereby generally authorised pursuant to and in accordance with section 166 of the Companies Act 1985 to make
market purchases (within the meaning of section 163(3) of such Act) of any of its own ordinary shares on such terms and in such manner 
as the directors may from time to time determine subject to the following:

(a) the maximum number of shares in the Company hereby authorised to be acquired is 64,697,917;

(b) the minimum price, exclusive of expenses, which may be paid for each such ordinary share is an amount equal to the nominal value 
of each share;

(c) the maximum price, exclusive of expenses, which may be paid for any share is an amount equal to 105% of the average of the middle
market quotations for the shares in the Company taken from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five business days
immediately preceding the day on which such ordinary share is contracted to be purchased;

(d) the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the conclusion of the next annual general meeting; and

(e) the Company may enter into a contract for the purchase of shares before the expiry of this authority which would or might be completed
wholly or partly after its expiry.

Resolution 12 empowers the Company to purchase its own ordinary shares by market purchases not exceeding approximately 10% of the
Company’s issued share capital as at 11 May 2007. The maximum and minimum prices are stated in the resolution. The directors believe that 
it is advantageous for the Company to continue to have this flexibility to make market purchases of its own shares. In the event that shares 
are purchased, they would either be cancelled (and the number of shares in issue would be reduced accordingly) or retained as Treasury Shares
with a view to possible re-sale at a future date. The Company would consider holding repurchased shares pursuant to the authority conferred
by this resolution as Treasury Shares. This would give the Company the ability to re-issue Treasury Shares quickly and cost effectively and
would provide the Company with additional flexibility in the management of its capital base. The directors would exercise this authority only 
if they were satisfied that a purchase would result in an increase in expected EPS and would be in the interests of shareholders generally. 
The authority given in the resolution will expire at the conclusion of the annual general meeting to be held in 2008.

Ordinary resolutions
13 That the Company and its directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to make Donations to EU political organisations

and to incur EU political expenditure up to an aggregate amount of £100,000 for the Group, this authority to expire at the conclusion of the
annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2008. For the purposes of this resolution, “Donation”, “EU political organisations” and 
“EU political expenditure” have the meanings ascribed in section 347A of the Companies Act 1985 and “Group” shall have the meaning ascribed
thereto by the Company’s articles of association.

14 That ICAP Management Services Limited and its directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to make Donations 
to EU political organisations and to incur EU political expenditure up to an aggregate amount of £100,000 for the Group, this authority to expire
at the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2008. For the purposes of this resolution, “Donation”, “EU political
organisations” and “EU political expenditure” have the meanings ascribed in section 347A of the Companies Act 1985 and “Group” shall have 
the meaning ascribed thereto by the Company’s articles of association.

Resolutions 13 and 14 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions to approve the making of political donations and incurring of political
expenditure by the Company and its subsidiary ICAP Management Services Limited of up to an aggregate amount of £100,000 in the period
to the Company’s annual general meeting to be held in 2008. The Political Parties, Elections and Referendums Act 2000, contains restrictions
on companies making donations to EU political organisations or incurring EU political expenditure without prior shareholder approval.

15 That the Company is hereby authorised to send or supply documents or information to shareholders by making them available on a website 
for the purposes of paragraph 10(2) of Schedule 5 to the Companies Act 2006 and otherwise; and to use electronic means (within the meaning
of the Disclosure Rules and Transparency Rules Sourcebook published by the Financial Services Authority) to convey information to shareholders.

Legislation was announced earlier this year making it easier to communicate with shareholders electronically using, for example, emails and 
the internet. The directors believe that there are significant benefits for both shareholders and the Company from introducing electronic
communications consistent with this legislation, for documents such as annual and half-yearly reports and circulars.

Resolution 15 will allow the Company to take advantage of the new rules on electronic communications in the Companies Act 2006 on
implied website usage and, as a listed company, to benefit from the rules on electronic and website communications in the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules which came into force in January 2007.

By order of the board Registered office
Deborah Abrehart 2 Broadgate
Group Company Secretary London EC2M 7UR

23 May 2007
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Notes

1 Transfer
If you have sold or transferred all of your shares, you should pass this documentation and the form of proxy to the person through whom the sale 
or transfer was effected for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.

2 Appointment of proxies
A member entitled to attend and vote may appoint a proxy or proxies who need not be a member of the Company to attend (and on a poll, to vote)
instead of him or her. Forms of proxy must be returned so as to be received by the Company’s registrars, Lloyds TSB Registrars, The Causeway,
Worthing, West Sussex BN99 6LU, not later than 10.30am on Monday, 16 July 2007 (being 48 hours before the time of the meeting). 
Appointing a proxy will not preclude a member attending and voting in person at the meeting.

Appointment of proxies electronically
Shareholders who would prefer to register the appointment of their proxy electronically via the internet can do so through Lloyds TSB Registrars’
website at www.sharevote.co.uk using their personal Authentication Reference Number (this is a series of 24 numbers printed under the shareholder’s
name on the form). Alternatively, shareholders who have already registered with Lloyds TSB Registrars’ online portfolio service Shareview can appoint
their proxy electronically by logging on to their portfolio at www.shareview.co.uk and clicking on “Company Meetings”. Full details and instructions 
on these electronic proxy facilities are given on these websites.

Appointment of proxies through CREST
Alternatively, if you are a member of CREST, you may register the appointment of a proxy by using the CREST electronic proxy appointment service.
Further details are contained below.

CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies for the annual general meeting, including any adjournment(s) thereof, through the CREST
electronic proxy appointment service may do so by using the procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST personal members or other CREST
sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s) should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting
service provider(s) who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.

In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a “CREST Proxy Instruction”
must be properly authenticated in accordance with CRESTCO’s specifications and must contain the information required for such instructions, as
described in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether it relates to the appointment of a proxy or to an amendment to the instruction
given for a previously appointed proxy, must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by Lloyds TSB Registrars (ID 7RA01) by the
latest time for receipt of proxy appointments specified above. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the
timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which Lloyds TSB Registrars are able to retrieve the message by enquiry to
CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST.

CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that CRESTCo does not make available special
procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy
Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored
member or has appointed a voting service provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall 
be necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and,
where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service provider(s) are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning
practical limitations of the CREST system and timings. The Company may treat a CREST Proxy Instruction as invalid in the circumstances set out in
Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001.

4 Right to attend and vote
Pursuant to regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, the Company specifies that in order to have the right to attend and vote
at the meeting (and also for the purpose of calculating how many votes a person entitled to attend and vote may cast) a person must be entered on
the register of holders of the ordinary shares of the Company by not later than 6pm on 16 July 2007 (being two business days before the time fixed
for the meeting). Changes to entries on the register after this time shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote 
at the meeting and the number of shares on which they can vote.

5 Documents on display
The register of directors’ interests in the share capital and debentures of the Company, together with copies of the service agreements under which
directors of the Company are employed and copies of the letters of appointment of non-executive directors, are available for inspection at all times 
at the Company’s registered office during normal business hours from the date of this notice until the date of the annual general meeting, and will be
available for inspection at the place of the annual general meeting for at least 15 minutes prior to and during the meeting.
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ICAP plc
UK

ICAP plc
2 Broadgate
London EC2M 7UR
United Kingdom
Tel: 44 20 7000 5000
Fax: 44 20 7000 5975

Investor relations
Tel: 44 20 7050 7108
Fax: 44 20 7050 7115
email: investors@icap.com

EBS Dealing Resources International Limited
2 Broadgate
London EC2M 7UR
Tel: 44 20 7029 9000
Fax: 44 20 7029 9140

Europe
Denmark

ICAP Scandinavia A/S
Rentemestervej 142400 København
NVDenmark
Tel: 45 77 88 76 00
Fax: 45 77 88 76 50

France

EBS Dealing Resources International Limited
54–56 Avenue Hoche
Paris 75008
France
Tel: 33 1 5660 5117
Fax: 33 1 5660 5507

Germany

ICAP Deutschland GmbH
Stephanstrasse 3
60313 Frankfurt am Main
Germany
Tel: 49 69 13 00 9
Fax: 49 69 29 03 94

EBS Dealing Resources International Limited
Stephanstrasse 3
60313 Frankfurt am Main
Germany
Tel: 49 69 1300 3143
Fax: 49 69 1300 3133

Netherlands

ICAP Energy – Amsterdam
Teleport Towers, 7th Floor
Kingsfordweg 151
1043 GR Amsterdam
Netherlands
Tel: 31 20 799 8400
Fax: 31 20 491 7356

Norway

ICAP Energy AS
Storetveitvegen 96
5072 Bergen
Norway
Tel: 47 55 60 44 00
Fax: 47 55 60 44 18

Poland

ICAP (Poland) Sp. z.o.o.
Sienna Center 7th Floor
ul. Sienna 73
00-833 Warsaw
Poland
Tel: 4822 820 3838
Fax: 4822 820 3839

Spain

ICAP Energy AS – Madrid
Avenida de la Vega 1
Edificio Veganova Número 3, Office 15
28018 Alcobendas
Madrid
Spain
Tel: 34 91 490 4063
Fax: 34 91 661 9709

Switzerland

EBS Dealing Resources International Limited
Dreikönigstrasse 31a
Zurich CH-8002
Switzerland
Tel: 41 44 208 37 80
Fax: 41 44 208 35 00

EBS Service Company Limited
Lavaterstrasse 40
Zurich CH-8002
Switzerland
Tel: 41 44 285 75 85
Fax: 41 44 285 75 86

Africa
South Africa

FCB-Harlow Butler Pty Ltd
105 Central Street
Houghton 2104
Johannesburg
South Africa
Tel: 27 11 276 9000
Fax: 27 11 276 9022

Middle East
Bahrain

ICAP (Middle East) WLL
Yateem Center
3rd Floor Phase 1
PO Box 5488
Manama
Kingdom of Bahrain
Tel: 973 17225 100
Fax: 973 17225 304

Americas
USA

ICAP Electronic Broking LLC
Harborside Financial Center
1100 Plaza Five, 12th Floor
Jersey City, New Jersey 07311-4996
USA
Tel: 1 212 815 9080
Fax: 1 212 341 9262

First Brokers Securities LLC
Harborside Financial Center
Plaza 5, Suite 1500
Jersey City, NJ 07311-4011
USA
Tel: 1 212 513 4444
Fax: 1 212 513 4414

ICAP Securities USA LLC
Harborside Financial Center
1100 Plaza Five, 12th Floor
Jersey City, NJ 07311-4996
USA
Tel: 1 212 341 9900
Fax: 1 212 815 9599
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GovPX Inc.
Harborside Financial Center
1100 Plaza Five, 12th Floor
Jersey City, NJ 07311-4996
USA
Tel: 1 212 341 9789
Fax: 1 212 786 0022

ICAP Capital Markets LLC
Harborside Financial Center
1100 Plaza Five, 12th Floor
Jersey City, NJ 07311-4996
USA
Tel: 1 212 341 9900
Fax: 1 212 341 9599

ICAP Corporates LLC
Harborside Financial Center
1100 Plaza Five, 12th Floor
Jersey City, NJ 07311-4996
USA
Tel: 1 212 341 9900
Fax: 1 212 815 9599

EBS Dealing Resources Inc.
1 Upper Pond Road
Building F, Floor 3
Parsippany
New Jersey, NJ 07054
USA
Tel: 1 973 257 6600
Fax: 1 973 257 6797

ICAP Energy LLC
Corporate Headquarters
9931 Corporate Campus Drive,
Suite 1000
Louisville
Kentucky 40223
USA
Tel: 1 502 327 1400
Fax: 1 502 327 1409

ICAP Energy LLC
Houston Office
1990 Post Oak Blvd., Suite 740
Houston, Texas 77056
USA
Tel: 1 713 355 4600
Fax: 1 713 355 1983

ICAP Energy LLC
Chapel Hill Office
6320 Quadrangle Drive, Suite 380
Chapel Hill, North Carolina 27517
USA
Tel: 1 919 969 9779
Fax: 1 919 969 9802

ICAP United Inc – Boston
35 Corporate Drive, Suite 150
Burlington, MA 01803
USA
Tel: 1 781 272 3000
Fax: 1 781 272 0288

ICAP United Inc – Wilton
187 Danbury Road
Wilton, CT 06897
USA
Tel: 1 203 761 9636
Fax: 1 203 761 9564

ICAP United Inc – Houston
245 Commerce Green Blvd, Suite 250
Sugar Land, TX 77478
USA
Tel: 1 281 340 8300
Fax: 1 281 340 8308

Argentina

ICAP Securities Argentina S.A.
Reconquista 365 – 8th Floor
Buenos Aires
Argentina
Tel: 5411 4393 0013
Fax: 5411 4393 2739

Canada

EBS Dealing Resources International Limited
TD Canada Trust Tower
BCE Place
27th Floor
161 Bay Street
Toronto, Ontario M5J 2S1
Canada
Tel: 1 416 368 0318
Fax: 1 416 368 0322

Chile

IS Corporation S.A.
Avenida Andres Bello 2711– 8th Floor
Las Condes, Santiago
Chile
Tel: 562 757 7600
Fax: 562 757 7601

Colombia
ICAP Securities Colombia S.A.
Cra 11 No. 93 – 46 – 403 Office
Bogotá
Colombia
Tel: 571 635 5489
Fax: 571 635 5489

ICAP Colombia Investment Corporation
Cra 11 No. 93 – 46 – 403 Office
Bogotá
Colombia
Tel: 571 635 5512
Fax: 571 635 5805

Ecuador

ICAP del Ecuador S.A.
Eloy Alfaro 2525 y Catalina Aldaz
Quito
Ecuador
Tel: 593 2333 0900
Fax: 593 2333 0900

Mexico

SIF ICAP S.A. de CV
Paseo de la Reforma No. 255, Piso 7
Col Cuauhtemoc
Del. Cuauhtemoc
06500 D.F.
Mexico
Tel: 52 55 51 28 2000
Fax: 52 55 51 28 2063

Asia Pacific
Australia

ICAP Australia Pty Ltd
Level 26
9 Castlereagh Street
Sydney
NSW 2000
Australia
Tel: 612 9777 0800
Fax: 612 9777 0801

ICAP Australia Pty Ltd
Level 27
Rialto South Tower
525 Collins Street
Melbourne
VIC 3000
Australia
Tel: 612 9777 0800
Fax: 612 9777 0801

EBS Dealing Resources International Limited
280 George Street, Level 5
Suite 701
Sydney
NSW 2000
Australia
Tel: 612 9232 2244
Fax: 612 9232 2033
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China

EBS Dealing Resources International Limited
Suite B-1205
1 West Da Wang Road
Beijing 100 025
China
Tel: 86 10 6538 8281/86 10 6538 8748
Fax: 86 10 6538 8748

ICAP (Hong Kong) Limited
12th Floor
Chater House
8 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong
China
Tel: 852 2532 0888
Fax: 852 2537 1001

EBS Dealing Resources International Limited
12th Floor
Chater House
8 Connaught Road
Central, Hong Kong
China
Tel: 852 2509 0222
Fax: 852 2509 0868

India

ICAP India Private Limited
202, Dalamal Towers
Nariman Point
Mumbai 400021
India
Tel: 91 22 2285 5754
Fax: 91 22 2285 5753

Indonesia

PT ICAP Indonesia
Plaza 89 3rd Floor Suite 1204
J1. H.R. Rasuna Said, Kav. X-7/6
Jakarta 12940
Indonesia
Tel: 6221 522 0430
Fax: 6221 522 0362

Japan

EBS Dealing Resources Japan Limited
Toho Twin Tower Building, 3rd Floor
1-5-2 Yurakucho
Chiyoda-ku
Tokyo 100-0006
Japan
Tel: 81 3 5566 6696
Fax: 81 3 5566 6681

ICAP Totan Securities Co. Ltd
Sumitomo Shin-Toranomon Building, 8th Floor
4-3-9 Toranomon
Minato-ku
Tokyo 105-0001
Japan
Tel: 813 3578 5620
Fax: 813 3578 5653

Totan Capital Markets Co. Ltd
6/F Sakura Muromachi Bldg
5-1 Nihonbashi Muromachi 4-Chome
Chuo-ku
Tokyo 103-0022
Japan
Tel: 813 5200 0451
Fax: 813 5200 2436

Republic of Korea

ICAP Foreign Exchange Brokerage Limited
11th Floor, Seoul YWCA Building
1-1, Myeong-dong 1-ga Jung-gu
Seoul 100–021
Republic of Korea
Tel: 822 311 7604
Fax: 822 311 7657

Malaysia

Amanah Butler (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd
16th Floor
Bangunan Amanah Capital
82 Jalan Raja Chulan
50200 Kuala Lumpur
Malaysia
Tel: 60 3 2161 7940
Fax: 60 3 2162 3362

New Zealand

ICAP New Zealand Limited
Level 6
107 Customhouse Quay
Wellington
New Zealand
Tel: 64 44 990 009
Fax: 64 44 990 074

Philippines

ICAP Philippines Inc
28th Floor Yuchengco Tower
RCBC Plaza 6819 Ayala Avenue
1200 Makati City
Philippines
Tel : 632 888 2333
Fax: 632 888 2555

Singapore

ICAP AP (Singapore) Pte Limited
6 Battery Road, #41–01
Singapore 049909
Tel: 65 6395 5088
Fax: 65 6329 9130

ICAP Energy Pte Limited
6 Battery Road, #39–05
Singapore 049909
Tel: 65 6820 3000
Fax: 65 6820 9040

ICAP Currency Options Pte Ltd
6 Battery Road, #39–01
Singapore 049909
Tel: 65 6395 5088
Fax: 65 6329 9130

EBS Dealing Resources International Limited
50 Raffles Place, #22–04
Singapore Land Tower
Singapore 048623
Tel: 65 6325 1363
Fax: 65 6323 6331

Thailand

ICAP–AP (Thailand) Co. Ltd.
ICAP Securities Co. Ltd.
55 Wave Place Building
13th Floor, Wireless Road 
Lumpini Pathumwan
Bangkok 10330
Thailand
Tel: 662 256 0888
Fax: 662 256 0999
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In this Annual Report the following words shall have the meanings set out below:

“Acquired Asian Businesses” The acquisition from Nittan Capital of its voice broking interests in Asia (Nittan Capital (Hong Kong) Ltd,
Nittan AP (Singapore) Pte Ltd, Noranda Investments Pte Ltd, NextGen Holding Co Ltd and certain
subsidiaries including ICAP-AP (Thailand) Co. Ltd)

“Altex-ATS Limited” formerly MSOMS Limited

“BEIP grant” Business Employment Incentive Program, a grant run by the New Jersey Economic Development Authority

“Black box” Systems used by banks to automatically generate prices at which the bank is willing to buy or sell

“Broadgate” 2 Broadgate, London EC2M 7UR

“BrokerTec” see ICAP Electronic Broking below

“BSMP” The Bonus Share Matching Plan

“BSN” BSN Holdings Limited

“CIMD” Corretage e Information Monetaria y de Divisas S.A.

“Combined Code” the Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued in 2006

“Companies Act” Companies Act 1985 as amended

“Company” or “ICAP” ICAP plc (formerly named Garban-Intercapital plc and Garban plc)

“Demerger” the demerger of Garban from United on 17 November 1998

“$” or Dollars unless otherwise specified all references to dollars or $ sign are to the currency of the US

“EBS” EBS Group Limited and its subsidiaries

“EPS” Earnings per share

“ETL” Electronic Traveller Limited

“EU” European Union

“Exco” Exco plc, which changed its name to Intercapital plc on 26 October 1998

“Exco/Intercapital merger” the acquisition of the Intercapital companies by Exco on 26 October 1998

“Exotix” or “Exotix business” Exotix Limited and Exotix Investments Limited

“First Brokers” First Brokers Securities Inc

“FRC” the Financial Reporting Council

“FRS” Financial Reporting Standard

“FSA” the Financial Services Authority

“FTSE 100” comprised of the 100 largest companies listed on the London Stock Exchange in terms of their 
market capitalisation

“FTSE 250” comprised of mid-capitalised companies, not covered by the FTSE 100, representing approximately 17% 
of the UK market

“FX” Foreign exchange

“Garban Trust” Garban Employee Share Ownership Trust

“Group” the Company and its subsidiary undertakings

“HMRC” HM Revenue & Customs

“ICAP Electronic Broking” the businesses of ICAP Electronic Broking LLC (formerly BrokerTec USA LLC) and ICAP Electronic Broking
Limited (formerly BrokerTec Europe Limited)

“ICAP Energy” ICAP Energy LLC and ICAP Energy A/S (formerly APB Financial LLC and APB Energy Europe A/S)

“ICAP shares” ICAP plc ordinary shares of 10p each



2007 2006

+20% 2007 £1,106.3m $2,090.9m 2

Revenue 2006 £919.2m $1,645.4m 2

+23% 2007 £251.6m $475.5m 2

Profit before tax – adjusted 1 2006 £204.3m $365.7m 2

+14% 2007 24.6p 46.5c 2

Earnings per share – adjusted 1 2006 21.5p 38.5c 2

+23% 2007 12.3p 23.3c 2

Dividends per share 2006 10.0p 17.9c 2

+11% 2007 £213.8m $404.1m 2

Profit before tax – statutory  2006 £193.0m $345.5m 2

–2% 2007 19.3p 36.5c 2

Earnings per share – basic 2006 19.6p 35.1c 2

+156% 2007 £190.1m $360.0m
Free cash flow 3 2006 £74.2m $132.8m
Notes
1 Excludes amortisation and impairment of intangibles arising on consolidation and exceptional items.
2 Dollar numbers converted at the average exchange rate for the year of US$1.89 (year ended 31 March 2006 – US$1.79).
3 Free cash flow represents cash flow from operating activities adjusted for capital expenditure and dividends received from associates.
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“ICAP Trust” ICAP Employee Share Trust

“IAS” International Accounting Standards

“ISDA” International Swaps & Derivatives Association

“IFRIC” International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee

“IFRS” International Financial Reporting Standards

“INFBV” INCAP Finance B.V.

“Intercapital” Intercapital plc

“Intercapital companies” those companies acquired from IPGL at the time of their merger with Exco in October 1998

“IPGL” IPGL Limited

“ISMA” International Securities Market Association

“Merger” the merger of Garban and Intercapital on 9 September 1999

“OTC” Over-the-counter

“Reset” Reset Private Limited (formerly Newcross Private Limited)

“RPI” Retail price index

“share split” At an extraordinary general meeting held on 4 February 2004 shareholders approved a five for one share
subdivision which divided the Group’s ordinary shares of 50p each into five ordinary shares of 10p each. 
The subdivision was effective from 9 February 2004.

“STP” straight-through-processing enables the entire trade process to be conducted electronically without 
manual intervention

“TFS” Tradition Financial Services

“Treasury Shares” Shares as defined by the Companies Acquisition of Own Shares (Treasury Shares) Regulations 2003 
which came into force on 1 December 2003

“UBM” United Business Media plc (formerly United News & Media plc)

“UK GAAP” UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

“United Fuels” The acquisition of the majority of the assets of United Fuels International Inc and its Affiliates

References to the Group’s businesses in Europe should be construed so as to include the Group’s businesses in South Africa and Bahrain.

In this document, according to context, the expressions “ICAP” and the “Group” are also used to mean the ICAP plc group as a whole, or ICAP plc
and/or its relevant subsidiaries. The business of ICAP plc is solely that of a holding company. ICAP plc itself conducts no broking or other activities.

Design and production by Radley Yeldar (London) 

Printed by Park Communications Limited
The document is printed on Era Silk, which is produced from 50% genuine waste pulp, 
the balance being ECF pulp from well-managed/certified forests. The paper is also FSC
certified and manufactured at an ISO14001 accredited mill.

FSC 
Forest Stewardship Council. This ensures there is an audited chain of custody from the 
tree in the well-managed forest through to the finished document in the printing factory.

ISO14001 
A pattern of control for an environmental management system against which an
organisation can be credited by a third party.
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